Doctoral (PhD) Dissertation



University of Pannonia

Doctoral School of Chemistry and Environmental Sciences

Ecotoxicological profiling of PM generated by urban heating and transport

DOI:10.18136/PE.2024.870

Written by

Tsend-Ayush Sainnokhoi

Supervisors:

Dr. Nora Kovács

Professor

Dr. Gelencsér András, DSc

Professor

University of Pannonia, Center of Natural Sciences, Research Group of Ecotoxicology

Veszprém 2023

Ecotoxicological profiling of PM generated by urban heating and transport

Thesis for obtaining a PhD degree in the Doctoral School of Chemistry and Environmental Sciences of the University of Pannonia in the branch of Natural Sciences

Written by Tsend-Ayush Sainnokhoi

Supervisor(s): Dr. Nora Kovács

Dr. Gelencsér András, DSc

propose acceptance (yes / no)	((supervisor)
	(co-supervisor)
As reviewer, I propose acceptance of the thesis:		
Name of Reviewer: Dr. Szabolcs Nagy, DSc	yes / no	
		(reviewer)
Name of Reviewer: Dr. Zsófia Kertész	yes / no	
		(reviewer)
The PhD-candidate has achieved% at the public	discussion.	
Veszprém, 2023		
Committee)	(Chair	rman of the
The grade of the PhD Diploma	. (%)	
Veszprém, 2023		
	(Cha	irman of UDHC)

Abbreviations

DCM	Dichloromethane
DMSO	Dimethylsulphoxide
EC	Elemental carbon
EC ₅₀	Effective concentration, causes 50% of ecological effect
НН	Household
HMW-PAH	High molecular weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon
LMW-PAH	Low molecular weight polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon
LOD	Limit of detection
OC	Organic carbon
OSB	Oriented strand board
РАН	Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon
PE	Polyethylene
РМ	Particulate matter
PM ₁₀	Particulate matter with aerodynamic diameter less than 10 μm
PM _{2.5}	Particulate matter with aerodynamic diameter less than 2.5 μm
PP	Polypropylene
PS	Polystyrene
PU	Polyurethane
PVC	Polyvinyl chloride
TC	Total carbon
TU	Toxic unit
VFBIA	Vibrio fischeri bioluminescence inhibition assay

Abstract

Airborne particulate matter (PM) is a solid sample. In order to examine the aggregate toxicity of PM samples, most protocols test the liquid phase. According to the reported methods available in the literature, different solvents (either water or organic solutions) are used to prepare an extract.

In the different sample preparation procedures, extraction with organic solvents affect toxicity in extracts, resulting in false outputs. However, the possible option is a whole-aerosol test. This test is based on the kinetic version of the *Vibrio fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition bioassay and mimick an environmentally realistic exposure route. In the whole-aerosol test, use of organic solvents can be avoided. In addition, the test bacteria are in contact with contaminated PM.

The author intended to compare the different extraction procedures with the direct contact test based on the *V. fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition bioassay. Results demonstrated that the sensitivity of the direct contact test is equal to different elutriates. Considering the outcome of the chemical and *Vibrio* test results, the "whole-aerosol" test might be interchangeable with results gained for extracts, taking into consideration the availability of laboratory equipment and/or protocols.

The further goal of the author was to characterise seasonal differences in ecotoxicity of the rural PM samples using different test organisms, including *Vibrio bioassay*. Considering the analytical measurement and *Vibrio bioassay* results, our study proved that *Vibrio bioassay* is a good screening tool for evaluating the ecotoxicity of PM samples.

PM₁₀ samples originating from the controlled combustion of illegal wastes (PS, PE, PP, PVC, PU, OSB and Rag) were examined to give initial data on ecotoxicity profile during his research. In the *Vibrio* test, except OSB sample, all samples were categorized as toxic according to the toxic units. Considering the analytical measurement results, the behavior of plastic samples was distinguished based on our findings. The PVC sample contained a high amount of Cd, whereas PP, PS and PU were characterized by high PAH content.

Subsequently, *Vibrio* test and analytical measurements were utilized to investigate the PM samples released from the colored and colorless PET wastes under open combustion experimental setup. Based on chemical composition and *Vibrio bioassay* results, a significant relationship was found both PET waste samples.

Ultimately, *Vibrio* test and analytical measurements were used to assess the Mongolian indoor PM samples through the frame of a Stipendium Hungaricum Programm and use of the possibility to cooperate with the University of Pannonia (Hungary). Based on analytical measurement and Vibrio test outputs, indoor PM in each non-smoking household appears and elevated risk to inhabitants.

The results of the dissertation reveal that the whole-aerosol had excellent discriminative power in different environments.

Table of contents

Abbreviations

Abstract

1	Introdu	ction	1
2	Objecti	ves of the research:	4
3	Literatu	ıre review	6
	3.1	Air pollution	6
	3.2	Sources of atmospheric PM	9
	3.3	Primary PMs	9
	3.4	Secondary PMs	
	3.5	Chemical composition of PM	16
	3.6	Classification and formation of PM	
	3.7	Impacts of PM on health	
	3.8	Legal regulation for PM	23
4	Ecotoxi	cology	
	4.1	The Vibrio fischeri bacterium	27
	4.2	The light emittance of the bacteria	27
	4.3	Quorum sensing	
	4.4	Vibrio fischeri bioluminescence inhibition test protocol	
	4.5	PM sample extraction protocol	
	4.6	'Whole-aerosol' testing protocol	
5	Materia	lls and methods	
	5.1	PM sampling	
	5.1.1	Diesel exhaust sampling	
	5.1.2	Seasonal PM sampling	
	5.1.3	Domestic waste PM ₁₀ sampling	
	5.1.4	Waste PET PM ₁₀ sampling	
	5.1.5	Indoor PM _{2.5} sampling	
	5.2	Sample preparation	
	5.2.1	Direct contact test	
	5.2.2	Extraction with Methanol (MeOH)	
	5.2.3	Extraction with Dichloromethane (DCM)	41
	5.2.4	Extraction with Dimethyl-sulphoxide (DMSO)	

	5.2.5	Exraction with Hexane	42
	5.2.6	Extraction with de-ionized water	42
	5.3	Analytical measurements	42
	5.4	Ecotoxicity testing: Vibrio fischeri bioluminescence inhibition test	44
	5.5	Statistical analysis	46
	5.6	PAH Source identification	47
6	Results	and Discussion	48
	6.1	Validation of the direct contact test	48
	6.1.1	PAH concentration	48
	6.1.2	Ecotoxicity assessment	49
	6.2	Seasonal PM2.5	54
	6.2.1	PAH content	54
	6.2.2	PAH source identification	56
	6.2.3	Ecotoxicity assessment	57
	6.3	Domestic waste PM ₁₀	59
	6.3.1	Concentration of PAHs and heavy metals	59
	6.3.2	Sample characterization	62
	6.3.3	Ecotoxicity assessment	63
	6.4	Waste PET PM ₁₀	65
	6.4.1	Concentration of heavy metals	65
	6.4.2	Concentration of PAHs	66
	6.4.3	Ecotoxicity assessment	70
	6.5	Indoor PM _{2.5}	71
	6.5.1	Concentration of indoor PM _{2.5}	71
	6.5.2	PAH concentrations	71
	6.5.3	Correlation factor between outdoor $PM_{2.5}$ and indoor $PM_{2.5}$	77
	6.5.4	PAH source identification	78
	6.5.5	Ecotoxicity assessment	80
7	Total su	ımmary	84
8	New sci	entific results	87
9	Acknow	ledgement	89
10	List of p	oublications	91
11	Referen	ces	93

List of figures

Fig 1 Particulate matter emission sources	9
Fig 2 Size comparisons for PM particles (https://www.sciencelearn.org.nz)	19
Fig 3 Atmospheric lifetime of different size particles at different levels of the atmosphere	
(https://www.mkrgeo-blog.com/).	20
Fig 4 Health effects of PM in different organ systems; a) respiratory system b) cardiovascul	ar
system c) nervous system (Zhu et al., 2021)	22
Fig 5 Quorum sensing in Vibrio fischeri (Prescott et al., 2020)	28
Fig 6 Luminescence emittance in the a) control, b) toxic, c) colored or turbidity d) colored t	oxic
sample	31
Fig 7 Location of K-puszta sampling site	37
Fig 8 Domestic waste specimens prepared for combustion test	38
Fig 9 Map showing the sampling area within Khan-Uul district, Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia	40
Fig 10 Scheme of ecotoxicity testing protocol	44
Fig 11 The samples were filled on the white micro-plate	45
Fig 12 Kinetic diagram of the samples. Well1: control. Well2: highest, Well12: lowest	
concentrations. Light output is recorded in the first 30 s interval. In the control, light output	
remains even but in the actual samples light emittance is reduced, showing concentration-	
dependent pattern. Each sample is analyzed using two replicates (indicated by two rows in t	he
diagram)	50
Fig 13 Distribution of PAHs in the seasonally collected aerosol samples. PAHs are categori	zed
into groups according to the number of rings	54
Fig 14 Cross plot of BaA/(BaA+Cry) against Flt/(Flt+Pyr)	56
Fig 15 Ecotoxicity of seasonal PM extract samples	58
Fig 16 PCA diagram of the samples based on chemical composition and ecotoxicity results.	PP:
polypropylene, PS: polystyrene, PU: polyurethane, PE: polyethylene, PVC: polyvinyl chlor	ide,
RAG: rag, OSB: oriented strand board	62
Fig 17 EC ₅₀ of PM ₁₀ emission from different illegal waste burning under the controlled	
combustion	63
Fig 18 The kinetic diagram of the different types of waste combustion aerosol PM10 sample	es.
Each samples were measured in two replicates, C1 to D1- controls, C2 to D2 – Highest	C A
concentrations, $C12$ to $D12$ – lowest concentrations	64
Fig 19 Concentration of different PAH isomers in the samples	68
Fig 20 TU values in the 4 PM samples $\frac{1}{100}$	70
Fig 21 Total amount of different molecular weight PAHs in households	75
Fig 22 Percentage contribution of different molecular weight PAHs in the households	76
Fig 23 Correlation between concentrations of indoor and outdoor $PM_{2.5}$ in the winter period	77
Fig 24 a) Cross-plot of BaA/(BaA + Cry) ratio vs. $Flt/(Flt + Pyr)$ in ten households. b) Cros	s-
plot of Ind/(Ind + BghiP) ratio vs. Fit/ (Fit + Pyr) in ten household.	79
Fig 25 The toxic unit values of an indoor $PM_{2.5}$ from ten household	80
Fig 26 Dendogram of different households based on the individual PAH concentrations, TU),
and indoor PM _{2.5} concentrations	82

Fig 27 The kinetic curve of the indoor $PM_{2.5}$ air samples of the ten households. Each samples	
were measured in two replicate, C1 to D1- controls, C2 to D2 - Highest concentrations, C12 to)
D12 – lowest concentrations	3

List of tables

Table 1 Chemical characteristics of extracts	48
Table 2 Ecotoxicity of different extracts vs. the direct contact test	49
Table 3 Summary of PAHs of aqueous extract. Concentration values are given in μ/L . PS:	
polystyrene, PE: polyethylene, PP: polypropylene, PVC: polyvinyl chloride, PU: polyurethan	ie,
OSB: oriented strand board, and RAG: rag. Limit of detection (LOD) was 0.001 μ g/L	59
Table 4 Summary of metal concentration of aqueous extract. Concentration values are given i	in
μ/L. PS: polystyrene, PE: polyethylene, PP: polypropylene, PVC: polyvinyl chloride, PU:	
polyurethane, OSB: oriented strand board, and RAG: rag. Limit of detection (LOD) 0.2 - 10	
μg/L	60
Table 5 Metal concentrations in the PM10 samples (mg/kg)	65
Table 6 PAH concentrations in the PM ₁₀ samples (mg/kg)	67
Table 7 Description of sampling sites	73
Table 8 Concentration (ng m_3) of PAHs in the indoor PM2.5 samples of households,	
carcinogenic PAHs are given in italic. (ND: not detected)	74

1 Introduction

Particulate matter (PM) with an aerodynamic diameter of less than 10 μ m (PM₁₀) and 2.5 μ m (PM_{2.5}) is now identified as one of the most dangerous pollutants on human health by the EU Ambient Air Quality Directive (2008/50/CE).

In the environment, aerosol is a system of solid or liquid particulate matter suspended by a mixture of gases, covering a wide spectrum of small particulate matter including sea salt, mineral dust, drops of sulfuric acid, pollen, bacteria, and viruses. PM is generated by natural and anthropogenic activities. Natural sources (i.e. soil dust, ocean aerosol) are prevailing, and they are approximately 3 to 7 times higher than PM from anthropogenic activities (https://www.eea.europa.eu/themes/air/air-pollution-sources, accessed 08 September 2023). However, the latter are more important PM pollution sources for human health, namely fuel combustion (coal, wood, liquid fuels), including trafficrelated emissions, biomass burning and illegal waste burning. The study of Karagulian *et al.* (2015) estimated that globally, the percentage of domestic fuel burning attributed to 20% and 15% of urban ambient PM_{2.5} and PM₁₀, respectively. Addition to domestic fuel burning and traffic-related emissions, illegal waste burning in households have appeared in both developed (Wiedinmyer et al., 2014) and less developed (Lemieux *et al.*, 2000) regions of the world, resulting in a general worsening of air quality in urban areas (Kanellopoulos *et al.*, 2021) and increased PM emissions (Krecl *et al.*, 2021)

In addition, PM has a great impact on several atmospheric episodes, Earth's climate and on the biosphere (<u>https://climate.nasa.gov/news/3027/getting-to-the-heart-of-the-particulate-matter/</u>, accessed 10 August 2023). The climate forcing by aerosols can be realized in direct (scattering and absorbing solar radiation) and indirect radiation forcing (participating in cloud formation processes) (Ghan *et al.*, 2012).

During the combustion process, particulate matter (PM) releases carcinogenic compounds, such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and transit metals. These compounds may play a major factor concerning toxicity and ecotoxicity of atmospheric PM as they have a high affinity to the very fine and ultrafine aerosol fractions (Sánchez-Piñero *et al.*, 2021). Indeed, toxicological effects of atmospheric PM generated from

combustion have been widely studied (e.g., Johnston *et al.*, 2019; Nagy and Szabó, 2019). They are associated with human health effects such as respiratory and cardiovascular mortality and morbidity (Wan Mahiyuddin *et al.*, 2023). However, less information is available on the non-human biota.

Analytical measurements are widely used to examine the effect of pollutants discharged into the environment due to human activities. However, analytical measurements are not sufficient to estimate the environmental impacts of PM due to their long analysis time, costly measurements, and limited information on the concentration of the pollutants. Therefore, it is most important to use simple and reproducible bioassays.

In ecotoxicology testing, so-called single-species bioassays are widely used. The assay based on bioluminescent inhibition of the marine bacterium *Vibrio fischeri* is one of the most frequently applied one due to its numerous advantages. For instance; freezedried and liquid-dried kits can be purchased containing *V. fischeri* test organisms to facilitate laboratory work with no need to prepare stock cultures. This test is automatized, as such, researcher errors can be minimized as well.

In addition, in most cases, this bioassay can be successfully employed as the initial screening method to assess the aggregate toxicity of different environmental media, since it is considered a reliable, sensitive, cost-effective, and easy-to-use method. An additional pro of this bioassay is that it requires a rather small amount of the sample. For instance, in case of particulate matter samples which are relatively complicated and costly to collect, a low amount of sample can be collected on a filter and employed for the *V.fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition bioassay. This test has already been proven to be a distinguished tool for screening the potential eco-toxicity of particulate matter (Lin *et al.*, 2002; Roig *et al.*, 2013).

Most frequently, aqueous extract is applied to assess the toxicity of different samples, including particulate matter from urban environments (Roig, Sierra, *et al.*, 2013; Wang *et al.*, 2016). Literature regarding the use of organic solvents (e.g., DMSO, methanol, DCM, and hexane) to prepare an extract for assessing the solid PM samples is also available (Vouitsis *et al.*, 2009; Chang *et al.*, 2013; Verma *et al.*, 2013; Aammi,

Karaca and Petek, 2017). However, these solvents are not the best options for extraction as concentration of the potentially toxic compounds in the extract would be strongly depending on the solvent applied, resulting in different research outputs (Verma *et al.*, 2013; Corrêa *et al.*, 2017).

In order to avoid these problems, a novel sample preparation method (so-called "Direct contact" test) was presented by Kováts *et al.* (2012). This method protocol is performed based on the kinetic version of the *Vibrio fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition bioassay, which is available as an ISO standard (ISO 21338:2010: Water quality – Kinetic determination of the inhibitory effects of sediment, other solids and colored samples on the light emission of *V.fischeri* /kinetic luminescent bacteria test/) (Lappalainen *et al.*, 1999, 2001). In the kinetic test, luminescent intensity of turbid and colored samples is assessed in kinetic mode. After bacterial suspension is injected into the extracted sample, luminescence intensity increases to a maximum peak within 30 seconds. That is why the system is called Flash (after this referred to as Flash system). Direct contact test implies that test organisms are in direct contact with suspensions containing PM without further procedures, mimicking naturalistic exposure route.

The reliable test was adapted and used for evaluating the different types of PM samples. Among these, are urban PM, diesel PM, biomass burning emission, PM emission from cooking activities and biodiesel emissions, as well as indoor PM. (Kováts *et al.*, 2012, 2013; Turóczi *et al.*, 2012; Ács *et al.*, 2013; Pintér *et al.*, 2017; Eck-Varanka *et al.*, 2018; C. A. Alves *et al.*, 2021; Vicente *et al.*, 2021).

2 Objectives of the research:

One of the main objectives of the work was to carry out a systematic evaluation of the whole aerosol assay, by comparing its results to outcomes of parallel tests using the same samples but applying different solvents. In this way, I intended to support the proper sensitivity of the test and to establish its further use.

A major part of the thesis consists of different applications in environments where air quality is of crucial importance. One major issue addressed is the illegal burning of domestic waste. The problem is widespread not only in less developed but in developed countries as well, including Hungary.

Illegal burning of domestic waste both in household appliances or open air is a wellknown contributor of PM generation and emission. Also, a wide range of studies have addressed its potential effects on human health problems. However, up to know, no systematic ecotoxicological profiling has been done on such emissions. Taking into consideration the gap in available information, my goal was to assess the ecotoxicity of PM generated during the controlled burning of specific waste samples, including a wide range of plastics. Plastics are posing a crucial role as they are significant components of household waste.

Another important field chosen was indoor air quality. Indoor air quality has been more and more in focus of air pollution studies as people spend a considerable ratio of their time indoors. In fact, indoor air quality has been shown to have a serious effect on human health.

Using coal for winter heating is an important factor influencing both indoor air and human health. Mongolia is a typical example, as coal is widely used. Mongolia is a central-Asian landlocked country, spread over 1.564.116 square kilometers and scarcely populated (3.3 million). However, due to its low economic and social indicators it is still considered a developing country. The available literature regarding air pollution in Mongolia is very limited and based on foreign funding and cooperation and it is strictly focused on the capital city (Ulaanbaatar). Besides, performing a whole campaign for air quality sampling is time-demanding and resource-intense, so an initial ecotoxicological screening may show which are the main emission sources and the most relevant topics to target.

As such, my studies were especially targeted to perform an initial screening on the ecotoxicity of indoor samples collected in Ulanbaatar. Typical housing types were chosen since a large percentage of the population still lives in this traditional way. Thus, this study intends to be representative of nearly 60% of the total population living in peripheral area of the capital city without proper heating systems. The study is the first one to use ecotoxicological methods in Mongolian indoor environments.

3 Literature review

3.1 Air pollution

Air pollution is a serious issue that impacts all living organisms and the environment. It consists of harmful compounds, which contaminate both the indoor or ambient environments by any physical, chemical, or biological agent that might change the natural characteristics of the atmosphere. Sources of air pollution are both natural and anthropogenic activities, such as transportation, industrial facilities, household devices, and wildfire (WHO, 2022). The industrial revolution has been the major cause for inducing emissions of toxic pollutants in the atmosphere over the last two centuries. When polluted air mixes with low-altitude clouds, it can generate a type of air pollution, known as smog. There are two types of smog: smog from fossil fuel combustion, mostly during cold period, and photochemical smog which is formed from industrial and motor vehicle emissions during warm period.

Back in history, in 1952, a great episode of smog happened in London. Emissions from fossil fuel were trapped in atmosphere for few days due to the combination of cold weather and an anticyclone, resulting in the death of app. 4000 people and breathing problems in many people (https://www.metoffice.gov.uk/weather/learn-about/weather/case-studies/great-smog, accessed 10 September 2023). Some decades later, in January 1985, another huge smog episode occurred for 5 days in West Germany. 24000 deaths were registered. However, the first major photochemical smog event was observed during the middle of World War II, later this type of smog was generated by photochemical reaction of emission from motor vehicles and power plants in Los Angeles, China, India, and Sydney (Kumar et al., 2017).

Nowadays, air pollution is still the most serious concern in developed and developing countries and more than 90% of the global population breathes unhealthy air that exceeds WHO guideline limits. According to the WHO guideline report, air pollution is responsible for an estimated 7 million deaths each year, and most of them occur in low-and middle income countries (WHO, 2022).

Air pollution can cause a range of diseases such as respiratory diseases, heart failures, chronic obstruction of pulmonary disease (COPD), stroke, lung cancer and other diseases

(WHO, 2022). The number of deaths dramatically increased due to ambient air pollution in all regions of the world. The World Health Organization (WHO) estimated that air pollution had been associated with 4.2 million premature deaths globally in 2019 (WHO, 2022).

Air pollution includes as principal toxic pollutants gases (carbon dioxide, sulfur dioxide, nitrous oxide, methane, carbon monoxide, ammonia, and chlorofluorocarbons) and particulate matter (both organic and inorganic). Of these, carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, chlorofluorocarbons and methane are greenhouse gases. Across the world, emissions from household devices and transportation are the primary sources of PM and globally, domestic fuel burning emerged as the major contributor in Africa (34%), and the Rest of the Americas (25%), Southern China (21%) and India (19%) (Karagulian *et al.*, 2015). Considering emissions of pollutants in EU, by 2019 all main of pollutants continued to decline. For instance, emissions of both PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} from residential, road transport and agricultural sources fell by 27% and 29% respectively between 2005 and 2019 (https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/air-quality-in-europe-2021/sources-and-emissions-of-air, accessed 20 Oct 2023).

However, it remains a concerning issue across the world. In 2020, over 50% of European cities exceeded the WHO recommendations for annual $PM_{2.5}$, and this problem was particularly apparent in the winter period due to the combustion of coal and biomass for household heating. 18% of European cities are chronically polluted, For example, in urban areas in Poland and Bosnia-Herzegovina the average fine PM is above 55 µg m⁻³ during the heating season (WIAQ, 2020). However, governmental air monitoring stations and reporting in European cities are relatively ubiquitous, which are common in big cities. Whereas in rural areas, governmental monitoring stations are sparse (WIAQ, 2020).

According to the National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA), the global average concentration of carbon dioxide in the atmosphere has been growing for last five decades due to deforestation, burning of fossil fuel, and cement production. The new high record of the carbon dioxide (417 ppm) was recorded in 2022 (https://www.climate.gov/news-features/understanding-climate/climate-change

<u>atmospheric-carbon-dioxide</u>, accessed 18 Oct 2023). Ambient levels of CO in developed countries are mostly below limit values, due to use of emission control methodologies, including catalytic converters in automobiles. However, high levels are observed from biomass burning and wildfire (EEA, 2019).

Since the industrial revolution era, methane level has been increased and contributes to global warming. In methane and ammonia emissions, the main source is agriculture (55% and 94%, respectively) in EU countries (https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/air-quality-in-europe-2021/sources-and-emissions-of-air, accessed 20 Oct 2023). A study by Zhenqi Luo *et al.* (2022) estimated that global ammonia emission in the atmosphere has increased in different regions in the world as follows: India (13% per decades), tropical Africa (33% per decades), South America (18% per decades). According to the NOAA, average methane level in the atmosphere was 1,895.7 ppb in 2021 globally.

Road transport is a principal source of nitrogen oxides, being responsible for 39% of emissions. In EU, emissions of this pollutant has fallen by 36% since 2005 (https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/air-quality-in-europe-2021/sources-and-emissions-of-air, accessed 20 Oct 2023). Considering sulfur dioxide, energy supply sector is main source. Sulfur dioxide is a deleterious gas that attributes to acid rain, haze, and both human and animal respiratory diseases. Interestingly, average concentration of sulfur dioxide has been dropped in atmosphere (https://www.epa.gov/air-trends/sulfur-dioxide-trends).

By 2019, in EU, emissions sources of heavy metals to atmosphere were manufacturing and extractive industries. Of heavy metals, nickel (61%) and arsenic (54%) have surprisingly dropped since 2005 due to tight regulations based on a result of EU legislation such as Large Combustion Plant Directive 2001/80/EC and Industrial Emissions Directive 2010/75/EU.

3.2 Sources of atmospheric PM

Based on the episodes of PM formation, primary and secondary PM can be distinguished. Primary particulates are directly emitted into the atmosphere from natural sources (volcanic eruption, soil dust, sea salt, biogenic PM and wildfire e.g.) (Fu *et al.*, 2004; Stohl *et al.*, 2011; Vicente *et al.*, 2012; Bian *et al.*, 2019; Chen *et al.*, 2022) and anthropogenic sources (combustion PM) (Gelencsér *et al.*, 2007) (*Fig 1*). The precursors of gases (NO_X, SO_X, NH₃, and Volatile organic compound -VOC) emitted into the atmosphere from fossil fuel combustion are most important for secondary particulate



Fig 1 Particulate matter emission sources

matter emissions (Fowler *et al.*, 2013; Hamid *et al.*, 2019; Isson *et al.*, 2020). Secondary PM are detailed in Section 3.1.4.

3.3 Primary PMs

There are two main natural sources of atmospheric PM: ocean and soil dust from dry continental regions.

Soil dust: Soil-derived PM is mainly formed by wind forces or Aeolian erosion in the dry or semi-arid and mining areas as desert or mineral dust. For instance; Saharan dust storm alone accounted to 40-66% of the total dust, which can be transported as long as 4000 km from their origin (Kutiel et al., 2003). Large PM with a diameter greater than 40µm are mainly deposited near the source regions, while the relatively small PM have a lifetime of several days to few weeks and can be transported to thousand kilometers from their origin. Soil PMs are having key role in tropospheric chemical reactions as they interact by heterogeneous chemical reaction with sulfuric acid and nitric acid, influencing phase composition and particle acidity gas (https://nap.nationalacademies.org/read/12743/chapter/5, accessed 10 Oct 2023). For the size distribution, more than 90% of the mass classified as coarse PM. The composition of soil dust is highly varied in different regions, however, aluminum (Al), silicon (Si), calcium (Ca) and iron (Fe) are basically one of the key indicators of soil derived-material (Zhang et al., 2003).

In addition to Sahara dust, in Europe, mainly Italy, Spain and France are most important local dust reservoirs. Annual amount of PM_{10} emitted to atmosphere through the wind from territory has been estimated app. in the range of 0.66 – 0.88 Tg yr⁻¹ (Borrelli et al., 2015).

Sea salt: in theory, when water droplets evaporate, salt is left in the atmosphere creating marine aerosol PM (MAPM). Naturally, inorganic (e.g. sodium, chloride and magnesium sulphate) and organic compounds occur in marine atmospheric PM and sea salt is a highly soluble species as well as it plays important roles in tropospheric chemistry and cloud formation (Bian *et al.*, 2019). Emission of sea salt PM is app. 19800 Tg yr⁻¹ and the fresh and aged sea salt PM perform key roles in affecting global climate (Schulz et al., 2004). Sea salt PM under 10 μ m in diameter are dominant aerosols in marine surface air and can be transported for hundreds of kilometers and even can make a significant contribution to the land-based PM levels, depending on high-speed wind. Sea salt can react with acidic gases such as sulphuric and nitric acids to form sodium sulphate and sodium nitrate and liberate chloride to the gas phase. In urban PM, this phenomenon was demonstrated (Fu *et al.*, 2004).

Biogenic PM: Biogenic particles are omnipresent in the Earth's atmosphere as they impact atmospheric chemistry, biosphere, climate and adverse health effects on living organisms. There are two biogenic PM types based on their formation: primary and secondary ones. Primary biogenic PMs (PBPMs) are directly released into the atmosphere from the biosphere without change in their chemical composition, which consists of different particles such as bacteria, viruses, pollen, spores, algae, fungi, debris of leaves, protozoa and fragment of insects, etc., (e.g., Després *et al.*, 2012). The size of the primary biological PMs (PBAP) are in the range from several nanometers to few hundred micrometers in aerodynamic diameters.

Secondary biogenic particles are formed by gas-to-particle conversion of gaseous organic matter emitted from the biosphere. The biogenic volatile organic compounds (BVOCs), mainly isoprene, and terpenes are released by vegetation, especially deciduous trees (Hamid *et al.*, 2019). In Europe, fungal spores and plant debris are the most important contributors to PM_{10} mass and PM_{10} emission which has been estimated at 0.12 Tg yr⁻¹ (Winiwarter *et al.*, 2009).

Volcanic eruption: Primary PM can be released during volcanic eruption. They can also influence climate. For instance: due to volcanic eruption of Eyjafjallajokull, Iceland during April-May, 2010, significant economic and social damage occurred in Europe (Stohl *et al.*, 2011). According to their size, more than 50% of total PM belongs to the coarse category. The volcanic particles can travel to distances of thousands of kilometers (e. g., Stohl *et al.*, 2011).

Wildfire: Wild-land fires, referred as wildfire, are one of the natural emission sources to form PM by burning forest, grassland and other vegetation due to hot temperature, volcanic eruption and lightning as well as human activities. However, in 50% of wildfires, original cause is unclear (WHO, 2022). Wildfires frequently occur in Siberia, California, Australia and in forested Mediterranean countries including Spain, Greece, Italy and Portugal and so. Emissions are predominated by fine PM, which represent app. 92 % of the PM (Vicente *et al.*, 2017). In regions of Europe, the Fire Inventory from NCAR version 1.0 (FINNv1) estimated that coarse and fine PM annual

average emission from open combustion were 0.39 Tg yr⁻¹ and 0.22 Tg yr⁻¹ (Wiedinmyer *et al.*, 2011).

Road transport: Road transport is one of the main contributors to the ambient level of particulate matter in developed and developing countries. Globally, the contribution of road transport to urban PM is around 25% for both PM₁₀ and PM_{2.5} (Karagulian *et al.*, 2015). However, there can be significant size-fraction variations regionally, but traffic appears as the main contributor to ambient PM_{2.5} and PM₁₀ as data from different regions show : India (37% and 34%), Southwestern Europe (35% and 23%), and Western Europe (25% and 28%), Republic of Korea (23% and 21%), Middle East (12% and 15%), United States of America (24% and 30%), rest of Americas (30% and 38%) and Central and Eastern Europe (19% and 8%) (Karagulian *et al.*, 2015).

Based on the formation processes, PM emission from traffic can be grouped as follows: exhaust emission (PM are formed in internal engine combustion and then released into atmosphere) and non-exhaust emission (tyre wear, brake wear, road surface wear and road dust resuspension). The non-exhaust emission from road traffic can be formed through the mechanical abrasion, grinding, crushing and corrosion processes, while road dust resuspension can generate through the road surface owing to vehicle-generated turbulence (e.g., Harrison *et al.*, 2012).

PM emission rate from diesel vehicles is obviously higher than that of gasoline vehicles (Gertler, 2005). It should be noted that PM emission from diesel powered vehicles differ: Heavy Duty Diesel Vehicles (HDDVs) are higher emitters in comparison to other different diesel categories. However, the PM mass emission rate from diesel vehicles equipped with diesel particle filters (DPF) was on average app. 25 times lower than that of the conventional diesel vehicles (Geller *et al.*, 2006). It is important to note that due to tight regulations, such as the technological updates achieved in the automotive industry towards net-zero emission technologies in European countries, the total percentage of particulate exhaust emissions from traffic dramatically dropped between 2000 and 2020 (Rienda *et al.*, 2023).

 PM_{10} emissions form paved roads in Europe, especially in Mediterranean countries, are one of major challenges for sustainable transport (Rienda *et al.*, 2023). In the study by Karanasiou *et al.* (2011) it was stressed that contribution of non-exhaust

emissions to PM_{10} in urban areas was higher, especially countries with arid climates, dry seasons and low humidity.

Residential combustion: Globally, residential biomass burning for cooking and heating is one of the largest sources of particulate matter. Currently, more than 35% of the total population on earth consumes solid fossil fuel (wood, charcoal, agriculture waste, and animal dung) as residential energy supply (Bonjour et al., 2013). Despite the widespread availability of electricity and natural gas in households, the consumption of solid fuel (primary source: wood) for household heating (Karagulian *et al.*, 2015) still remains a common practice in other countries, even European countries.

A study by Karagulian *et al.* (2015) estimated that residential fuel burning (wood, gas, and coal) in Central and Eastern Europe contributed up to 32% of PM_{2.5} emissions, and reaching up to 45% of PM₁₀ while in Asian countries, including China, the contribution of the domestic fuel burning was 36 % of PM_{2.5} emission and 26% of PM₁₀ emissions, respectively.

As of 2017, annual limit values of the PM concentrations (PM_{2.5} and PM₁₀) in large European cities were higher than EU limit values and WHO AQG guidelines, while these values in the rural areas exceeded the standard values as well (EEA, 2019). Several studies reported that biomass (mainly wood) burning from residential sector in Europe is one of the main sources, emitting primary PM during the winter period (Gelencsér *et al.*, 2007; Mărmureanu *et al.*, 2020). Caseiro *et al.* (2009) estimated that contribution of wood burning to PM in rural areas and smaller cities was as high as 70% in December, January, and February.

Likewise, a wide variation in the combustion of fuels in residential sectors in developing countries was found; for example, in Mongolia, solid fuel combustion for heating individual residences in the peripheral area contributed to 60% of the fine PM fraction (World Bank, 2013). The mean PM_{2.5} concentration was 171 μ g m⁻³ during the cold season, with a maximum daily value (24h) up 766 μ g m⁻³ in Ulaanbaatar capital (Wang *et al.*, 2018). Raw coal was banned to burn in many parts of China, however, it is widely employed (Zhihan Luo *et al.*, 2022). Similarly, coal in various forms is still utilized in households in India, Nepal, Bangladesh, and Mongolia (WHO, 2014).

In addition to ambient PM pollution, indoor PM levels should gain more attention as people spend as much as 87% of their time in an enclosed environment, ignoring this threat to human health to which they are exposed (Klepeis et al, 2001). Ahn *et al.* (2019) measured fine PM concentration of a yurt in Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia during the wintertime. Indoor PM_{2.5} concentration in the yurt was extremely high, average peak magnitude was found 407.7 μ g m⁻³ with indoor smoking. Another study measured as high as 609 μ g m⁻³ 24-h mean PM_{2.5} concentration in kitchens which used solid fuel sampling (Balakrishnan *et al.*, 2013).

Also, high level of outdoor air pollution can penetrate to indoor environments (Sonomdagva et al., 2017; So *et al.*, 2019). A significant correlation was found between outdoor PM and indoor PM concentrations in several studies (Rogula-Kozłowska *et al.*, 2018; Y. J. Hu *et al.*, 2018; Bai *et al.*, 2020).

Illegal waste burning: Today, illegal waste burning is the focus of scientific interest due to its negative impacts on the air quality worldwide. Across the world illegal waste burning is prohibited. Nonetheless, according to available publications, the practice of illegal burning practice is also common in several European countries (Eades *et al.*, 2020; Hoffer *et al.*, 2020; Cieślik et al., 2021). This problem can appear in both developed (Wiedinmyer et al., 2014) and less developed (Lemieux *et al.*, 2000) regions of the world, resulting in a general worsening of air quality in urban areas (Kanellopoulos *et al.*, 2021) and increased PM emissions (Krecl *et al.*, 2021).

To get rid of waste and to reduce fuel cost, energy or fuel poverty might be one of the main causes of the otherwise illegal practice of burning household waste such as plastic, treated wood (furniture, OSB, hardboard, painted wood, and plywood), clothes, tyres, and used oil. The variation percentage in countries as follows; in Hungary (2-10%) (Hoffer *et al.*, 2020), Poland (30%) (Cieślik et al., 2021), Mexico (24%) (Ferronato et al., 2019), finally, England (24%) (Eades *et al.*, 2020). Wiedinmyer et al. (2014) reported that in China, PM₁₀ emission from open domestic waste burning (backyard and household, etc.,) is equivalent to 22% of total man-made PM₁₀ emission in China. Among these different types of waste, plastic is the most important part of household waste. Of the 250 million tons of municipal solid waste (MSW) generated, 12.4% or 31 million tons was composed of plastic based on EPA estimates (Massaro et al., 2014). **Industrial emission**: Globally, 18% of industrial PM_{10} emission was attributed to power generation and industrial emissions from human activities have been found as the highest contributors to PM_{10} in different countries as follows: Japan (34%), Middle East and Southern Asia (27%), Turkey (30%), and Brazil (19%) (Karagulian *et al.*, 2015). In European countries, emissions from the power plants and manufacturing industries represent the second-largest sources of primary PM, especially in central Europe, PM_{10} emissions from industrial activities were 17% (Karagulian *et al.*, 2015).

3.4 Secondary PMs

Secondary PM is not emitted directly into the atmosphere, however, they are created through precursors of gases (NO_X, SO_X, NH₃ and Volatile organic compound -VOC) during the nucleation and condensation process in the atmosphere (Fowler et al., 2013; Hamid et al., 2019; Isson et al., 2020). Basically, secondary aerosols are divided into secondary inorganic aerosol (SIA) and secondary organic aerosol (SOA) based on their formation. Mostly Nitrate (e.g., NO⁻₃) and sulphate (e.g., SO₂) components are the main precursors, which are released from mainly anthropogenic activities (e.g., vehicle emission, biomass burning and agricultural activities) as well as from natural sources (e.g., volcanic eruption and sea plankton). For example; ammonium sulphate $((NH_4)_2SO_4)$ and ammonium nitrate (NH₄NO₃) in the troposphere are created mainly from photochemical reactions of main precursors (Bauer et al., 2007), while SOA in the troposphere is formed from both oxidation of biogenic (e.g., isoprene and terpene) and anthropogenic VOC (Hamid et al., 2019). These compounds in SIA are generated from the transformation of precursor compounds (nitrogen oxide - (NO_x) and sulfur oxide -(SO_x)) in the atmosphere to nitric and sulfur acid. They are neutralized by ammonium (NH₄⁺) in the atmosphere. Ammonia is precursor compound for atmospheric ammonium. Ammonia is mainly emitted from agricultural sector, including uric acid decomposition in animal husbandry (Allen et al., 2019). In addition, black carbon, mineral dust, and sea salt can be found in SIA. SIA has a significant impact on human health and climate effects (global warming and climate change) due to their physo-chemical characteristics. It is well known that the physio-chemical and optical properties of SOA and SIA are closely associated with homogenous and heterogonous-phase chemical reactions (Allen et al., 2019). They lead to several environmental destructions, including ozone layer

depletion, smoke-fog-related accidents, and acid rain formation as well as air quality deterioration, etc., (Allen et al., 2019). In the climate effects of PM, there are two types; direct and indirect effects. They absorb solar radiation and are capable of scattering. Black carbon of PM in the atmosphere absorbs solar radiation, resulting in atmospheric warming. Whereas, PM with a diameter from 0.1 to 2 µm can scatter sunlight, and scattered radiation can reflect into space, resulting in atmospheric cooling. (Allen et al., 2019). In snow and ice, they have a high albedo, meaning that ice and snow reflect most of the incoming radiation. When black carbon (soot) deposits on them, it leads to a decline in surface albedo, subsequently, making them melt faster (Allen et al., 2019). In indirect effects on climate, PM can affect the solar radiation balance by formation of cloud droplets. Cloud droplets in troposphere are generated by condensation of the water vapor onto aerosol PM (cloud condensation nuclei - CCN) when the relative humidity is greater that saturation level (Allen et al., 2019). Sulfate is an indicator of detrimental constituents from coal and oil combustion. In the acute epidemiology study, good correlation was found between diseases (respiratory and cardiovascular problem) and secondary sulfate (Allen et al., 2019). Several researchers hypothesized that sulfate emissions (precursor gases of secondary PM) will continue to increase in Asian countries (e.g., China and India), however, decrease in Europe. Whereas, changes in NOx emissions in China might be increased. In the VOC emissions into the atmosphere, it is mainly released from the biosphere (e.g., deciduous trees), and its future trend is unclear as far (Allen *et al.*, 2019).

3.5 Chemical composition of PM

Generally, the chemical composition of PM is widely varied. Primary PM consists of a complex mixture of substances, including elemental and organic carbon, inorganic ions (e.g., sulfate, nitrates, ammonium, sodium, potassium, calcium, magnesium, and chloride), as well as particle-bound water, crustal material, and metals (e.g., cadmium, lead, nickel, vanadium, copper, zinc, silicon, sulfur, antinomy, and chromium) and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) (Valavanidis *et al.*, 2006; Gelencsér *et al.*, 2007; Cheng *et al.*, 2011; Nagy and Szabó, 2019).

PAHs are generated by incomplete combustion of fossil fuels, in urban and rural environments the major sources are domestic heating, transportation, and illegal waste burning (Valavanidis et al., 2006; Gelencsér et al., 2007; Hubai et al., 2022). PAHs released from open-air combustion amounts to 61% of the total man-made air pollution (Wiedinmyer et al., 2014). Recently, air chemistry researchers at the University of Pannonia demonstrated that burning of 12 common domestic waste types emits up to 800 times more PAHs than the dry burning firewood per mass basis (Hoffer et al., 2020). In another study, 47 organic compounds of 8 different classes and bisphenol A in PM₁₀ samples were collected in Aspropirgos, an urban and industrial region nearby Athens where uncontrolled combustion activity was monitored during a one-year study. Concentration of PAHs increased in the cold season as these this toxic compound highlighted significant attribution of uncontrolled burning of plastic waste to air quality (Kanellopoulos et al., 2021). It is well documented that PAHs were more abundant (80%) in the fine PM samples compared to coarse PM-bound PAHs (Valavanidis et al., 2006). In EU, the Euro 4 emissions limits on PM for diesel vehicles is 0.025g/km, whereas Euro 5 and 6 emissions limits on PM for diesel cars are 0.005g/km, respectively (https://www.whatcar.com/advice/owning/euro-1-to-euro-6-how-clean-is-mycar/n1190, accessed 10 Oct 2023). Basically, diesel engine equipped with diesel particle filter (DPF) can filter up to 99% of particulate matters. Several study reported that some

filter (DPF) can filter up to 99% of particulate matters. Several study reported that some Euro4, all Euro 5 and 6 standard vehicles equipped with diesel particle filters (DPF) show considerably lower amount PAH emission than gasoline ones (Geller *et al.*, 2006).

In comparison to the older diesel vehicles, DPF-diesel vehicles can reduce 70-95% emissions of metals and trace elements. These trace metals, however, seriously impact air quality. Valavanidis *et al.* (2006) detected Fe, Pb, Zn, Cu, Cr, V, Ni and Cd in PM samples collected from heavily polluted urban areas. In another study, trace elements (Fe, Ti, Ba, Cr, Co, Cu, Zr, and Mn) in PM samples from roadside in urban area were found (Alves *et al.*, 2021).

The major source of metals in traffic-related PM is particulate debris, which is formed by brakes on the road. Metals such as copper (Cu), antimony (Sb), lead (Pb), cadmium (Cd) and Zinc (Zn) were found in tire and brake PM samples (Hjortenkrans et al., 2006). In addition to traffic, metal contents in PM samples collected from open burning of domestic municipal wastes in different countries have been investigated (Park et al., 2013; Kumar *et al.*, 2015). Metals such as As, Cd, Sb, Sn in open-waste burning PM was abundantly observed, higher concentration of metals such as Zn, Cr, Pb, Ni, Cu, and Cd in waste plastic incineration sample were found (Park et al., 2013; Kumar *et al.*, 2015).

3.6 Classification and formation of PM

In terms of source of origin, PM is generally derived in a complex mixture of various tiny particles and gases through the combination of chemical, physical and biological processes in a wide variety of natural and anthropogenic sources (Fu *et al.*, 2004; Stohl *et al.*, 2011; Vicente *et al.*, 2012; Fowler *et al.*, 2013; Bian *et al.*, 2019; Hamid *et al.*, 2019; Isson *et al.*, 2020; Chen *et al.*, 2022). The size of PM in the atmosphere is one of the most important criteria to describe the character of aerosol, influencing both their lifetime and physico-chemical properties. Size of the PM is usually expressed as aerodynamic diameter. Aerodynamic diameter (AD) is a measure of the PM ability to move through air. And also, AD is defined as the diameter of a unit-density sphere with same settling velocity as the PM in question (https://learn.kaiterra.com/en/air-academy/particulate-matter-pm, accessed 21 October 2023). The size of atmospheric PM varies over a widely range, from few nanometer to around 100 micrometers (Harrison et al., 2000).

According to current knowledge, PM is divided into categories as coarse, fine, and ultrafine particles (UFPs) with an aerodynamic diameter less than 10 μ m (PM₁₀), < 2.5 μ m (PM_{2.5}), and <0.1 μ m (PM_{0.1}) (*Fig 2*). These groups of PM differ significantly in their chemical and physical properties, and formation dynamics (Harrison et al., 2000). The size of the PM cannot be indicated by their source and the nature of their formation.

PM is generated through the complex process that involves the emission of gases (e.g., nitrous oxide, and sulfur oxide) and primary fine PM into atmosphere. These gases





Distribution of atmospheric PM is basically described by their surface, volume and number. The different groups of PM can be distinguished based on their PM distribution: Aitken or nucleation mode $(0.01 - 0.1 \ \mu\text{m})$, accumulation mode $(0.1 - 1 \ \mu\text{m})$ and coarse mode (>1 μ m). The PM in Aitken or nucleation range are produced by homogeneous and heterogeneous nucleation processes, and collectively named ultrafine mode or ultra PM. Due to rapid coagulation, the lifetime of ultrafine PM is short, from some minutes to hours (Harrison et al., 2000).

PM in Aitken or nucleation and the accumulation mode can create fine PM. Fine PM in atmosphere can accumulate as removal mechanisms are least efficient. As a result, their lifetime in atmosphere is 7 - 10 days. Whereas for coarse mode, their lifetime in atmosphere is short because of their sedimentation (Chen *et al.*, 2022) (*Fig 3*).



Fig 3 Atmospheric lifetime of different size particles at different levels of the atmosphere (https://www.mkrgeo-blog.com/).

3.7 Impacts of PM on health

Worldwide, around the one-third of the population use solid biomass fuel burning (mainly wood, coal, and agriculture waste) for household heating and cooking (Bonjour *et al.*, 2013). Today, emission of PM_{2.5} from solid fuel combustion is the world's greatest environmental health hazard, and the highest premature death observed across the world was associated with the highest concentration of PM (WIAQ, 2020). Adverse health effects are directly increase with decreasing PM size (Camatini et al., 2016; Sopian *et al.*, 2021). Recently, (Vohra *et al.*, 2021) reported that globally, more than 10 million premature deaths were attributed to PM_{2.5} emitted from the combustion of coal, petrol and diesel. The smaller the more dangerous: fine PM is posing the highest hazard for both humans and animals as they can deposit into the lungs and further they can get into

blood circulation (<u>https://www.epa.gov/pm-pollution/particulate-matter-pm-basics</u>, accessed 24 October 2023).

Considering PM exposure to the age of a person, children and the elderly are more sensitive to PM than others. Long-term exposure to PM can trigger various respiratory diseases such as asthma, respiratory tract inflammation, and even pneumonia cancer, while short-term exposure to PM can trigger health effects, including eye, nose, lung irritation, coughing, sneezing, nose discharging, and abnormal breathing (e.g., Boing *et al.*, 2022).

Naturally, coarse PM also penetrate into the respiratory system, and are mainly deposited in upper respiratory system. However, they can be removed through cough and sneezing from the upper respiratory system including nose cilia, and mucous membranes of the nasopharynx and throat. According to the available reports suggested that coarse PM can more contribute to asthma and chronic observation pulmonary disease (COPD) (https://www.epa.gov/sciencematters/links-between-air-pollution-and-childhood-asthma, accessed 24 Oct 2023), whereas breathable PM (PM_{2.5}) is easily deposited in

lung parts (mainly in the alveoli) and then damages the respiratory system by reducing airway epithelial defense and altering the immune response. Fine and ultrafine PM can reach the bloodstream, and then they can penetrate into cells through the cell barrier, resulting in cytotoxicity, genotoxicity, and neurotoxicity (Camatini et al., 2016; Sopian *et al.*, 2021) (*Fig 4*).



Fig 4 Health effects of PM in different organ systems; a) respiratory system b) cardiovascular system c) nervous system (Zhu et al., 2021)

In the EU, the number of the premature deaths attributable to $PM_{2.5}$ dropped by more than 40% since 2005 (https://www.eea.europa.eu/en/analysis/indicators/healthimpacts-of-exposure-to.1, accessed 25 October 2023). On the other hand, in Asia (especially Eastern Asia), death rates were much higher than in other continents. In China and India, 3.9 million and 2.5 million deaths attributable to PM_{2.5} generated from the combustion of fossil fuels (such coal) 2018 as were reported in https://www.statista.com/statistics/1203032/fossil-fuel-pollution-deaths-worldwide-byregion/, accessed October 2023).

According to the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA), PM boundspecies generated from incomplete combustion of solid fuel consist of 16 PAHs compound and metals as priority pollutants. Considering carcinogenic PAHs, the International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC) classified some PAHs based on the degree of evidence for the carcinogenicity as follows: carcinogenic to humans (group 1), probably carcinogenic to humans (group 2A) and possibly carcinogenic to humans (group 2B) (IARC, 2010). Of the PAH species, the benzo(a)pyrene and dibenzo(a.h)anthracene belong to group 1 and 2A, while benz(a)anthracene, benzo(b)fluoranthene, benzo(k)fluoranthene, chrysene, and indeno1.2.3CD-pyrene to group 2B. From classification of IARC, As, Cd, and Pb are grouped as carcinogenic, while other metals such as Cu, Zn, Fe and Ni are classified as non-carcinogenic elements based on available literature (Tan *et al.*, 2016).

These harmful compounds play a key role in increasing the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) from redox reaction in mitochondria, resulting in damaged cells (Camatini et al., 2016; Sopian *et al.*, 2021). A study by Daher *et al.* (2012) reported that coarse and fine particles induced redox activity, suggesting that the chemical compounds in PM_{2.5}, such as Copper (Cu), Chromium (Cr), polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAHs), were strongly and moderately associated with ROS formation. Another study, Vreeland *et al.* (2016) investigated the characteristics and redox activity of PM_{2.5} associated with roadside trash burning in Bangalore, India. The result showed that the highest emission rate of PAHs in trash burning sample (plastic, green waste, and paper) was found, and concluded that exposure to redox-activate PM can be extremely high.

3.8 Legal regulation for PM

In the European Union (EU), the most important air quality directives are 2008/50/EC directive on ambient air quality and Cleaner Air for Europe (It was amended with 2015/1480/EC) and 2001/107/EC Directive on heavy metals and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in ambient air. In the EU air quality directive, limit values for PM₁₀ are 40 μ g m⁻³ (yearly) and 50 μ g m⁻³ (daily) while limit values for PM_{2.5} are 25 μ g m⁻³ (yearly). The limit value for PM10 is 50 μ g m⁻³ (daily). In directive on PAH and heavy metals, the value of BaP is 1 ng m⁻³ (annual), whereas values for heavy metals

such as Pb, As, Cd, and Ni are 0.5 µg m⁻³, 6 ng m⁻³, 5 ng m⁻³, and 20 ng m⁻³, respectively (<u>https://www.eea.europa.eu/themes/air/air-quality-concentrations/air-quality-standards</u>, accessed 26 October 2023)..

In WHO AQG guideline, limit values for PM_{10} are 15 µg m⁻³ (yearly) and 45 µg m⁻³ (daily), while limit values for $PM_{2.5}$ are 5 µg m⁻³ (yearly) and 15 µg m⁻³ (daily) (<u>https://iris.who.int/handle/10665/345334</u>, accessed 26 October 2023). To bring air quality standards closer to the recommendation of the WHO, the European Commission has proposed to revise the Ambient Air Quality Directive on 26 October 2022 as part of the European Green Deal. For instance, the value for $PM_{2.5}$ (yearly) will be decreased by more than half (<u>https://environment.ec.europa.eu/topics/air/air-quality/revision-ambient-air-quality-directives_en</u>, accessed 26 October 2023).

Based on a result of EU legislation such as Large Combustion Plant Directive 2001/80/EC and Industrial Emissions Directive 2010/75/EU, emissions from huge sources have been successfully reduced last years, whereas in contrast, emission from residential solid fuel and biomass combustion appliance has increased in Europe due to lack of regulations (EEA, 2019).

It is important to note that the trend of changes in annual exposure to $PM_{2.5}$ in Europe was reducing (Alikhani et al., 2021). However, as of 2018, in some EU member states including France, Italy, Spain, Hungary, the Czech Republic, United Kingdom, and Germany, the PM₁₀ annual limit value was exceeded (EEA, 2019).

In Hungary, Government Decision 1330/2011. (X.12.) contains regulation for decreasing PM emissions and it describes an Action Plan aimed to fulfill proper air quality according to level values of pollutants defined by Ministry of Rural Development Regulation no. 4/2011. (I. 14.). If PM₁₀ concentration exceeded and reached 100 μ g m⁻³ (threshold value) for two days and no improvement is expected based on the meteorological forecast, a smog alert is declared. A study by Karagulian *et al.* (2015) shows that considerable biomass burning, industry and traffic emissions in Central Europe play a key role in emissions. According to the current regulation, in case of smog alert, traffic is limited, while use of vehicles of certain environmental categories is banned. In addition, illegal waste burning in EU is strongly prohibited. In accordance

with that, in Government Decision 1330/2011. (X.12.), one of the major goal is source identification in the Action Plan implemented.

In Asian countries (East Asia), coarse PM emission from fugitive dust is a most concerning issue. In addition to fugitive dust, PM emissions from traffic and domestic fuel burning in Asian countries (East and Southern Asia) are the main sources (Karagulian *et al.*, 2015). In Mongolia, the main source of air pollution is raw coal combustion (Battsengel *et al.*, 2021). Generally, air pollution is still a severe problem in cold periods, reaching values higher than recommendation of the World Health organization (WHO) and National Air Quality Standard MNS 4585:2007 of Mongolia (PM_{2.5} – 50 μ g m⁻³ for daily) (Batmunkh *et al.*, 2013). The stove replacement program of households in peripheral area in Ulaanbaatar was implemented to decrease air pollution in 2010. As a result of these huge efforts, in more than 90% of households the stoves were replaced and average concentration PM notably reduced from over 250µg m⁻³ in 2008-2009 to 80µg m⁻³ in 2014 -2015 (Hartman, 2016).

In addition, the Asian Development Bank (ADB) implemented two policy-based loans (\$290 million in 2018 and 2019) to improve air quality in the capital city. The program's first phase was instrumental in supporting the ban on raw coal burning and establishing technical standards for vehicle emissions (Government Decision 1903/2011. (I.124.) - one of the major goal focus on measuring vehicle emissions). The second phase was supported by a policy-based program and embedded the strategies developed under first phase into Mongolian legal and regulation.

The consumption of raw coal was banned for household consumption in the capital city of Mongolia, starting on 15 May 2019 based on Government decisions 1908/2019. (VI.17.) (Byambajav et al., 2021). In the average ambient PM_{2.5} in the winter period of 2019 -2020, percentage of fine PM was dramatically reduced compared to same period in 2016-2017 (app. 51%). However, situation in Mongolia has not improved appreciably since then (WIAQ, 2020). The government of Mongolia's efforts to reduce air pollution does not provide solution to air pollution from that targeted sectors. Thus, air pollution is challenging Mongolians right to live in a safe and healthy environment, as stipulated in article 16.2 of the Constitution of Mongolia.

4 Ecotoxicology

Ecotoxicology is the study of the effect of toxic compounds on biological organisms, from bacteria to higher taxa, especially at the community, population, ecosystem, and biosphere levels. Ecotoxicology is a multidisciplinary field, which couples or combines toxicology, and ecology (e.g., Kováts *et al.*, 2021; Hubai et al., 2022).

Especially in the case of highly complex media (air samples), chemical analyses are often supported by bioassays (Alves *et al.*, 2021; Vicente *et al.*, 2021; Rienda *et al.*, 2023). These assays evaluate the effect of interaction among toxic substances such as additive, antagonistic, or synergistic effects (Abbas *et al.*, 2018). In ecotoxicology screening, there are a variety of test organisms used as references or monitoring tool to evaluate toxicity in PM samples (Kováts *et al.*, 2012, 2017; Verma *et al.*, 2013; Silva *et al.*, 2015). Among these, the bioassay based on the bioluminescence inhibition of the marine bacterium *V. fischeri* has been widely applied and recommended tool for the initial screening of atmospheric PM (e.g., Kováts *et al.*, 2012; Roig *et al.*, 2013). The test is rapid (requires a short exposure of 15 or 30 minute), cost effective, therefore it is especially useful when samples with unknown toxic potential are to be evaluated (Menz et al., 2013). Test results have proven predictive for acute toxicity in other organisms (Weltens et al., 2014).

The principle of this bioassay based on bioluminescence inhibition of the marine bacteria *V.fischeri* is to measure the inhibition of the light emittance of luminescence bacteria (bioluminescence enzyme system, which contains NAD(P)H flavin mononucleotide (FMN) oxidoreductase and luciferase) in the presence of toxic environment. (Kováts and Horváth, 2016). As bioluminescence is linked with respiration process, it gives a good indication on the metabolic activity of luminescence bacteria (Fort, 1992). In the toxic environment, the bacterial luciferase could be inhibited, and then a quick reduction in light emission of the luminescent bacteria takes place. EC_{50} (the concentration that causes a 50% effect) is a measure of concentration of PM samples, which induces a biological response halfway between the baseline and maximum after exposure time, and also widely used value to characterize toxicity of the sample.

4.1 The Vibrio fischeri bacterium

Vibrio fischeri is a gram-negative, rod-shaped, flagellated, motile, non-pathogenic, and heterotrophic bacterium. In the sub-tropic and temperature marine environments, they are ubiquitously distributed as free-living organisms. They can be found in symbiosis with short-tailed squid (*Euprymna scolopes*) in nature and are responsible for the bioluminescence of the organ. They are fed a sugar and amino acid solution by the squid, and in return, they produce light in the special light organ of the host.

The species has been renamed and reclassified in the past. Initially, this species of bacteria was discovered in 1888 by Bernhard Fischer, a German bacteriologist, who named *Einheimischer Leuchtbaccilus*. Subsequently, in 1889, the name of luminous bacterium was changed to *Photobacterium fischeri* by Martinus Willem Beijerinck. Furthermore, Karl Bernhard Lehmann and Rudolf Otto Neumann classified it as *Vibrio fischeri* in 1896 (https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Photobacterium, accessed 20 September 2023). The species was re-classified as *Aliivibrio fischeri* based on phylogenic and phenotypic differences (Urbanczyk *et al.*, 2007). However, this nomenclature is still not used in the standards. Thus, the term of *Vibrio fischeri* has been used in our works.

4.2 The light emittance of the bacteria

V.fischeri employs a luciferin-luciferase bioluminescent system to generate light emitted during normal metabolism.

Luciferin +
$$O_2$$

Luciferase LIGHT + H_2O

Considering genetic background and biochemistry, luminescence in bacteria and its regulation mechanism have been completely described (Meighen, 1991). Light emission of luminescent bacteria principally relies on the bioluminescent enzyme system (luciferin-luciferase) which consists of a NAD(P)H:FMN oxidoreductase and a luciferase. Firstly, FMN reduces to form FMNH₂ through the reaction catalyzed via NAD(P)H:FMN oxidoreductase enzyme in the presence of a reduced NAD(P)H and a H⁺. Subsequently, bacterial luciferase can bind FMNH₂, catalyzes the oxidation of
reduced FMNH₂ to produce oxidized FMN in presence of luciferin (a long-chain aliphatic aldehyde - RCHO) and molecular oxygen, resulting in the blue-green light emission. The spectral band of bioluminescent bacteria is between 420 nm and 660 nm (Meighen, 1991). The flavin reductase of bioluminescence bacteria is perfectly unique as they play important role in catalyzing a flavin redox reaction with flavins.

The regulation and production of induced bioluminescence of *V. fischeri* is genetically regulated by lux operon system which consists of two distinctly transcribed units: the *luxICDABEG* operon and *luxR* gene. The luxA and luxB genes are encoded α (40kDa) and β (37 kDa) subunits of luciferase enzyme. They catalyse the reaction of reduced FMNH₂, long chained aldehyde and oxygen to produce FMN, aliphatic acid, water and light. Aliphatic acid reductase complex is endcoded via luxC, luxD and luxE genes that recycles the acid to aldehyde while luxG participates in the metabolism of FMN (Nijvipakul *et al.*, 2008; Miyashiro and Ruby, 2012).

4.3 Quorum sensing

Luminescence in V. fischeri is controlled by a bacterial cell population densityresponsive regulatory mechanism called quorum sensing. Quorum sensing is the



Fig 5 Quorum sensing in Vibrio fischeri (Prescott et al., 2020)

regulation of gene expression in response to fluctuations in cell-population density as the mechanism of quorum sensing involves two genes: luxI and luxR. They encode an autoinducer synthase (known as called luxI) and an auto- inducer-dependent activator of lux operon (called luxR). The luxI synthesizes/or can produce the auto-inducer which is chemically named acylated homoserine lactone (AHL) that rapidly diffuses out of bacterial, and it accumulated in the bacterial cell up to threshold concentration. As a result, high bacterial cell density is needed for the transcription of lux operon and then subsequent production of light (*Fig 5*) (Dunlap, 1999; Lupp *et al.*, 2003; Verma and Miyashiro, 2013). In the ocean, cell density is app. 10^2 cells/ml, this low concentration of cells cannot produce light, as luminescence is not activated.

4.4 Vibrio fischeri bioluminescence inhibition test protocol

In 1978, the first version of the bioassay from Beckman Instrument, Inc. USA was marketed as the Microtox® test (including the freeze-dried marine bacteria, salt solution, photometer and methods). Microtox® test based on the bioluminescence inhibition of the marine bacterium *Vibrio fischeri* NRRL-B-1177 is an acute toxicity bioassay and it was used to assess the toxicity of liquid samples (Bulich and Isenberg, 1981). In 1990, Brouwer and his research team developed another version for solid phase assessment (e.g., toxicity of sediments). After that it has become one of the most popular tests in environmental monitoring and screening activities all over the world (Brouwer, 1990). Later on, Brouwer et al (1990) proposed a protocol that allows contact between solid phase and bacteria.

Microtox® test has been modified several times, and subsequently, a modified version of the test by Azur Environmental in 1998 was proposed as a standard for testing solid samples. It is called the Microtox® solid-phase test (MSPT) (https://www.modernwater.com/assets/Technical%20Support/Toxicity/Manuals/ACUT E%20User's%20Manual.pdf).

In the study by Doe *et al.* (2005), MSPT was performed for measuring the toxicity of whole sediment samples, suggesting that interference might occurred by factors connected to the filtrate: i) color (light absorption) ii) turbidity (light scatter) coming

from fine particles, which are not removed by filtration. In another study, Ringwood *et al.* (1997) reported that lower light readings occurred due to loss of bacteria in the liquidphase due filtration procedure. After exposure period, solid particles in the extraction are separated by filtration and then toxicity of water fraction is measured. In addition, during the testing procedure filtration, another confounding factor might be bacteria absorption on the particle surface and physical interference on luminescence from particles (Volpi Ghirardini *et al.*, 2009).

For testing the toxicity of solid samples through direct contact between *V.fischeri* bacteria and contaminated particles, Lappalainen *et al.* (1999, 2001) presented a novel protocol, which can circumvent these problems. In this work the bioluminescence intensity is assessed in kinetic mode. In 2010, this protocol was standardized (ISO 21338:2010: Water quality – Kinetic determination of the inhibitory effects of sediment, other solids and colored samples on the light emission of *V.fischeri* /kinetic luminescent bacteria test/) (ISO 21338, 2010). The kinetic measurement can be used for solid and colored samples in suspension as it can eliminate false toxicity reading that light intensity is calculated by comparing initial and final reading, independently from the control.

The bacterial suspension is injected into the samples, subsequently, peak maximum of luminescence intensity increases within 30 sec (hence, the system is named Flash) (Lappalainen *et al.*, 2001). After 30 min of exposure time, light intensity is read again. During the first 30s, this kinetic reading of bioluminescence can be used for preliminary assessment of the samples (Mortimer *et al.*, 2008) and can show some indication of the behavior of the samples as follows:



Fig 6 Luminescence emittance in the a) *control, b*) *toxic, c*) *colored or turbidity d*) *colored toxic sample.*

In the control, bioluminescence intensity remains at nearly constant level (*Fig* 6a). In a toxic sample, when luminescence is inhibited, the bioluminescence intensity starts to decrease immediately within 30s (*Fig* 6b). For colored and turbidity samples, the inhibition of bioluminescence intensity can be distinguished from the toxic effect that signal obtained during measurement, because of initial light emission is lower than control during the first 30s, but remains nearly constant thereafter (*Fig* 6c). Whereas, for the colored with toxic sample, the signal obtained in the first 30 sec also shows a characteristic pattern, with an inherently lower light emission compared to the control, which decreases after the initial flash showing the toxic effect (*Fig* 6d).

Nowadays, for ecotoxicological monitoring, a wide variety of different systems are commercially available based on V. *fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition including Ascent luminometerTM (Aboatox Co., Finland), Microtox® (Azur Environmental), ToxAlert® (Merk), LUMIStox® (Dr. Bruno Lange), and ToxScreen (Checklight Ltd., Qiyrat Tiv'on, Israel) (Kováts *et al.*, 2012; Aammi et al. 2017; Corrêa *et al.*, 2017). International and several national standards are available including the European standard (EN ISO 11348 - 2007), the American standard (ASTM D5660- 1995), the French standard (DIN 38412-1990), and the Chinese standard (GB/T 15441- 1995) (Urbanczyk *et al.*, 2007; ISO 21338: 2010; Ye *et al.*, 2011).

The procedures specified in the ISO standard can be distinguished based on the type of bacteria used: 1) ISO 11348-1, Water quality – Determination of the inhibitory effect of water samples on the light emission of *Vibrio fischeri* (luminescent test bacteria) – Part 1: method using freshly prepared bacteria, 2) ISO 11348-2, Water quality – Determination of the inhibitory effect of water samples on the light emission of *Vibrio fischeri* (luminescent test bacteria) – Part 2: method using liquid-dried bacteria, 3) ISO 11348-3:2007, Water quality – Determination of the inhibitory effect of water samples on the light emission of *Vibrio fischeri* (luminescent test bacteria) – Part 2: method using liquid-dried bacteria, 3) ISO 11348-3:2007, Water quality – Determination of the inhibitory effect of water samples on the light emission of *Vibrio fischeri* (luminescent test bacteria) – Part 3: method using freeze-dried bacteria (ISO 21338: 2010). In Hungary, liquid-dried and freeze-dried bacteria are used for bacterial preparation (Kováts *et al.*, 2012).

Comparing air sample to other ones, air the most complicated to collect, in term of budget and logistic requirements. A small amount of PM sample is deposited on a filter. As such, the size of test organisms is even more restricted; in most cases, bacterial bioassays are used (e.g., Pintér *et al.*, 2017). Back to history, the first attempt utilizing bioluminescence test bacteria was used to assess the toxicity of air sample (Serat et al., 1967). Afterward, in 1998, MSPT based on luminescence bacteria was used to estimate air pollutant ecotoxicity of urban dust collected in London and Hong Kong (Wang *et al.*, 1998). Nowadays this bioassay on air PM samples is widely used (Isidori *et al.*, 2003; Evagelopoulos, 2009; Roig, Schuhmacher, *et al.*, 2013).

In addition, it is important to point out that *V. fischeri* is a marine species, which needs saline environment as mimicking artificial seawater during the sample preparation

procedure. To overcome this problem, utilization of freshwater luminescent bacterium was employed. Ye *et al.* (2011) used freshwater luminescent bacterium (*Vibrio qinghaiensis sp. Nov.*) in order to evaluate the acute toxicity assessment of explosive wastewater samples, suggesting that freshwater luminescent bacterium (*Vibrio qinghaiensis sp. Nov*) was highly sensitive. However, this test organism is not currently commercially available in kit form.

4.5 PM sample extraction protocol

According to the conventional protocol (ISO 11348-3:2007), solvents or water are used to prepare an extract. The PM sample is a solid one. Therefore, in order to prepare an extract, different solvents (water and organic solvents: methanol, dichloromethane, dimethyl-sulphoxide, and hexane) need to be applied (Wang *et al.*, 1998; Vouitsis *et al.*, 2009; Kováts *et al.*, 2012; Verma *et al.*, 2012; Chang *et al.*, 2013; Aammi et al., 2017).

In several studies, distilled water was used to make a suspension for determining the toxicity of air samples (Wang *et al.*, 1998; Silva *et al.*, 2015; Wang *et al.*, 2016). For instance; to assess the toxicity assessment of ash samples collected after a wildfire, an aqueous extract of ash was prepared with distilled water (Silva *et al.* 2015). In the study of (Wang *et al.*, 2016), atmospheric PM was collected from three different regions (China) to assess the ecotoxicity of PM_{2.5}. The samples were extracted by de-ionized water. In another similar study, in order to assess the ecotoxicity of size-fractioned biomass ash samples, de-ionized water was used as well (Barbosa *et al.*, 2013).

Apart from aqueous extract, different organic solvents have been employed (Vouitsis *et al.*, 2009; Verma *et al.*, 2012; Chang *et al.*, 2013; Aammi et al., 2017). Kahru *et al.* (1996) studied the toxicity of pesticides using luminescent bacteria (*Photobacterium phosphoreum*), suggested that less toxic organic solvents (ethylene glycol, DMSO, methanol, acetone and acetonitrile) are more efficient to dissolve toxic organic substances.

To perform the ecotoxicological evaluation of air pollutants emitted in an industrial settlement of Milazzo (Italy), Semipermeable Membrane Devices (SPMDs) were used to collect organic compounds due to characteristics of the membrane, in which

organic contaminants are able to diffuse. SPMDs were rinsed to remove surface fouled residue and then was solubilized with 20 ml of a mixture of acetone and dimethylsulphoxide (DMSO) (1:1 v/v) for 24h. The sample was used after acetone was evaporated by gentle nitrogen stream (Triolo *et al.*, 2008). Similarly, SPMDs were used to collect gaseous pollutants in the urban air of Caserta, South Italy. Cyclohexane was used to dissolve organic contaminants after SPMDs were rinsed with tap water to remove surface fouled residue and then dried with clean paper (Isidori *et al.*, 2003). Lin and Chao (2002) utilized a similar sample preparation method to evaluate acute toxicity of both the organic extract from the PM-associated soluble organic fraction (SOF) and semi-volatile organic component (XOC) of diesel exhaust emission using Microtox bioassay.

In order to apply the Microtox assay, PTFE-coated fibre filter was used to collect PM of light duty vehicles. The filter was Soxhlet extracted in 300 ml Dichloromethane (DCM), extraction took 24h. Subsequently, rotary evaporation was used to reduce the volume to 1ml (Vouitsis *et al.*, 2009). Teflon PTFE filter was used to collect PM samples in the industrialized area in the north-western part of Greece (Kozani) and then hexane and acetone (1:1) mixture was used due to negligible toxicity on *V. fischeri* bioassay (Evagelopoulos et al., 2009). In addition, a Microtox system as bio-indicator was used in the study of Chang *et al.* (2013) to evaluate the toxicity of fly ash samples from a cooling tower after incineration of plastic liquid waste (PSW) and organic liquid waste (OLW), samples were extracted in n-Hexane or dichloromethane/n-Hexane mixtures. Another study used DMSO and ultra-pure water for extraction of PM_{2.5-10} samples collected from several locations (different urban and industrial characteristics) of a megacity (Istanbul) for acute toxicity testing (*V. fischeri* bioassay) (Aammi et al., 2017).

However, concentration of dissolved toxic compound in the extract might be higher due to their solvent uses (Corrêa *et al.*, 2017). The comparison of water and methanol extract was studied to evaluate the toxicity of an ambient $PM_{2.5}$ samples collected on Quartz filters from Atlanta using freshwater rotifers (*Brachionus calyciflorus*). It was found that methanol extract of the PM sample was extremely toxic (8±6 times) to the rotifer compared to the aqueous extract (Verma et al., 2013). A similar study was carried out on diesel exhaust particulate matter (DPM) extracted with a mixture of three organic solvents (dichloromethane, n-hexane, and acetone). Extraction of DPM was tested on different aquatic bioassay, including luminescent bacteria (*V. fischeri*), algae (*Scenedesmus subspicatus*), fish (*Danio rerio*), and daphnids (*Daphnia magna*). Solvent extracts proved extremely ecotoxic (Corrêa *et al.*, 2017).

4.6 'Whole-aerosol' testing protocol

Preparing an extract from a PM sample collected on a filter rises several questions. First, such organic solvents are used in many cases which extract the whole toxic fraction of the sample, both biologically available and biologically unavailable. In this way, actual ecological risk can be seriously overestimated. Second, these solvents are not part of a natural exposure pathway.

In case of other solid samples (soils or sediments) so called whole sediment biotests are used. In these assays test organisms are in direct contact with the toxic medium. Kováts et al. (2012) developed a 'Whole-aerosol test' test protocol based on the kinetic *Vibrio* test. Similarly to the whole sediment tests, test bacteria are in direct contact with the toxic particles. The kinetic standard uses a suspension, therefore filter spots are grounded in an agate mortar. After that high-purity water (MiliQ) is used to make a suspension for the test bacteria (Kováts *et al.*, 2012). In the suspension, test bacteria are in fact direct contact with PM without further procedures, mimicking naturalistic exposure route. Naturally, clean filters were also checked when the protocol was evaluated and proved to be non-toxic (inert).

This reliable and new sample preparation method was used to assess the ecotoxicity of different PM samples collected on a quartz filter in different environments, such as diesel particles, urban PM, roadside PM and indoor PM sample (Kováts *et al.*, 2012, 2013; Turóczi *et al.*, 2012; Ács *et al.*, 2013; Pintér *et al.*, 2017; Alves *et al.*, 2021; Mentes *et al.*, 2022; Rienda *et al.*, 2023). Turóczi *et al.* (2012) used the whole aerosol test to assess the overall ecotoxicity of various $PM_{2.5}/PM_{10}$. The results showed that direct emission samples significantly more ecotoxic. Another study, this sample preparation method was used to characterise the ecotoxicity of diesel-powered cars. A significant correlation was found between toxicity and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (Ács *et al.*, 2013). Recently, in the study of Rienda *et al.* (2023) resuspended PM10 road dust

was analysed in different types of parking lots, using this method. The result showed that all samples were toxic.

In addition, a direct contact test was also used to assess indoor air quality during cooking different dishes of Latin cuisine. Sampling during preparation of the dishes was carried out in a 15.5 m² equipped modern kitchen in the city of Aveiro, Portugal (Alves *et al.*, 2021). Another study, ecotoxicity measurements of indoor PM generated from Portuguese combustion appliances used the direct contact test as well. *V. fischeri* assay proved that indoor particles released from the fireplace were most toxic and sum of PM-bound PAHs was significantly associated with *Vibrio* ecotoxicity (r= -0.811, p < 0.05) (Vicente *et al.*, 2021).

5 Materials and methods

5.1 PM sampling

5.1.1 Diesel exhaust sampling

 PM_{10} aerosol sample was collected from the exhaust of a diesel-powered jeep (Euro 4 environmental standard, age: 13 years, odometer: 256.887 km). Sampling was done at a flow rate of 32 m³ h⁻¹ for 10 minutes at idling in a closed premise about 1 meter from the tailpipes using the high-volume sampler (KÁLMÁN system KS-303). The quartz filter (Ø15cm) was used to collect PM₁₀ sample.

5.1.2 Seasonal PM sampling

K-Puszta (Hungary, $46^{\circ}58'$ N, $19^{\circ}33'$ E) was selected to collect four-season aerosol samples (*Fig 7*). The sampling site is operated for the measurement of background pollution in Hungary.



Fig 7 Location of K-puszta sampling site

It serves as an air monitoring station by EMEP (European Monitoring and Evaluation Programme) and GAW (Global Atmospheric Watch) and is a part of Hungarian Metrological Service, and WMO (World Meteorological Organization), and also is one of the 20 European supersites within the EU project EUSAAR (European Super-sites for Atmospheric Aerosol Research) Maenhaut *et al.* (2017). Four-season PM_{2.5} samples were collected on a quartz filter using a DIGITEL DH-80, between the 18th of December 2014 and the 22nd of March 2015.

5.1.3 Domestic waste PM₁₀ sampling

 PM_{10} samples originating from the controlled combustion of Polystyrene (PS), Polypropylene (PP), Polyethylene (PE), Polyurethane (PU), Polyvinyl chloride (PVC), rag (RAG), and Oriented Strand Board (OSB) were collected on quartz filter according to the procedure of experiment conditions of the combustion test (Hoffer et al., 2020). Model waste samples were prepared as follows: The PS waste samples were hard cups or pots of dairy products (yoghurt and pudding), without aluminum foil caps, and pieces of expanded PS insulation board (80 mm $\times \sim 100$ mm $\times \sim 100$ mm). PVC: vinyl flooring and hard plastic water pipes. The PP waste sample specimens were a mixture of plastic cups and pots of dairy products (sour cream and pudding), without paper labels and aluminum foil, and quartered plastic trays of meat; PU: packing sponge (average size 120 $mm \times 100 mm \times 15 mm$; OSB: slices of OSB material of different brands (average size $120 \text{ mm} \times 100 \text{ mm} \times 20 \text{ mm}$); PE: a mixture of high and low density polyethylene (HDPE) and LDPE) and Rag: a mixture of polyester and polyamide fabrics from different clothes (average~70 g) (Fig 8). The blank samples was also sampled for each type of waste combustion. Before combustion test with analytical balance, all samples were weighted, and then they were burned in commercially available cast-iron stove (Servant S114, 5kW).



Fig 8 Domestic waste specimens prepared for combustion test

The smoldering charcoal was used to heat the cast-iron stove for 1 hour and then 1-10 aliquots of solid waste were burned depending on the waste types. During the experiment, the temperature of the flue gas was measured. PM_{10} samples were collected on quartz filer (Ø15cm) using KALMAN high-volume aerosol sampler (flow rate 32m3 h-1). More detailed description is shown in study of (Hoffer *et al.*, 2020).

5.1.4 Waste PET PM₁₀ sampling

Controlled combustion of PET was performed as described above (Hoffer *et al.*, 2020). In this case, two different PET waste were used; one was composed of colored PET bottles and the other of colorless ones. Burning and sampling were repeated for both colored and colorless bottles. In each cycle 1 and 2 liter volume beverage plastic PET bottles without caps and labels were burned. Randomly, all waste PET bottles were selected from most commonly consumed commercial types.

5.1.5 Indoor PM_{2.5} sampling

10 non-smoker households with poor ventilation were selected in Khan-Uul district, Ulaanbaatar (hereinafter named HH-1 to HH -10) that can be regarded as average regarding ambient air quality during the cold season (*Fig 9*). The criteria of selected households for our study were as follows: 60% of Mongolians live in the ger area (Guttikunda et al., 2013), app. half of the dwellings in the ger area are made of brick or clay, typically constructed by the owner of each house. We wanted to represent both types, as well as different size of households and different ages of the dwellings. On the other hand, similarities were: location relatively close to the main road; heating type (usage of conventional stoves and coal in each household); only non-smokers lived in the selected families.

Fine indoor particular matter (PM_{2.5}) samples from households were collected with an AirChek XR5000 (SKC Ltd) sampler on a Teflon filter at a flow rate of 1.5 - 2.0L/min for 24 hours, instrument was positioned at 1 to 1.5 meters above ground level to simulate breathing zone between 27 January to 09 February 2018. All households are situated in peripheral area named *Ger khoroolol* which is still not connected to the central heating system. Indoor PM_{2.5} samples were kept in labeled plastic cassettes in cooler box with dry ice, all samples were transported to the laboratory and stored in the freezer at – 20^{0} C at the Department of Public Health, Mongolian National University of Medical Sciences before being transported to the Centre for Natural Science, University of Pannonia, Hungary.



Fig 9 Map showing the sampling area within Khan-Uul district, Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia

5.2 Sample preparation

5.2.1 Direct contact test

Direct contact test was conducted according to a novel sample preparation protocol developed by Kováts *et al.* (2012). In case of the diesel emission sample, one-sixth of the filter was ground in an agate mortar while in case of other samples spots of 25 mm with diameter were cut with a special puncher and then grounded in an agate mortar. Samples were transferred into pre-cleaned 4 ml vials with a PTFE-coated spatula. Suspensions were prepared with 2 ml high-purity MiliQ water. Extracted samples were stored in the freezer prior to measurement.

5.2.2 Extraction with Methanol (MeOH)

Extraction was performed according to Verma et al. (2012). One-sixth of the sample filter was cut into pieces and extracted with methanol in a sonication bath for 15 min. The extracted sample was filtered through PTFE $0.45\mu m$ pore size filter to remove

insoluble materials and any filter fibers. The methanol extract was evaporated to near dryness (1 ml) using a nitrogen stream at 40° C. The extracted sample was diluted prior to measurement. The 250 µl of the original extracted sample was diluted with dimethyl-sulphoxide (14.75 ml - DMSO). Finally, the sample was stored in a freezer until measurement.

5.2.3 Extraction with Dichloromethane (DCM)

Extraction was performed according to Vouitsis *et al.* (2009). One-sixth of the filter sample was extracted with 300ml dichloromethane (DCM) using the Soxhlet apparatus for 24 hours followed by nitrogen stream evaporation (40^{0} C) and then was reduced the volume to 1ml. The 1 ml of concentrated extract was changed with 1ml dimethyl-sulphoxide (DMSO). The diluted extraction was stored in a freezer until analysis. About 250 µl of the original extracted sample was added to 14.75 ml with dimethyl-sulphoxide (DMSO).

5.2.4 Extraction with Dimethyl-sulphoxide (DMSO)

DMSO extracts were used (1) to compare the efficiency of different PM extraction protocols and (2) to assess environmental risk of Mongolian (Ulaanbataar) indoor samples. In order to compare different extracts' ecotoxicity, the extract was prepared adopting the study of Aammi et al. (2017). One-sixth of the sample was cut into pieces and placed in a 15 ml plastic tube. The filter was extracted with 10 ml solvent of 2% dimethyl-sulphoxide (DMSO) in a sonication bath (15 min) and then centrifuged to isolate soluble materials from the insoluble ones at 2500 rpm for 10 min. To remove the insoluble materials, the supernatant was filtered using a membrane filter (PTFE 0.45 pore size filter). Extracted sample was kept in the freezer until measurement. Before testing, 3.75 ml of the initial extracted sample was mixed up 5 ml with dimethyl-sulphoxide (DMSO).

In case of the Mongolian indoor samples, the halves of Teflon filters were used for bioluminescence inhibition assay according to the modified protocol of Aammi et al. (2017). Briefly, each half was weighted gravimetrically with a Sartorius microbalance (10µg sensitivity) and then put into a 15 ml centrifuge (plastic) tube, added the 10 ml of 2% DMSO to each sample at 15 minutes with sonication bath. All samples were centrifuged (2500 rpm) for 10 min. To separate supernatants of each sample, Polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) 0.45 μ m pore size membrane filter was used to remove insoluble components and then transferred into new 15 ml plastic tubes. All samples were kept in the freezer until use.

5.2.5 Exraction with Hexane

According to the sample preparation of Chang et al. (2013), one-sixth of the sample filter was Soxhlet extracted in 300 ml Hexane as followed by evaporated to reduce volume of 1 ml using nitrogen stream at 40° C. Prior to measurement, 250µl of the original extracted sample was filled up until a volume of 15 ml with dimethyl-sulphoxide (DMSO).

5.2.6 Extraction with de-ionized water

Aqueous extracts were used (1) to compare the efficiency of different PM extraction protocols (2) to assess seasonal pattern in rural PM_{2.5} ecotoxicity and (3) to evaluate PM₁₀ from illegal domestic waste burning under controlled combustion. In order to compare different extracts ecotoxicity, the aqueous extract was prepared adopting the study of Wang *et al.* (1998). The filter was cut into pieces and then placed in a beaker with 20 ml de-ionized water (with a resistivity of 418 M Ω cm) in a sonication three times. The extract was kept in a freezer until analysis. About 1.25 ml of the original extracted sample was diluted with 13.75 ml de-ionized water before measurement.

5.3 Analytical measurements

Polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon (PAH) content in extracts were examined by gas chromatographic mass spectrometry (Agilent 6890GC 5973E MSD GC-MS according to MSZ (Hungarian Standard) 1484-6:2003). The limit of detection (LOD) was 0.001µ/L.

For quality assurance/quality control: (QA/QC) internal standard (p- Terphenyld14, 2-fluorobiphenyl from Restek Corporation, Bellefonte, Pennsylvania US) and surrogate standard ((Naphtalene-d8, Acenaphthene-d10, Phenanthrene-d10, Chryzened12 Benzo(a)pyrene-d12, and Perylene-d12, from Restek Corporation, Bellefonte, Pennsylvania US) were used for quantification and quantifying of sample and for procedural recovery. Before the analysis standards were freshly prepared and diluted with GC grade solvents (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Louis, Missouri USA). Recoveries for the compounds ranging between 73.5% and 119.4%, this achieved good by the regulatory requirements of the USA-EPA and EU. In our measurements the recoveries were 96-104% for 2-fluorobiphenyl and 108-114% for p-Terphenyl-d14. The recoveries of surrogate standards were acceptable for the standards (Naphtalene-d8, Acenaphthene-d10 82-102%, Phenanthrene-d10 92-109%, Chrysene-d12 95-107%, perylene-D12 82-91%), which were good for making results reliable.

Analytical determinations were carried out by courtesy of the Laboratory of the ELGOSCAR-2000 Environmental Technology and Water Management Ltd. accredited by the National Accreditation Authority (complies with criteria of Standard MSZ EN ISO/IEC 17025:2018), registration number NAH-1-1278/2015.

For heavy metal concentration the extracts were examined by ICP-OES Thermo iCAP 6300, according to EPA 6010C:2007 inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectrometry (ICP-AES). Heavy metals were extracted from samples by acid digestion before the measurement. The limit of detection were Hg (0.2 μ g/L), Cd, Sb (0.5 μ g/L), Au, As, Co, Sn, Pb, Cr, Ti, Se (1 μ g/L), Mo, Ni (2 μ g/L), Fe, Mn, Cu, Zn (5 μ g/L), and Al, B, Ba, Sr (10 μ g/L), respectively. The linearity of calibration curve was examined.

5.4 Ecotoxicity testing: Vibrio fischeri bioluminescence inhibition test

The principle of this method is to measure the luminescence intensity of the bacterial suspension, and after the sample solution is added to the bacterial suspension, luminescence intensity after a suitable incubation time is measured again. Ecotoxicity testing protocol is shown in *Fig 10*.





This bioluminescence inhibition test is being carried out according to ISO 21338:2010: water quality – kinetic determination of the inhibitory effects of sediment, other solids and color samples on the light emission of marine bacterium *Vibrio fischeri*. Prior to bioluminescent inhibition assay, freeze-dried inactivated luminous *Vibrio fischeri* (NRRL-B-11177) were thawed in cold water with beaker for 2 min after removal from freezer to avoid heat shock and then rehydrated with reconstitution solution (glucose/sodium chloride, buffered to PH 7.0 in a PE bottle). The suspension was incubated at 15^oC for 40 min. 2% of saline standard solution was used. The saline solution was prepared originally from LUMIStox standard (LCK480/482-7.5% NaCl).

A 96 micro well plate was used. The micro plate has 8 rows, 12 columns and the volume of the well is 350 μ l. 4 samples can be measured simultaneously at 11 dilutions in two replicates (parallel measurement) (*Fig 11*). Luminescence measurements were performed with fully automated Thermo Scientific Luminoskan Ascent® that is a micro plate luminometer under the control of Ascent Software (Aboatox Co., Finland.



Fig 11 The samples were filled on the white micro-plate

The dispenser of the instrument was rinsed with high purity MiliQ water and saline water and subsequently rinsed with bacterial suspension three times before measurement. The microplate with samples was placed in the plate carrier of the apparatus while bacterial suspension was placed in the leakage tray of the apparatus. The samples were injected into the bacterial suspension, bioluminescence intensity was continuously recorded for the first 30 sec. After 30 min of exposure, luminescence intensity was read again.

To calculate the ecotoxicity results, the light output of the unstressed bacteria (the first 30 sec) was used as a reference. EC_{50} or EC_{20} (concentration causing 50% or 20% of bioluminescence inhibition) values were calculated from light inhibition percentage (%) using the Ascent Software provided by the Aboatox Co., Finland.

For samples, the light inhibition (INH %) was estimated based on the following equations:

$$KF = \frac{IC30}{IC0} INH\% = 100 - \frac{IT30}{KF \times IT0} \times 100$$

Where KF is a correction factor, IC_0 and IC_{30} are luminescence intensities of control at the beginning and after 30 min while IT_0 and IT_{30} are luminescence intensities of the sample at the beginning and after 30 min contact time. From the inhibition data of each concentration the software estimated Gamma using the formula below:

$$Gamma = \frac{INH\%}{100 - INH\%}$$

and the inhibition data which belongs to the Gamma = 1 values gives the EC_{50} .

Afterwards, EC_{50} values were used to calculate toxic units (TU), based on the following equation (Chang *et al.*, 2013):.

$$TU = (1/EC50) \times 100\%$$

The categories of the toxic unit (TU) were classified as follows: non-toxic (<1), toxic (1-10), very toxic (10-100), extremely toxic (>100), respectively.

5.5 Statistical analysis

Principle component analysis (PCA) was used to analyze potential differences in the different waste types. Statistical analyses were performed using the RStudio (RStudio 1106) ggfortify package (https://CRAN.R-Desktop April 1. program, project.org/package=ggfortify). Statistical analysis was carried out using RStudio (RStudio Desktop 1.4.1106) program and R 4.0.0 program (http://cran.rproject.org/src/base/R-4/R-4.0.0.tar.gz) Rcmdr package. Statistical significance was defined as p≤0.05. For cluster analysis, ward method was used and Euclidean distance was calculated.

Pearson correlation test was used to determine the relationship between indoor and outdoor PM samples variables (defined as $p \le 0.05$). Microsoft Excel was used to calculate concentration and percentage contribution of different molecular weight PAHs for as well. In addition, Software Origin Pro 8 (© OriginLab Corporation, USA) was used to estimate PAH source apportionment based on their ratios and toxic units (TU).

5.6 PAH Source identification

The PAHs isomer ratio is a widely used technique to apportion original emission sources (Yunker *et al.*, 2002). The diagnostic ratio approach for identifying PAHs source requires comparison of ratios of constantly established PAHs pairs.

Diagnostic ratio of PAHs, such as ratios of fluoranthene to fluoranthene plus pyrene Flt/(Flt+Pyr), Benzo[a]anthracene plus chrysene BaA/(BaA+Cry), can be applied (Yunker *et al.*, 2002). The ratio of Flt/(Flt+Pyr) below 0.4 likely implies petroleum input, ratio between 0.4 and 0.5 petroleum combustion and ratio above 0.5 grass/wood and coal combustion. BaA/(BaA+Cry) ratio below 0.2 indicates petroleum, from 0.2 and 0.35 either petroleum or combustion as mixed source and ratio above 0.35 indicates fossil fuel and vegetation combustion. Ind/(Ind+BghiP) ratio >0.5 likely implies combustion of grass, wood and coal, while ratio between 0.2 and 0.5 petroleum combustion and <0.2 petroleum (Yunker *et al.*, 2002).

6 Results and Discussion

6.1 Validation of the direct contact test

In different sample preparation procedures, extraction with organic solvents influenced toxicity in extracts and ecotoxicity results, in addition, it does not reflect a realistic environment exposure route. Therefore, the main goal of present study was to compare toxicity results of different sample preparation to direct contact test (Kováts *et al.*, 2021).

6.1.1 PAH concentration

The concentrations of PAHs in samples extracted by different organic solvents are given in *Table 1*. The lowest total PAH concentration was found in water extract, whereas in the other extract samples, such as DCM, hexane, and DMSO, highest PAH content were detected. In the methanol extract sample, total PAH content was 0.568 μ g/mg, whereas in the DMSO extract, highest PAH content was 2.151 μ g/mg.

Sample	Water	Methanol	DMSO	Hexane	DCM
Naphthalene (µg/mg)	7.340	5.430	7.478	5.004	5.728
2-methil-naphthalene (µg/mg)	0.190	0.142	0.291	0.130	0.147
1-metil-naphthalene (µg/mg)	0.090	0.063	0.166	0.058	0.066
Acenaphthylene (µg/mg)	0.000	0.008	0.012	0.006	0.004
Fluorene (µg/mg)	0.010	0.008	0.013	0.011	0.008
Phenanthrene (µg/mg)	0.080	0.182	0.290	0.249	0.271
Anthracene (µg/mg)	0.014	0.016	0.034	0.026	0.033
Fluoranthene (µg/mg)	0.020	0.122	0.431	0.255	0.305
Pyrene (µg/mg)	0.000	0.165	0.523	0.366	0.450
Benz (a) anthracene (µg/mg)	0.000	0.017	0.120	0.075	0.082
Chrysene (µg/mg)	0.000	0.009	0.110	0.041	0.075
Benz (b) fluoranthene (µg/mg)	0.000	0.006	0.115	0.069	0.048
Benz (5) fluoranthene ($\mu g/mg$)	0.000	0.020	0.055	0.043	0.031
Benz (e) pyrene (µg/mg)	0.000	0.004	0.068	0.044	0.029
Benz (a) pyrene (µg/mg)	0.000	0.006	0.042	0.026	0.031
Dibenz (a. h) anthracene (µg/mg)	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000
Indeno (1.2.3-cd) pyrene (µg/mg)	0.000	0.000	0.007	0.004	0.002
Benz (g.h.i) perylene (µg/mg)	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.001	0.001
Total PAHs	0.174	0.568	2.151	1.219	1.372
Total PAHs + naphthalene	7.794	6.203	10.086	6.411	7.313

 Table 1 Chemical characteristics of extracts

Bold values are total PAH concentration without naphthalene

Considering the profile of PAH isomers, light molecular weight (LMW) PAHs are abundant in water extract. The low amounts of fluoranthene and phenanthrene content

in water extract were 0.020 μ g/mg and 0.080 μ g/mg, respectively. Higher molecular weight (HMW) PAH contents were determined in methanol, DMSO, hexane and DCM extracts. HMW PAHs (5- to-6-ring) are dominant in diesel emission, high molecular weight PAHs are causing the most adverse health effects such as carcinogenicity etc., (e.g., Islam *et al.*, 2019). In ecotoxicology screening, most often chemical measurements are coupled with EC₅₀ values. The PAHs content in extracts can cause the variances in ecotoxicity results. The PAH concentration without naphthalene is in concordance with the outcomes of toxicological examination.

6.1.2 Ecotoxicity assessment

In the *Vibrio* test, comparative values of samples extracted with different organic solvents and direct contact are illustrated in *Table 2* expressed as EC_{50} . Highest toxicities were observed in hexane and DCM extract. EC_{50} value in DMSO extract was 9.92%. In the water extract, lower toxicity was determined. Whereas, EC_{50} value in direct contact was relatively high, similarity to methanol extract.

Sample	Methanol	Hexane	DCM	DMSO	Direct contact	Water
EC ₅₀	12.53	6.79	6.39	9.92	11.97	78.31

Table 2 Ecotoxicity of different extracts vs. the direct contact test

The *Vibrio* bioassay was employed by Baran *et al.* (2019) to assess the impact of the bioavailable contamination fraction of sediments samples collected from the silted part of the Roznów reservoirs (Southern Poland). Toxicity results were calculated as percent effect (PE) and assessed by following criteria: non-toxic $\leq 20\%$; slightly toxic $\leq 50\%$; toxic $\geq 50\%$; and highly toxic samples (percentage effect = 100%). Based on this classification, extracts using organic solvents showed highly toxic results, with maximum inhibition in concentrated sample of 100%. On the contrary, water extract gave non-toxic result as maximum inhibition in concentrated sample was 14.5%.

Fig 12 gives the 30 sec kinetic curves of *Vibrio fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition bioassay on samples prepared with different solvents. According to 30 sec kinetic diagram results, samples extracted by Methanol, Hexane, DCM, and DMSO were found highly toxic. However, the water extract was obviously less toxic then other samples prepared with different organic solvents. The kinetic *Vibrio fischeri luminescence inhibition* test is widely used to assess the toxicity of solid and colored environment



Fig 12 Kinetic diagram of the samples. Well1: control. Well2: highest, Well12: lowest concentrations. Light output is recorded in the first 30 s interval. In the control, light output remains even but in the actual samples light emittance is reduced, showing concentration-dependent pattern. Each sample is analyzed using two replicates (indicated by two rows in the diagram)

samples including sediment, particulate matter, etc., and preliminary assessment of the toxicity can be performed based on their kinetic mode (Mortimer *et al.*, 2008; Jarque *et al.*, 2016). *V. fischeri* 30-sec kinetic bioassay was used to assess the toxicity associated to sediments, which samples were collected from five localities with different contamination inputs in the South-eastern part of the Czech Republic. Results suggested

the method as a good screening tool for evaluating toxicity (Jarque *et al.*, 2016). In another study, the kinetic *V. fischeri* test was used for the initial and real-time screening of the toxicity of the sample of nanoparticles (NPs) samples. The 30 sec kinetic diagram of bioassay in these samples clearly showed toxicity (Mortimer *et al.*, 2008).

The dithiothreitol (DTT) assay was used to examine the ROS-generating (or oxidative) potential of the PM_{2.5} samples collected from urban site near central Atlanta. In the methanol extract, DTT assay response was significantly higher (Verma et al., 2012). In another study, bioassays were employed to compare the efficiency of bioremediation processes in heavily petroleum contaminated soil samples collected in two biopiles at the Czechowice oil refinery, Poland. The ecotoxicological test was performed in DMSO/H2O and DCM/DMSO soil extracts. Higher toxicity in all samples was found (Płaza et al., 2005). In the study of Selivanovskaya et al. (2010), a comparison was performed between direct contact biotest with traditional elutriate test for evaluation of wastes hazards. The result showed the lowest inhibition dilution (LID_{10}) obtained in aqueous elutriate test was 6.4 times lower in comparison to that obtained in contact bioassay. The bioavailability of particulate matter plays a crucial role, therefore, when potential impacts are to be assessed, the bioaccessibility of pollutants is the determining factor (e.g. Turner, 2011). Regulatory frameworks for the assessment and remediation of contaminant soils based on a risk-based approach have been moved towards due to considering contaminant bioavailability (Kim et al., 2015). Many reports demonstrated that the influence of bioavailability particulate-bound compounds strongly affects ecotoxic environmental impacts (e.g., Varshney et al., 2016; Jan et al., 2018; Sah et al., 2019). In order to determine bioavailable fraction of toxic compounds and exposure pathway, it should be noted that direct contact bioassay seems the most suitable screening tool. In the study of Tositti et al. (2018), bioluminescence inhibition test in a direct contact version was applied to assess the ecotoxicity of PM₁₀ samples collected from a coastal location in N-W Italy. Cluster analysis on chemical composition and percentage of inhibition ratio (IR%) data revealed that a statistically significant correlation was detected between adverse effects on living cell and the specific chemical species in PM_{10} samples.

Unfortunately, studies on comparing the toxicity of different extracts and the whole medium using the same test organism are restricted. In order to evaluate the risk assessment of solid media including sediment, soil, compost and so, most of the studies apply a whole battery of bioassays representing the screening tool (Juvonen *et al.*, 2000). Biotests on liquid and solid phases of contaminated soils from industrial sites in the North of France were compared using ecoscores for evaluating ecotoxicology. Results of solid phase bioassay showed a higher sensitivity (Lors *et al.*, 2011). In the study of Tuikka *et al.* (2011), a sediment contact battery tests representing three different trophic level including the *Vibrio* test was utilized to assess the sediment toxicity. The result demonstrated that flash test with *Vibrio* test was efficient for discriminating the contaminated sediments.

Vibrio fischeri bioassay has been utilized to assess the different phases of the same sediment/ soil samples in some studies. Microtox Solid and liquid phase assay were employed to assess the overall sensitivity for the initial ecotoxicological screening of estuarine sediments. In the solid phase, greatest toxicity in all sediments was detected, while lower toxicity of samples was found in liquid phase test. For elutriate samples, there was no toxicity, whereas only pore water sample from the East wall site was toxic (Davoren et al., 2005). In Poland, luminescent bacteria were used for the assessment of ecotoxicity. Microtox® screening test was employed for testing soil elutriates, while Microtox® Solid phase test was applied for testing solid samples. Relatively low toxicity was found in soil elutriates, whereas in the SPT- Microtox®, high reduction in bioluminescence appeared, EC₅₀s ranged from 4.8 to 36.4% and all samples were toxic (Klimkowicz-Pawlas et al., 2019). In an another study, Acheson et al. (2004) compared the solid phase and saline extract Microtox® assay for soil contaminated with polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs). Solid phase assay was more sensitive than saline extract assay, suggesting that solid phase Microtox® assay was appropriate for examining the toxicity of soil contaminated with PAHs.

Gonzalez-Merchan *et al.* (2014) used solid and liquid phase Microtox® assay to characterize sediments from stormwater retention basin in the region of Lyon (France), suggesting the SPT- Microtox® test in all samples showed higher ecotoxicity. A similar

result was observed in the study of Paulovits *et al.* (2012) who used the three different phase (sediment, elutriate and pore water) BioTox® Flash assay (kinetic bioluminescence bioassay) to characterize the toxic nature of the sediments in the 2^{nd} reservoir of the Kis-Balaton Water Protection System (KBWPS). Direct contact test in all sampling site showed higher ecotoxicity as followed by elutriate samples, whereas no pore water toxicity was found.

Direct contact and water extract tests using microbial test organism (*V. fischeri and A. agilis*) were used to evaluate soil toxicity. Soil samples were collected from contaminated sites. Direct contact test (*V. fischeri and A. agilis*) in all sample sites were more sensitive and detected high toxicity (Leitgib et al., 2007).

Among organic solvents, DMC is widely used to prepare an extract from different media such as sediment (Masood et al., 2018). In order to assess the genotoxic and mutagenic potential of organic material extract in PM emission of a typical automotive diesel engine loaded with different alternative and/or renewable fuels, extract was prepared using DCM solvent (Soriano et al., 2020). PM-bound PAHs samples from urban industrial area in South Africa were extracted with DCM solvent to determine their concentration and carcinogenic and mutagenic health risk of PM2.5 bound PAHs (Morakinyo et al., 2020) as well. In the study of Jing et al. (2019), luminescent bacteria were used to evaluate a method for PM2.5 biotoxicity assay. PM2.5 samples were collected from campus of Fudan University (Shanghai, China) where this site was influenced by commercial, industrial and residential activities. A residual toxicity of the PM_{2.5} samples, extracted by eight common extraction solvents, was measured and found that bioluminescence intensity of samples extracted with methanol. 1/1Nhexane/dichloromethane, N-hexane, and dichloromethane (DCM) were not affected. Results indicated that rate for light inhibition of dimethyl-sulphoxide (DMSO) was 1%, which concluded that extraction solvent would affect results of toxicity test when being used in PM extraction process. From findings of this study, considering both residual toxicity and the polarity of extraction solvent, N-hexane/dichloromethane, methanol, and ultrapure water seem available solvents to prepare an extraction of PM samples for luminescence bacteria testing.

6.2 Seasonal PM_{2.5}

In our study, *Vibrio* bioassay was used to characterize seasonal differences in rural PM_{2.5} (Kováts *et al.*, 2020).

6.2.1 PAH content

In this study, PAHs content in all four season extracts was measured. The highest Σ PAHs content was detected in autumn, followed by winter and spring. Whereas lowest total PAH content was found in summer extract (*Fig 13*).



Fig 13 Distribution of PAHs in the seasonally collected aerosol samples. PAHs are categorized into groups according to the number of rings

HMW PAHs (4, 5 and 6-ring PAHs) were predominant in cold season samples compared to warm season ones. Mostly, the concentration of 5-ring PAHs in cold season was much higher than warm season. Surprisingly, 4-ring PAHs were not found in the summer extract sample.

Considering the individual PAHs characteristics, benzo[k]fluoranthene (BkF), indenol 1.2.3CD-Pyrene (IDP) and Benzo[g.i.h]perylene (BghiP) are excellent markers, which are associated with vehicle exhaust (Pant *et al.*, 2017) while Fluorene (Flu), Pyrene

(Pyr), Benzanthracene (BaA), Chrysene (Cry) and DbaA are considered as good markers of incineration source (Eiguren-Fernandez *et al.*, 2004). In our study, the highest concentration of BghiP in the autumn extract sample was observed, so it indicated traffic exhaust. Whereas concentration of Pyr, Cry and BaA in cold season samples were significantly higher compared to those in warm seasons, concentrations of Pyr in winter and autumn were $0.285 \ \mu g/l$ and $0.207 \ \mu g/l$, values in spring and summer sample were $0.079 \ \mu g/l$ and $0.015 \ \mu g/l$ respectively. The concentration of Cry in the autumn and winter samples were $0.203 \ \mu g/l$ and $0.200 \ \mu g/l$ whereas in the spring and summer samples these values were $0.052 \ \mu g/l$ and $0.011 \ \mu g/l$. The concentration of BaA in heating season. Characteristics of individual PAHs in the heating season indicated biomass combustion (Gelencsér *et al.*, 2007). A similar study in Romania observed biomass combustion primary emission as main source in wintertime (Mărmureanu *et al.*, 2020), where highest amount of PAHs could be detected (Valavanidis *et al.*, 2006).

Considering the distribution of PAHs in vapor and particulate phase, HMW PAHs with 5-6 rings are abundantly observed in particle phase (Lu et al., 2008). Ambient temperature and lower photochemical activity are most important factor to increase the level of the PAHs in cold period (Eiguren-Fernandez et al., 2004). For instance: mean total PAHs concentration at the urban site was 66.9 ng m⁻³ during April (average air temperature was 17.0°C) and 203 ng m⁻³ during January and February (average air temperature was 4.9°C) (Morville et al., 2011). The 17 PAHs of the atmospheric gas and particle-phase were measured in four seasons between 2002 and 2004 in the east of France, seasonal variation of PAHs showed higher values in the cold season. Significant differences in concentrations between rural, suburban and urban areas were observed and the prevalence of HMW PAHs was generally characteristic during the cold season as well (Morville et al., 2011). Similar seasonal variation trends have been reported (Li et al., 2006; Esen et al., 2008). To evaluate the air quality of Győr (Hungary), 18 individual PAHs in urban PM₁₀ samples were measured in the period of 2008 to 2012. Higher concentration of total PAHs was found in cold period and prevalence of HMW PAHs appeared in the heating season (Szabó et al., 2015).

6.2.2 PAH source identification

In this study, seasonal PM extracted samples are shown in *Fig 14* to identify their source emission based on these two ratios. Flt/(Flt+Pyr) ratios in winter, spring and summer samples were higher than 0.5 while Flt/(Flt+Pyr) ratio in autumn sample was between 0.4 and 0.5, its value was 0.48. BaA/(BaA+Cry) ratios in autumn, spring and summer samples were above 0.35, indicating combustion input, while ratio in winter sample was near to transit point of two kinds of combustion sources, indicating mixed sources.



Fig 14 Cross plot of BaA/(BaA+Cry) against Flt/(Flt+Pyr)

These two ratio indicated that biomass burning and petroleum combustion are most important source emission of spring, autumn and winter samples in rural area, Hungary. Gelencsér *et al.* (2007) estimated that the main source of $PM_{2.5}$ was biomass burning in winter period at 6 sites along a west to east transect in Europe. A similar study discussed source identification of summer and the winter aerosol using data collected in Magurele, Romania between 2012 and 2013, suggesting the primary source of organic aerosol was biomass burning for the winter season (Mărmureanu *et al.*, 2020).

In another study, to assess air quality, PM concentration and PM bound PAHs in

 PM_{10} and $PM_{2.5}$ aerosol samples collected at the monitoring station of Győr, were measured. Source apportionment indicated that main source emission of PM bound PAHs was biomass burning and traffic emission, BaP/BghiP ratio demonstrated traffic source in 70% of all the samples (Szabó et al., 2015; Szabó et al., 2019). The study of Angyal *et al.* (2021) highlighted that biomass burning (39%) and traffic emission (31%) in Debrecen were major contributors to $PM_{2.5}$.

6.2.3 Ecotoxicity assessment

In the *V.fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition assay, higher ecotoxic value (EC₂₀s) was found in winter period as followed by autumn and spring time. Whereas no ecotoxic effect was detected in summer period (*Fig 15*). *Vibrio fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition bioassay (Ascent Luminometer system) was used by (Kováts *et al.* (2012) to assess the ecotoxicity of winter and summer PM_{10} samples collected from residential background station at the main observatory of the Hungarian Metrological Service, Budapest (Hungary). As result, the winter sample was more ecotoxic while in summer sample, no toxic effect was observed. Wang *et al.* (2016) used bioluminescent bacteria (*Photobacterium phosphoreum* PPT₃) to assess the ecotoxicity of atmospheric PM in the period from March 2014 to January 2015 in Nanjing (China), and found that heating season samples collected from all locations showed higher ecotoxicity in comparison to others.



Fig 15 Ecotoxicity of seasonal PM extract samples

Aammi et al. (2017) also assessed the ecotoxicity levels of atmospheric $PM_{2.5-10}$ using *V. fischeri* inhibition bioassay at several location of a megacity (Istanbul, Turkey). An extremely high toxic unit (TU) in extracted samples from polluted area was found in the cold season (between January and March). *V. fischeri* inhibition bioassay was employed in the study of Roig *et al.* (2013) in various areas of Catalonia (Spain), and ecotoxicity test in urban and cold season samples showed significantly higher ecotoxicity than samples from rural areas and summer respectively. In addition, positive correlation was found between the concentration of metals and organic toxic substances in atmospheric PM_{10} and the bioassay outcomes.

6.3 Domestic waste PM₁₀

To provide an initial estimation of the ecotoxicity profiling of PM₁₀ samples originating from controlled combustion of different waste types, such as polystyrene (PS), polyethylene (PE), polypropylene (PP), polyvinyl chloride (PVC), polyurethane (PU), oriented strand board (OSB) and rag (RAG), present study was performed (Kováts *et al.*, 2022).

6.3.1 Concentration of PAHs and heavy metals

PAH concentrations in each PM_{10} emitted from different types of waste combustions are illustrated in *Table 3*. Highest total concentration of PAHs was found in PS sample (407µg/l), followed by PU sample (321 µg/l) and PP sample (167 µg/l). Lowest total concentrations in RAG (8.95 µg/l), OSB (13.7 µg/l) and PVC (20 µg/l) samples were detected, respectively. In the PE sample, concentration was 48.7 µg/l.

Table 3 Summary of PAHs of aqueous extract. Concentration values are given in μ/L . PS: polystyrene, PE: polyethylene, PP: polypropylene, PVC: polyvinyl chloride, PU: polyurethane, OSB: oriented strand board, and RAG: rag. Limit of detection (LOD) was 0.001 μ g/L

	PS	PE	PP	PVC	PU	OSB	RAG
Naphthalene	< 0.001	0.339	2.8	2.15	6.68	< 0.001	0.144
2-methyl-naphthalene	0.18	0.15	0.966	< 0.001	1.66	0.12	0.123
1-methyl-naphthalene	0.31	0.108	0.533	< 0.001	1.64	< 0.001	0.132
Acenaphthylene	26.9	1.22	7.96	0.49	56.2	0.67	0.101
Acenaphthene	0.58	0.154	0.345	0.067	128	0.09	0.024
Fluorene	38.8	1	7.54	0.565	6.79	0.277	< 0.001
Phenanthrene	213	8.91	44.6	3.15	32.8	1.39	0.253
Anthracene	15	0.7	3.22	0.28	10.2	0.33	0.027
Fluoranthene	60.7	15.6	36.3	6.59	28	4.82	2.34
Pyrene	30.2	16.8	51.1	3.5	37.6	4.11	1.66
Benzanthracene	4.61	0.738	2.94	0.57	2.18	0.83	0.375
Chrysene	8.71	1.24	2.69	1.34	2.22	0.24	2.05
Benzo(b)fluoranthene	4.44	0.623	0.676	0.67	2.13	0.32	0.851
Benzo(k)fluoranthene	0.826	0.17	1.24	0.151	0.54	0.04	0.155
Benzo(e)pyrene	0.98	0.282	2.33	0.225	0.88	0.157	0.38
Benzo(a)pyrene	1.04	0.401	0.979	0.19	1.79	0.185	0.238
Dibenzo[a.h]anthracene	0.43	0.145	0.074	0.086	0.54	0.07	0.085
Indeno1.2.3CD-Pyrene	0.44	0.027	0.07	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.019	< 0.001
Benzo(g.h.i)perylene	0.26	0.122	1.04	0.06	0.738	0.07	0.014
Total PAHs	407	48.7	167	20	321	13.7	8.95

Considering individual PAHs in each sample, 3-to 4-rings PAHs in PS, PP, and PU samples were observed as dominant. Of heavy PAHs (5-to 6-ring), values of

dibenzo[a.h]anthracene and benzo[g.h.i]perylene were 0.54 μ g/l and 0.74 μ g/l, respectively.

Heavy metal contents in RAG and PE samples were rather low, toxic metal, concentrations of cadmium (Cd) were below the detection limits (see *Table 4*). Highest concentrations of Cd were found in PVC sample (22.4 μ g/l), followed by PU (5.54 μ g/l) and OSB (2.89 μ g/l). High concentration of Pb was detected in the PVC sample, with 1.01 μ g/l, while in other samples, concentrations of Pb were below the limits of detection. Highest concentration of Zn was observed in PVC sample as well. However, in other samples, concentrations of Zn were relatively low.

Table 4 Summary of metal concentration of aqueous extract. Concentration values are given in μ/L . PS: polystyrene, PE: polyethylene, PP: polypropylene, PVC: polyvinyl chloride, PU: polyurethane, OSB: oriented strand board, and RAG: rag. Limit of detection (LOD) 0.2 - 10 μ g/L

	PS	PE	PP	PVC	PU	OSB	RAG
Ag	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000
Al	<10.0	<10.0	<10.0	<10.0	<10.0	<10.0	<10.0
As	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000
В	72.1	54.4	66.8	58.9	94.6	79.5	64.2
Ba	<10.0	<10.0	<10.0	122	<10.0	<10.0	<10.0
Cd	< 0.500	< 0.500	< 0.500	22.4	5.54	2.89	< 0.500
Co	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000
Cr	1.43	<1.000	3.73	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000
Cu	< 5.00	6.72	< 5.00	6.26	< 5.00	6.33	7.61
Mo	2.42	<2.00	5.63	2.08	2.14	<2.00	<2.00
Ni	<2.00	<2.00	2.02	2.5	<2.00	<2.00	<2.00
Pb	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	1.01	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000
Se	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000
Sb	< 0.500	< 0.500	0.557	4.03	< 0.500	< 0.500	8.4
Sn	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000	<1.000
Zn	12.8	8.23	11.4	78.8	11.9	11.3	6.73
Na	3.84	3.1	3.81	0.684	3.3	4.54	2.92
Hg	< 0.200	< 0.200	< 0.200	< 0.200	< 0.200	< 0.200	0.228

Considering the chemical composition of all extracted samples, PS and PP samples could be identified as PAHs –type samples, whereas PU sample is mixed nature based on their high content of PAHs and metals. In the experimental combustion study of Hoffer et al. (2020) the concentration of PAHs in PM₁₀ emission of twelve different types of common solid waste (e.g., plastic beverage packaging and other plastic wastes,

textiles waste, fiberboard, furniture, tyres and coloured paper wastes) were measured, extremely high PAH emissions was found in PS, PP, and PU samples.

PVC sample could be somewhat categorized as metal-type based on the high content of Cd and Zn. In our case, low amount of PAHs in the PVC sample was found. However, it should be noted that high amount of PAHs was detected in incineration products of PVC linoleum, especially concentrations of benzo[a]anthracene and chrysene were high (142.5 and 143.13 μ g/g) (Gotlib et al., 2001). Valavanidis *et al.* (2008) studied metals and PAHs accumulation in PM emission from controlled combustion of 6 types of plastic. As result showed, high concentrations of Pb and Zn in PVC sample were detected, with 64.2±6.7 μ g/g and 13.1±0.5 μ g/g respectively. Another experimental study (Park et al., 2013) studied the emission levels of PM₁₀ / PM_{2.5}, PAHs, and heavy metals from test combustion of individual domestic waste such as paper, wood, and plastics. The most common heavy metal in mixed waste plastics emission samples was Zn, followed by Cr, Pb, Ni, Cu, and Cd. High amount of PAHs in mixed plastic emission sample was observed, the highest concentration of phenanthrene was detected (330.9 μ g/g) followed by Fluoranthene (275.7 μ g/g), Pyrene (90.5 μ g/g), and Indeno (1,2,3cd)pyrene (62.0 μ g/g).

Several studies on the open burning of municipal solid waste, which emits heavy metals that contribute to atmospheric PM, have been demonstrated. For instance; Wang *et al.* (2017) reported that a large amount of 9 toxic heavy metals (Hg, As, Pb, Cd, Cr, Se, Cu, Zn, and Ni) was emitted from open-municipal waste burning in six districts in China, especially large toxic heavy metals emission was mainly observed in densely populated urban areas and large municipal solid waste generation places. In another Indian study, trace metals in open waste burning aerosol samples were investigated in landfill sites, in New Delhi during the cold period. As result showed that the metals such as, As, Cd, Sb, and Sn content in aerosol samples were predominant (Kumar *et al.*, 2015).

PAH concentrations of the OSB and Rag samples were rather low, TU value in Rag was similar to PE sample (1.85), but practically no toxicity was detected in OSB sample. For heavy metal analysis, heavy metal such as, Cd, and Pb were detected in limit of detection (LOD).

6.3.2 Sample characterization

In our study, PCA analysis was used to identify the toxic waste samples. They can be distinguished as PAHs type and heavy metal type based on the ecotoxicity assay result and a chemical composition. The biplot of PCA analysis for different type of waste combustion samples is presented in *Fig 16*.



Fig 16 illustrates the PC1 component accounted for 44.16% of the total variance

Fig 16 PCA diagram of the samples based on chemical composition and ecotoxicity results. PP: polypropylene, PS: polystyrene, PU: polyurethane, PE: polyethylene, PVC: polyvinyl chloride, RAG: rag, OSB: oriented strand board.

and the PC2 component accounted for 19.65% of the total variance. In the PCA analysis, three cluster of samples could be identified based on their similarity. Samples such as PE, RAG, and OSB created one group, while PS, PU and PP samples formed another group. PVC sample was separate.

6.3.3 Ecotoxicity assessment

In the *V.fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition assay, the toxic units (TU) of each PM₁₀ emitted from different types of waste combustions showed clear differences (*Fig 17*). For all extracted samples except the OSB sample, the categories of the TU were regarded as toxic. However, TU values in extracted waste samples were slightly different, the toxic unit of PU was 4.21, followed by PVC (3.3), PS (2.57) and PP (2.14) respectively. TU values of RAG and PE were very close to each other, 1.85 and 1.87, respectively. Whereas, for the OSB sample, no ecotoxic effect was found. In this case, each blank samples were also measured and found to be non-toxic.



Fig 17 EC₅₀ of PM₁₀ emission from different illegal waste burning under the controlled combustion

Fig 18 shows the kinetic diagram of light output of stressed and control bacteria as recorded during the first 30 sec of the measurement (Lappalainen *et al.*, 1999, 2001) and gives the kinetic curves of OSB, Rag, PE, PVC, PU, PP and PS extracted samples. For OSB sample, kinetic diagram showed far less toxicity than any of the other extracted waste samples.


Fig 18 The kinetic diagram of the different types of waste combustion aerosol PM10 samples. Each samples were measured in two replicates, C1 to D1- controls, C2 to D2 – Highest concentrations, C12 to D12 – lowest concentrations.

These diagrams give a visual estimation of the expected behavior of test bacteria and can be used for the initial and real-time screening of the toxicity of the sample (e.g. Jarque *et al.*, 2016). In our study, OSB, Rag, PE, PVC, PU, PP, and PS extracted samples were regarded as toxic based on a preliminary assessment of kinetic curves.

6.4 Waste PET PM₁₀

The direct contact test based on *V. fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition bioassay was used to assess the potential environmental impact of the PM_{10} sample emitted from colored and colorless PET wastes under the open-combustion experimental setup (Kováts *et al.*, 2023).

6.4.1 Concentration of heavy metals

The concentration of heavy metals in PM_{10} samples originating from the controlled combustion of colorless and colorful PET waste bottles is shown in *Table 5*. High concentration of Antimony (Sb) in the PM_{10} samples from both PET waste bottles was detected. Antimony trioxide (ATO) is one of main catalysts, which is commonly used in the manufacture of PET bottles. Antimony content was measured in 12 brands of bottles in the study of Chapa-Martínez *et al.* (2016), it ranged from 73 mg/kg to 111.3 mg/kg. In another similar study, the antimony content examined in ten brands of PET package materials varied between 210 mg/kg and 290 mg/kg (Keresztes *et al.*, 2009).

Metals	Colorless1	Colorless2	Colored1	Colored2
Ag	< 0.020	< 0.020	< 0.020	< 0.020
As	0,022	0,032	0,029	0,02
В	1,66	2,35	1,77	2,00
Ba	< 0.200	< 0.200	0,207	< 0.200
Cd	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010	< 0.010
Со	< 0.020	< 0.020	< 0.020	< 0.020
Cr	0,065	0,082	0,084	0,096
Cu	< 0.100	< 0.100	< 0.100	< 0.100
Mo	0,087	0,085	0,101	0,085
Ni	0,273	0,112	0,056	0,054
Pb	0,096	0,091	0,066	0,077
Se	< 0.020	< 0.020	< 0.020	0,022
Sb	14,8	16,9	6,93	14,4
Hg	< 0.004	< 0.004	< 0.004	< 0.004
Sn	< 0.020	< 0.020	< 0.020	< 0.020

Table 5 Metal concentrations in the PM10 samples (mg/kg)

Two main types of removing processes of the antimony (Sb) in ambient air are transfer to different environments including soil or water via wet and dry deposition (Smichowski, 2008). In the soil antimony is more easily absorbed by roots and transported to shoots by plant and can be accumulated (Zhong *et al.*, 2020). There are a number of studies, which can give data about its ecotoxicity on various test organisms including earthworms, mussels and higher plants, etc.

Xu *et al.* (2021) estimated the toxicity of soil antimony to earthworm *Eisenia fetida* (Savingy) before and after aging process. The results showed that the values of net avoidance response, escape and mortality of earthworm in aged treatment generally decreased. In the study of Zhu *et al.* (2022), hydroponic culture experiments were performed to establish the toxicity of different forms of Sb to rice plant. High toxicity and water vapor deficit was found. In another study, effects of six different polymer types as 4 mm microplastic on *Nelumbo nucifera* (Lotus) in water and sediment were investigated. Highest inhibition of germination and growth on two plastic samples was detected, while significantly increased Catalase and Glutathione S-transferase activities were observed.

Chemical composition and ecotoxicity of four types of plastic leachates including PET to aquatic test organism were examined in the study of Capolupo *et al.* (2020). Highest concentration of antimony in leachate was detected and inhibition of normal embryonic Mediterranean mussel (*Mytilus galloprovincialis*) development was significantly induced. Based on evidence reports on human health, antimony occurring in higher concentration than 8.87 mg/m³ seem to cause respiratory problems (e.g., pneumoconiosis). Cardiovascular disease, dermal problem (antimony spot), reproduction disorders, genotoxic and carcinogenic effects are associated with chronic antimony exposure as well (Sundar and Chakravarty, 2010). Neurotoxicity of antimony in the early life stage of Zebrafish was examined in the study of Xia *et al.*(2021). As result, level of acetylcholinesterase (*AChE*) in Zebrafish embroyes was reduced, along with decreased expression of neurofunctional markers including *gfap, nestin, mbp*, and *shha*.

6.4.2 Concentration of PAHs

The concentrations of PAHs measured in PM_{10} samples originating from the controlled combustion of both PET waste samples are presented in *Table 6*. Total PAHs content of both PET waste samples varied in the samples and ranged from 290 mg/mg to

425 mg/kg. Higher difference of total PAHs content was observed in the 2 colored samples. Whereas, on the contrast, values of total PAHs in 2 colorless samples were rather close to each other, 378 mg/kg and 425 mg/kg. In the work of Hoffer *et al.* (2020), controlled combustion test were conducted with twelve different types of domestic waste including PET and PAH content in samples was examined. The highest concentration of PAHs was detected when burning PET waste (3.0 μ g total PAH in 1mg PM₁₀ aerosol).

	PAHs	Colorless1	Colorless2	Colored1	Colored2
	Naphthalene	< 0.01	0.22	0.07	0.06
two rings	2-methyl-naphthalene	< 0.01	0.02	0.03	0.03
	1-methyl-naphthalene	< 0.01	0.02	0.02	0.02
three	Acenaphthylene	0.16	0.21	0.12	0.21
	Acenaphthene	0.02	0.02	0.03	0.01
ringe	Fluorene	0.13	0.16	0.11	0.01
rings	Phenanthrene	3.07	0.45	2.7	4.02
	Anthracene	0.36	0.56	0.29	0.62
four rings	Fluoranthene	26.6	29.3	16	27.2
	Pyrene	14.2	17.6	11.5	17.3
	Benz(a)anthracene	33.5	41.3	26.1	36
	Chrysene	95.7	92.1	66.2	105
	Benzo(b)fluoranthene	88.2	103	66.9	90.6
	Benzo(k)fluoranthene	14.4	17.3	12.8	15.8
five rings	Benzo(e)pyrene	27.5	32.3	21.2	30.2
	Benzo(a)pyrene	19.4	25.1	18	23.3
	Dibenzo(a.h)anthracene	23.9	29.1	20.6	25.8
six rings	Indeno1.2.3CD-Pyrene	11.8	14.2	8.14	11.2
SIX FINGS	Benzo(g.h.i)perylene	19	22	19.3	22.9
	Total PAHs	378	425	290	410

 Table 6 PAH concentrations in the PM10 samples (mg/kg)

Fig 19 shows the distribution of PAHs, which are categorized into groups based on the number of rings in both PET waste samples. In our study, prevalence of 4-and 5-ring PAHs in all samples was found. Highest concentration of chrysene in 2 colored samples was detected with the values of 66.2 mg/kg and 105.0 mg/kg. The concentrations of chrysene in 2 colorless samples were 92.1 mg/kg and 95.7 mg/kg.

In the 5-ring PAHs, high concentration of benzo(b)fluoranthene in all samples was found and ranged between 66.9 mg/kg and 103 mg/kg. The concentration of benzo(b)fluoranthene in 2 colorless samples ranged from 88.2 mg/kg to 103 mg/kg. The benzo(b)fluoranthene content was also high in 2 colored samples (ranged from 66.9 mg/kg to 90.6 mg/kg). Of 6-ring PAHs, the concentrations of the indeno1.2.3CD-Pyrene and benzo(g.h.i)perylene in both PET waste samples were relatively high as well. The concentration of indeno1.2.3CD-pyrene ranged from 11.8 mg/kg to 14.2 mg/kg in 2 colorless PET samples while in 2 colored samples, concentrations were 8.14 mg/kg and



Fig 19 Concentration of different PAH isomers in the samples

11.2 mg/kg.

In the study of Xiu et al. (2014), bioaccumulation and oxidative damages such as lipid peroxidation (LPO), protein carbonyl (PC) and DNA strand breaks were examined in soft parts of juvenile scallops (*Chlamys farreri*) to evaluate effects of the benzo(b)fluoranthene (BbF) and chrysene (Cry). Higher accumulation of chrysene in soft part of scallops was found and LPO levels, PC contents and DNA damage were increased significantly. Another report assessed the effects of chrysene (Cry) on detoxification enzyme activities, bioaccumulation and effect of chrysene on biomolecule damage in gills, muscle and hepatopancreas tissues of the juvenile white shrimp *Litopenaeus vannamei*. Test organisms were treated with chrysene for 21 days at different concentrations. A sharply increased chrysene accumulation was observed. Also, detoxification enzyme activities of glutathione –S-transferase (GST), sulfotransferase

(SULT) and uridinediphosphate glucuronyltransferase (UGT) were induced while higher activity of antioxidant defense system (superoxide dismutase- SOD) in gill and hepatopancreas was found. In addition, lipid peroxidation (LPO), protein carbonyl (PC) and DNA damage appeared (Ren et a., 2015). Guo *et al.* (2017) also proved that mixture of chrysene and benzo(a)pyrene concentration in tissues of the scallop *Chlamys farreri* increased rapidly in a time and dose effect pattern.

Liver parameters were assessed in chrysene-exposed C57BL/6 mice in the study of (Tao *et al.*, 2021). Increase in morphometric parameters of liver (e.g., liver weight and hypotocyte swallowing) appeared while higher amount of the liver enzymes (ALT) in serum was detected.

PM-bound PAHs were measured in PM_{2.5} and PM₁₀ samples collected seasonally in an urban region in Zhengzhou (China) between 2014 and 2015. Chrysene and benzo(b)fluoranthene content in air samples during the cold period were detected at high levels (Wang et al., 2017). Human health hazards of PAHs in road dust were investigated in the study of Soltani et al. (2015). Cancer risk assessment was estimated by inhalation and dermal contact. An average estimated levels via dermal contact and ingestion pathway in adult and children were found as much as 2.97×10^{-4} and 2.24×10^{-4} in children and 3.10×10^{-4} and 1.75×10^{-4} in adults. In another study, PAHs emission from burning of agricultural waste (crop residue) was measured. Highest mean concentration of benzo(b)fluoranthene was 1.30 µg/mg. This study also demonstrated that the toxicity of PAHs was due to presence of benzo(b)fluoranthene for most samples, while extremely high cancer risk was estimated (10⁻¹) (Sunday et al., 2022). The concentration of benzo(b)fluoranthene in human milk of the healthy, non-smoking, Italian adults living in rural or low traffic zones was detected (0.560±1.39 µg/kg as wet weight) (Bubba et al., 2005). In animal experiment study Kim et al. (2011) revealed that sperm quality in the benzo(b)fluoranthene-exposed mice was decreased. Another study also reported that mixture of benzo(b)fluoranthene and benzo(a)pyrene had higher cytotoxicity and facilitated ROS production (Branco et al., 2021).

6.4.3 Ecotoxicity assessment

Fig 20 shows the toxic unit (TU) of PM_{10} samples originating from the controlled combustion of PET wastes. Based on TU classifications, both PET waste samples were regarded as toxic. However, differences in TU values in colorless PET waste samples appeared, they were 4.01 and 5.63. In the colored samples, TU values fell closer to each other, at 3.9 and 4.33.



Fig 20 TU values in the 4 PM samples

Based on outcomes of ecotoxicology and chemical measurements in this study, particle emissions from illegal PET waste burning indicated high toxicity, which might pose a serious environmental risk. In China, microplastic pollution in atmospheric dust from different environments was studied. Four colors of microplastic in dust were determined and PET sources mainly from fabric fragment emissions (Zhang et al., 2022).

6.5 Indoor PM_{2.5}

V.fischeri bioluminescence inhibition bacterium test was used to assess the indoor PM_{2.5} in non-smoking households in Mongolia (Sainnokhoi *et al.*, 2022).

6.5.1 Concentration of indoor PM_{2.5}

Concentration of indoor $PM_{2.5}$ in different household ranged between 62.8µg m_3 and 324.8 µg m_3. Highest concentration was detected in HH-6 (324.8 µg m_3) and HH-2 (320 µg m_3) while lowest concentration was found in HH-9 (62.8 µg m_3) (*see table* 7). However, concentration of $PM_{2.5}$ in all household exceeded the standard of the WHO (10 µg m_3) and Mongolian National Ambient Air Quality Standard (50 µg m_3).

6.5.2 PAH concentrations

Table 8 shows the concentrations of 19 individual PAHs in indoor air of ten nonsmoking ten households. The highest Σ PAHs content was detected in HH-7 (175.7 ng m⁻³), followed by HH-2 (137.3 ng m⁻³), and HH-5 (105.1 ng m⁻³) while the lowest Σ PAHs content was found in HH-9 (46.2 ng m⁻³).

In this study, comparison with colder regions appears to be more appropriate as more representative meteorological conditions can be taken into consideration. In the study of Mohammed *et al.* (2016), the distribution pattern of PM_{2.5} bound PAHs in indoor air in Harbin city (China) was examined. The levels of the sum of 16 US EPA priority PAHs were found high during heating months, average value in indoor air was 102 ±75.8 ng m⁻³. Krugly *et al.* (2014) reported the characterization of PAHs in indoor PM_{2.5} fraction of a primary school, sampling was conducted during the cold season period in the city of Kaunas, Lithuania between 2011 and 2012. The concentration of total PAHs in the PM_{2.5} fraction ranged from 20.3 ng m⁻³ to 131.1 ng m⁻³. In another study in Hangzhou (China), PAHs pollution in residential air was investigated, total concentration of 8 PAHs ranged from 7.1 ng m⁻³ to 320 ng m⁻³ (Lu et al., 2011). Seasonal variation and sources of PAHs in urban indoor particulate and gas phase samples were investigated in a semiarid region of India, average PAHs level in residential homes was 233 ng m⁻³ (Masih *et al.*, 2012). In another Chinese study, Li *et al.* (2017) reported an average of 39.6 ng m⁻³ PAH content

in indoor PM_{2.5} samples collected in cold season from suburban hotels in Jinan (China).

While our results fall into a similar range, in the study of Zhu *et al.* (2009), the highest concentration of total 16 PAHs (36200 ng m⁻³) was detected in residential air samples collected from Hangzhou, China.

	Concent- ration of indoor PM2.5 (µg/m ³)	Huse type	Resi- dency year	Sampling place	House- holds area (m² /room number)	Family mem- bers	Heater type	Ventilation per day	Heating time per day	Cooking per day	Nearby outdoor PM source	Tobacco smoke
HH-1	107.2	Fired clay brick	12	Living room	60/3 rooms	5	Stove	-	Coal, processed coal and wood/ 4	3	Next to main road	No
HH-2	320.7	Breeze- block	12	Living room	27/ 2 rooms	7	Stove	1	Coal, processed coal and wood/ 3	1	Main road, unpaved road	No
НН-3	176.5	Fired clay brick	7	Living room	64/ 3 rooms	5	Electric/st ove	1	Coal, processed coal and wood/ 6	2	Next to unpaved road	No
HH-4	137.2	Breeze- block	10	Sleeping room	71/2 rooms	8	Stove	2	Coal, processed coal and wood/ 2	3	Next to unpaved road	No
HH-5	93.6	Fired clay brick	4.5	Living room	31.15/ 1 room	5	Stove	-	Coal, processed coal and wood/ 3- 4	3	Next to mini power plant, main road	No
HH-6	324.8	Fired clay brick	45	Living room	160/ 2 rooms	7	Electric/ stove	-	Coal, processed coal and wood/ -	2	Unpaved road	No
HH-7	214.6	Clay and breeze- block	40	Living room	24/ 1 room	6	Stove	-	Coal, processed coal and wood/ 3	1	Next to mini power plant, main road	No
HH-8	246.2	Fired clay brick	10	Living room	18/1 room	6	Stove	-	Coal, processed coal and wood/ 4	-	Unpaved road	No
HH-9	62.8	Breeze- block	26	Living room	104/ 3 rooms	9	Electric/ stove	-	Coal, processed coal and wood/ 3	2	Next to unpaved road	No
HH-10	142.8	Breeze- block	50	Kitchen room	32/1 room	3	Electric/ stove	-	Coal, processed coal and wood/ 2	2	Next to unpaved road	No

Table 7 Description of sampling sites

	HH-1	HH-2	НН-3	HH-4	НН-5	HH-6	HH-7	HH-8	HH-9	НН- 10
Naphthalene	6.2	5.4	7.0	6.1	6.2	5.1	4.7	5	5.8	5.6
2-methyl- naphthalene	5.6	4.5	6.2	5.8	6.2	5.4	4.6	4.7	6.5	5.3
1-methyl- naphthalene	5.5	1.9	2.4	2.5	6.1	2.2	1.9	1.85	2.7	2.3
Acenaphthylene	0.4	0.5	0.3	0.4	ND	0.4	0.6	0.25	0.3	0.7
Acenaphthene	0.2	0.1	0.6	0.3	ND	0.2	0.2	0.15	0.2	0.2
Fluorene	1.1	0.8	1.4	0.9	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.85	0.9	0.8
Phenanthrene	6.7	6.5	7.0	7.9	5.4	5.5	6.1	5.5	4.4	5.3
Anthracene	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.3	7.3	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.2	0.3
Fluoranthene	2.3	5.3	2.4	5.2	6.3	0.3	7.4	3	1.4	2.0
Pyrene	1.6	4.4	1.4	2.4	10.1	2.5	8.1	2.95	1.3	1.7
Benzo (a)anthracene	2.1	9.0	1.1	2.3	6.9	4.3	13.7	3.95	1.5	2.8
Chrysene	1.5	7.1	0.9	5.5	5.9	3.3	9.0	3.25	1.2	2.4
Benzo(b)fluoranthen e	11.5	28.8	4.5	12.9	13.1	13.1	37.7	11.4	5.6	11.8
Benzo(k)fluoranthen e	3.4	8.9	1.0	2.4	3.8	3.9	12.6	2.85	2.2	3.6
Benzo(e)pyrene	5.3	12.2	1.8	3.4	7.7	5.9	17.5	5.35	2.7	6.6
Benzo(a)pyrene	7.8	20.4	4.1	6.9	9.5	8.3	25.1	5.3	4.8	8.9
Dibenzo[a.h] anthracene	1.1	1.6	0.4	2.1	ND	0.5	1.7	0.75	0.3	0.8
Indeno1.2.3CD- Pyrene	4.4	11.8	2.4	4.0	5.4	4.9	14.4	2.95	2.6	5.1
Benzo(g.h.i)perylene	3.0	7.7	1.7	3.4	4.8	3.0	9.2	2.6	1.6	3.5
Total PAH	70.2	137.3	46.7	74.1	105.1	69.5	175.7	63	46.2	69.7

Table 8 Concentration (ng m_3) of PAHs in the indoor PM2.5 samples of households, carcinogenic PAHs are given in italic. (ND: not detected)

Fig 21 illustrates the total amount of different molecular weight PAHs in indoor $PM_{2.5}$ air of ten non-smoking households. In HH-7 and HH-2, the concentration of HMW PAHs (5 and 6-ring) was notably higher compared to others. The prevalence of five-ring PAHs was obvious in all household except HH-3. Amongst five-ring PAHs in each sample, benzo[b]fuoranthene (BbF) and benzo[a]pyrene (BaP) were represented as a



Fig 21 Total amount of different molecular weight PAHs in households

most significant fraction.

As shown in *Fig* 22, the percentage contribution of different molecular weight PAHs in indoor PM_{2.5} air samples in all household was dominated by 5-ring and 4-ring PAHs. The result showed that 5-ring PAHs represented 54% of total PAHs in HH-7, followed by HH-2 (52%), and HH-6 (46%), HH-10 (46%), HH-1 (42%), HH-8 (41%), HH-9 (34%), HH-5 (32%), and HH-1 (25%).

4-ring PAHs in indoor PM_{2.5} in each sample were abundant as well, in decreasing order: HH-5 (28%; 17.58%), HH-7 (21.71%; 6.42%), HH-8 (20.87%; 18.33%), HH-2 (18.75%; 8.57%). In addition, 6-ring PAHs in indoor PM_{2.5} in each sample showed high contribution, accounted for 8.8% to 14% of total PAHs.



Fig 22 Percentage contribution of different molecular weight PAHs in the households

These results show that 5-and 6-ring PAHs were obviously the predominant fractions of total PAHs in indoor $PM_{2.5}$ of ten non-smoking households. Our findings are in concurrence with the research results of other reports (e.g., Wu *et al.*, 2015). On the one hand, Wu measured the concentration of 16 PAHs absorbed by indoor $PM_{2.5}$ air in rural households of Henan Province (China) during the heating period. The ratio of heavy molecular PAHs (4- to 6-rings) to total PAHs in $PM_{2.5}$ in winter ranged from 79 to 94.8%. On the other hand, particulate-bound PAHs in indoor PM from public spaces (shopping centres and train stations) were found to be abundantly sorbent on $PM_{2.5}$ with proportion of 59-97% to total particulate phase (Lu et al., 2008).

6.5.3 Correlation factor between outdoor PM_{2.5} and indoor PM_{2.5}

In this study, data of ambient $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations from the National Agency of Meteorology and Environmental Monitoring were used. As far 15 air monitoring stations in Ulaanbaatar city are available (<u>http://agaar.mn/index</u>). There are two air stations (Misheel Expo and Nisekh) that are quite close to these ten households, HH-1, HH-2, HH-3, and HH-4 are located app. 5 – 5.3 km from these air monitoring stations. HH-5, HH-6, and HH-7 are located app. 4.4 km from Nisekh air monitoring station, whereas distance between HH-8, HH-9, and HH-10 and the Nisekh air monitoring station are app. 345 to 500 meter. Model based correlation between mean concentrations of indoor and outdoor $PM_{2.5}$ is illustrated in *Fig 23* and moderate relationship was found (R2 = 0.66, p



Fig 23 Correlation between concentrations of indoor and outdoor $PM_{2.5}$ in the winter period

<0.015).

One-year real-time monitoring of indoor and ambient $PM_{2.5}$ concentration in campus environment, Northeast China, was examined, significant correlation was found between indoor and outdoor $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations (Bai *et al.*, 2020). There is a case study in Guangzhou (China). Field sampling from different districts was carried out in three typical urban setting including school, office and residential areas. A good correlation was found between indoor and outdoor particle number concentration at all three sampling settings (Hu *et al.*, 2018). Byambatseren et al. (2018) concluded that indoor air quality in households located between the Ger area and residential district of Ulaanbaatar city was strongly affected by background $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations. In wintertime, coal combustion in peripheral areas where access to basic infrastructure (e.g., central heating and sewage system) is very limited, these sources represent the main contribution to both indoor and outdoor $PM_{2.5}$ (Enkhbat *et al.*, 2016).

Lim *et al.* (2018) measured indoor $PM_{2.5}$ concentration affected by conventional and improved stoves in a ger during heating season. Average 24-h $PM_{2.5}$ concentration detected in ger were significantly higher in the case of improved stoves rather than conventional ones. Accordingly, Barabad *et al.* (2018) studied the emission characteristic of particulate matter on Mongolian bituminous coal in controlled heating experiment, concluding that $PM_{2.5}$ emission would depend on the coal used in households.

6.5.4 PAH source identification

Ratio of Flt/(Flt+Pyr) in all household were above 0.5, which indicated combustion of solid fuel (Yunker *et al.*, 2002). It is important to note that in HH-5, Flt/(Flt+Pyr) ratio was 0.38, which implied petroleum input. The results from our study suggested that coal and wood was the most important source of indoor air $PM_{2.5}$ bound PAHs for all households except HH-5 and HH-7.

(BaA+Cry) ratio was greater than 0.35 for all household except HH-4, which implied combustion input and value in HH-4 was 0.29, suggesting mixed source. The cross plots of BaA/(BaA+Cry) against Flt/(Flt+Pyr) was suggesting that in case of the most of households, the main important source was coal and wood combustion (Yunker *et al.*, 2002) (*Fig 24*). In HH-5 and HH-7, the crossplots of BaA/(BaA+Cry) against Flt/(Flt+Pyr) indicated that petroleum and petroleum combustion might have been the main source. It is most interesting to note that environment of mentioned two households was very distinguishable to each other; one of the most possibility source might be the vicinity of an old mini power plant and petroleum station.

In the cross plots of Ind/(Ind+BghiP) against Flt/(Flt+Pyr) indicated that grass, wood and coal combustion for all household (except HH-5 and HH-7) was the main source (Yunker *et al.*, 2002; Anenberg *et al.*, 2013; Bonjour *et al.*, 2013). Several study have

reported that coal combustion could be the main source of air particular matter emission in peripheral area during the heating period in Ulaanbaatar city (Enkhbat *et al.*, 2016; Hill *et al.*, 2017; Barabad *et al.*, 2018). In this study, most of the PAHs identified in indoor air PM_{2.5} in all household implied that coal was the main indoor pollution in households which burned coal. It is most common that in ger district, Ulaanbaatar, coal is widely used as source of fuel for cooking and heating in the winter period (Battsengel *et al.*, 2021).



Fig 24 a) Cross-plot of BaA/(BaA + Cry) ratio vs. Flt/(Flt + Pyr) in ten households. b) Cross-plot of Ind/(Ind + BghiP) ratio vs. Flt/ (Flt + Pyr) in ten household.

6.5.5 Ecotoxicity assessment

In the *Vibro* ecotoxic assay, all samples were regarded as toxic based on calculated toxic units (TUs) (Chang et al., 2013) (*Fig 25*). TU values of all samples were in a wide range, TUs were rather similar in HH-2 (5.4), HH-6 (5.5) and HH-8 (4.9), whereas low TU was found in HH-10 (1.8). TU value above 4 were in HH-7 (4.0), HH-3 (4.1), HH-4 (4.2), and HH-5 (4.4) while below 4, TU values were 3.6 and 3.7 in HH-9 and HH-1 respectively. PAH content of these samples was examined, however, differences in the ecotoxicity can be partially explained by the PAH concentrations: highest percentage of HMW PAHs (5- to 6-rings) was found in HH-2 (66.5%), TU was also remarkably high in this sample (5.4). The highest amount of HMW PAHs was also detected in HH-6 (57%), TU was 5.5. In HH-5, ratio of HMW PAHs amounted to 42.2%, TU was 5.5 respectively.



Fig 25 The toxic unit values of an indoor PM_{2.5} from ten household

Evagelopoulos et al. (2009) studied the toxicity of fine and coarse particles utilizing the *V.fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition bioassay. The particles samples were collected

from an urban area of Kozani in Greece between 2005 and 2006. A significant correlation was found between ecotoxicity and PAHs contents in the samples.

Alves *et al.* (2021) evaluated the ecotoxicity of indoor PM_{10} samples collected during cooking activities in modern kitchen utilizing *V. fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition bioassay. The result demonstrated that an excellent correlation was found between HMW PAHs and toxicity values ($r^2 = 0.94$), but there was no good relationship between LMW PAHs and toxic units. Isidori *et al.* (2003) also used *V.fischeri* bioassay to appraise the ecotoxicity of urban air of Caserta, South Italy, at 17 points in two seasons of the year, a correlation was found between chemicals in air and toxicity test results in most of the sites. In another study, the *V.fischeri* test was used to assess air pollutant ecotoxicity in the industrial settlement of Milazzo (Italy) on agriculture, a similar tendency appeared in this study (Triolo *et al.*, 2008).

In this study, an excellent relationship was found between indoor PM_{2.5} levels and TU values (t = 2.4803, df = 8, p value = 0.03809; R² = 0.6593202).

In the study of Wang *et al.* (2021), indoor and outdoor PM_{2.5} samples collected from the coal-fired area in winter of Qian'an City of Tangshan City, Hebei Province (China), suggested that heavy metals such as Cr, Cu, Zn, Ni, Cd, and Pb in indoor and outdoor PM_{2.5} samples were the main contributors to air pollution in coal combustion.

V.fischeri bioluminescence bioassay was applied to assess the ecotoxicity of PM_{10} air samples from Catalino (Spain), good correlation was found between ecotoxicity reading and heavy metals (Roig *et al.*, 2013). In our study, Vibrio ecotoxicity might be attributed to heavy metals as well.

Based on indoor $PM_{2.5}$ concentration, TU, and individual PAHs, the output of cluster analysis of households is presented (*Fig 26*). Three groups could be categorized.



Cluster Dendogram for Solution Helust.2

Fig 26 Dendogram of different households based on the individual PAH concentrations, TU, and indoor $PM_{2.5}$ concentrations

A significant difference was found between group I and III (t = -2.2638, df = 21, p=0.0343) while no-significant differences were found between group I and II (t = -1.2537, df = 21, p=0.2237) and group II and group III (t = -0.70335, df = 21, p=0.4896). Considering the proximity of HH-2, HH-6, and HH-8, these households are similar to each other and having high indoor toxicity. *Fig* 27 illustrates light emission of kinetic mode of *V. fishceri* on different indoor PM_{2.5} extract samples as continuously recorded during first 30s of measurement. In our study, the kinetic diagram of indoor PM_{2.5} extracted samples of households were higher than typical curves of each control samples, however, these diagram of samples are regarded as far less toxic.



Fig 27 The kinetic curve of the indoor PM2.5 air samples of the ten households. Each samples were measured in two replicate, C1 to D1- controls, C2 to D2 – Highest concentrations, C12 to D12 – lowest concentrations.

7 Total summary

Airborne particulate matter samples are labour-intense and expensive to collect, whereas sometimes only low quantities of PM can be collected on a filter due to logistical challenges. Therefore, finding a trustworthy technique that requires the conditions of field collection and laboratory treatment can improve the quality of the scientific work reducing the overall costs.

For assessing the overall ecotoxicity of the sample, *V. fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition bioassay is an excellent screening tool is, due to its many benefits. It is simple, easy to use, cost-effective, rapid, and also low sample quantity is needed. On the other hand, conventional protocol is required using water extract but in scientific reports, different types of organic solvents are used to prepare an extract. This preparation has some drawbacks, which need to be improved for mimicking the naturalistic exposure route. Therefore, a proper evaluation of the nature of the solvent and the samples, as well as of the extraction procedure for direct contact test is needed.

The present study aimed to compare the different sample preparation protocols for PM ecotoxicity and to validate the whole aerosol version of the kinetic *Vibrio fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition bioassay using different samples. They were as follows: Four season PM samples in rural region; PM emission of the different illegal waste burning; PM emission of colored and colorless PET burning; indoor air samples in Mongolian households.

The main outcomes of the study were summarized as follows:

 Protocol comparison – Present study was the initial research work to compare toxicity of different extraction (PM sample extracted by hexane, DCM, DMSO, water and methanol) to a direct contact test when assessing PM pollution. Based on *Vibrio* test and chemical analysis, highest PAH content and lowest EC₅₀ value determined in DCM, hexane, and DMSO extracts. Whereas lowest amount of PAH and highest EC₅₀ value in water extract were measured. Our result proved that the sensitivity of the direct contact test equals to that of extraction procedures using organic solvents. From these findings, direct contact test might be interchangeable with results gained for these extract, taking into consideration the availability of laboratory development such as instruments, and protocol.

- 2. Seasonal PM_{2.5} V.fischeri bioassay was used to assess the seasonal differences in rural PM. Considering the outcomes of the Vibrio test and chemical analysis, highest total PAH content and lowest EC₂₀ values were detected in autumn and winter extracts. In the cold season extracts, the prevalence of HMW PAH (4, 5, and 6-ring) were observed. Lower total PAH content and highest EC₂₀ values were found in warm season samples. In the summer extract, 4-ring PAHs were not detected. These findings provided vital information that can be used for the assessment of PM samples, and our result demonstrated that the luminescence bacteria test is an excellent screening tool.
- 3. **Domestic waste PM**₁₀ *Vibrio* test was used to give initial data on ecotoxicity profiling of PM₁₀ samples originating from controlled combustion of individual domestic waste types (polystyrene (PS), polyethylene (PE), polypropylene (PP), polyvinyl chloride (PVC), polyurethane (PU), oriented strand board (OSB) and rag (RAG)). In the *Vibrio* test, according to the TU values of PM₁₀ emissions of different illegal waste burning, all samples were categorized as toxic except OSB sample. The lowest total PAH content and heavy metals in OSB, PE, and Rag were detected. Whereas, the PU sample showed a mixed nature, and a high amount of Cd and PAH was found. In the PP and PS samples, a highest amount of PAH was detected. Extremely high amount of Cd and Zn were detected in PVC sample.
- 4. PET waste PM 10 Vibrio test was used to assess the PM10 samples originating from the controlled combustion of the waste PET (colorless and colored) samples. TU values in both samples were classified as toxic. In the chemical compositions, the highest total PAH and antimony (Sb) in 2 colored and 2 colorless samples were detected. Considering PAH isomers in all samples, 4 and 5-ring PAH was predominant.
- Indoor PM_{2.5} It was first time to assess the indoor PM_{2.5} samples in Mongolian non-smoking household without connecting central heating using the unique *V.fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition assay. According to the TU values of

indoor PM samples from non-smoking ten households of Mongolia, all samples were classified as toxic. In the chemical measurement, 5-ring PAHs were dominant in all samples, amounting to 25% - 53% of the total PAHs. This study can be also a precedent for guiding future researchers in the design and implementation of sampling programs based on the evidence herein offered.

As a general conclusion, it can be stated that the whole-aerosol test had excellent discriminative power in different environments.

8 New scientific results

- During the comparison of the direct contact test with extracts prepared using diferent solvents (organic ones and water), it was demonstrated that the sensitivity of the direct contact test based on *Vibro fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition bioassay equals the conventional ISO 11348 standard in cases when extracts are prepared with the application of 'aggressive' organic solvents such as methanol, DCM, or hexane.
- Considering the characterisation of seasonally collected rural samples, the *Vibrio fischeri* bioluminescence inhibition bioassay revealed an excellent screening tool, detecting no toxicity in the summer sample and the highest inhibition in the winter sample. Our results are in concordance with those reported in the literature.
- Assessing the toxic potential of PM emission generated under controlled burning of waste types such as polypropylene (PP), polystyrene (PS), polyurethane (PU), polyethylene (PE), polyvinyl chloride (PVC), rag and oriented strand board (OSB), results indicated that all individual domestic waste samples except OSB posed high ecotoxicity. Samples could be characterized by the chemical composition of emitted particles as 'PAH-type' and 'heavy metaltype' samples, both resulting in significant toxicity. Results also proved that illegal burning of domestic waste does pose high environmental risk.
- Toxicological and chemical analyses of PM emission generated during controlled burning of colored and colorless PET bottles proved the highly toxic nature of these emissions. A good correlation between chemical composition and ecotoxicity of the colored and colorless PET waste samples was detected, and also revealed that samples contained a significant amount of antimony, as well as 4- and 5-ring PAHs.
- Our study was the first to investigate the ecotoxicity of indoor samples collected in Ulanbaatar (Mongolia) during heating season. Results proved that all indoor PM samples in non-smoking households posed high toxicity, with 5-to-6-ring PAH of total PAH having been highly predominant in the indoor air of each

household. The study stresses the risk posed by traditional heating systems on human health.

9 Acknowledgement

The author would like to express his sincere gratefulness and deepest respect to his supervisor Prof. Nora Kováts, Centre for Natural Sciences, University of Pannonia, (Veszprém, Hungary), co-supervisor Prof. András Gelencsér, Research Institute of Biomolecular and Chemical Engineering, University of Pannonia, (Veszprém, Hungary), and assistant Prof. Katalin Hubai, and researcher Bettina Eck-Varanka, Centre for Natural Sciences, University of Pannonia, (Veszprém, Hungary) for giving me the opportunity to join their team and for their innumerable accurate advice, invaluable bits of help and support, excellent guidance, greatest patience, and encouragement, and for understanding and helping me to start writing the first article during the course of this study work. Without their dedication throughout my studies, this thesis would not have been possible to complete.

The author is great thankful to Prof. Judit Padisák and her members of the laboratory, Research group of Limnology, Centre for Natural Science, University of Pannonia (Veszprém, Hungary) for great helps, great advices and continuously supports during the study.

The author is highly grateful to Prof Ágnes Molnár, Research Centre for Biochemical, Environmental and Chemical Engineering, University of Pannonia, (Veszprém, Hungary) and Dr. Gábor Teke, ELGOSCAR-2000 Environmental Technology and Water Management Ltd., 8184 Balatonfűzfő, Hungary for their support and collaborating.

The author is special thankful to the Doctoral School of Environmental Chemistry and Science and Stipendium Hungaricum Scholarship Programe, Tempus Public Foundation that supported the current study.

Also, author is extremely grateful to Prof. Pelden Bolormaa, Dr. Dugar Delgermurun, other all professors (lecturers) and staffs, School of Veterinary Medicine, Mongolian University of Life Science, (Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia) for their support, encouragement, full belief and advocating in all time.

The special thankful of the author go to Prof. Nagy Szabolcs and his wife and children for support, care and understanding us during the abroad journey. I am very thankful for my friends who are Dr Ismael Casotti Rienda and Estela Vicente for their sharing experience and helping me.

The appreciation is extended to Jargalsaikhan Galsuren and his kind colleagues, School of Public Health, Mongolian National University of Medical Sciences, (Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia), for helping us with the sample collection and cooperation.

The author would like to acknowledge to his mother, siblings (brothers and sisters) for their continuous efforts, encouragement and devoted supports of his education, with heartfelt graduate to my beloved and gorgeous wife Javkhlan Ariuntungalag, older son Tsend-Ayush Byambadorj, middle son Dagvadorj, and younger son Baasandorj, for their warm love, care, physiological supports and encouragements to complete his study during long-term journey. The Author dedicated this thesis to them.

Ultimately, the author would like to many thanks to everyone who assist, help, and understanding him during his study.

10 List of publications

Scientific publications related to the dissertation

- Sainnokhoi TA., Kováts N., Gelencsér, A., Hubai K., Teke G., Pelden P., Tserenchimed T., Erdenechimeg Z., and Galsuren J. (2022: Characteristics of particle - bound polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in indoor in the Southwest part of Ulaanbaatar capital, Mongolia. *Environ Monit Assess*, 194:665. IF: 3.3 Q2.
- Kováts, N., Hubai, K., Sainnokhoi, TA., Hoffer, A., Teke, G. (2021): Ecotoxicity testing of airborne particulate matter—comparison of sample preparation techniques for the *Vibrio fischeri* assay. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 43(5) IF: 4.9, Q1.
- Kováts, N., Hubai, K., Sainnokhoi, TA., Eck-Varanka, B., Hoffer, A., Tóth, Á., & Teke, G. (2022): Ecotoxic emissions generated by illegal burning of household waste. *Chemosphere*, 298, 134263. IF: 8.94, Q1.
- Kováts, N., Fábián, V., Hubai, K., Diósi, D., Sainnokhoi, TA., Békéssy ,Z., and Teke, G. (2020): Seasonal Differences in Rural Particulate Matter Ecotoxicity. *Aerosol Science and Engineering.*, 4(3), pp. 169–177. Q3.
- Kovats, N., Hubai, K., **Sainnokhoi**, **TA.**, Eck-Varanka, B., Hoffer, A., Toth, A., and Teke, G. (**2023**): Ecotoxicity of PM₁₀ emissions generated by open burning of waste PET. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*. **IF: 5.45, Q1**.

Scientific publications not related to the dissertation

- Hubai, K., Kovats, N., Sainnokhoi, TA., and Teke, G. (2021): Accumulation pattern of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons using Plantago lanceolata L. as passive biomonitor. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 29: 7300–7311. IF: 5.19, Q1.
- Kovats, N., Hubai, K., Diosi, D., Sainnokhoi, TA., Hoffer, A., Toth, A., and Teke, G. (2021): Sensitivity of typical European roadside plants to atmospheric particulate matter. *Ecological Indicators*, 124: 107428. IF: 6.26, Q1.
- Kováts, N., Hubai, K., Sainnokhoi, TA., and Teke, G. (2021). Biomonitoring of

polyaromatic hydrocarbon accumulation in rural gardens using lettuce plants. *Journal of Soils and Sediments*, 21(1): 106–117. **IF: 3.59, Q1.**

- Hubai K., Kováts N., Sainnokhoi TA., Eck-Varanka B., Hoffer A., Tóth A., and Teke G.(2022). Phytotoxicity of particulate matter from controlled burning of different plastic waste types. *Bulletin of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*, 109: 852-858. IF:2.65 Q2
- Bataa, B., Motohira, K., Dugar D., **Sainnokhoi**, **TA**., Gendenpil, L., Sainnokhoi, TS., Pelden, B., Yohannes, YB., Ganzorig, S., Nakayama, MMS., Ishizuka, M., and Ikenaka, Y. (**2022**): Accumulation of Metals in the Environment and Grazing Livestock near A Mongolian Mining Area. *Toxics*, *10*(12), 773 **IF: 4.47 Q1**.
- Alves, CA., Vicente, ED., Evtyugina, M., Vicente, A., Sainnokhoi, TA., and Kováts, N. (2021): Cooking activities in a domestic kitchen: Chemical and toxicological profiling of emissions. *Science of the Total Environment*, 772, p. 145412. IF: 10.7, Q1.
- Rienda, IC., Nunes, T., Gonçalves, C., Vicente, A., Amato, F., Lucarelli, F., Kováts, N., Hubai, K., Sainnokhoi, TA., and Alves, CA. (2023): Road Dust resuspension in a coastal Atlantic intermunicipal urban area with industrial facilities: emission factors, chemical composition and ecotoxicity. Atmospheric research. IF: 5.8, Q1.
- Eck-varanka, B., Hubai, K. and Sainnokhoi, T. (2023) 'Assessing the Effect of Glyphosate Toxicity on Lemna minor in Different Temperature Regimes', Pollutants pp. 451–460. IF:.

11 References

- Aammi, S., Karaca, F. and Petek, M. (2017) 'A toxicological and genotoxicological indexing study of ambient aerosols (PM_{2.5-10}) using in vitro bioassays', *Chemosphere*. Elsevier Ltd, 174, pp. 490–498. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.01.141.
- Abbas, M., Adil, M., Ehtisham-ul-Haque, S., Munir, B., Yameen, M., Ghaffar, A., Shar, G., Abbas Asif Tahir, M., and Iqbal, M. (2018) 'Vibrio fischeri bioluminescence inhibition assay for ecotoxicity assessment: A review', *Science of the Total Environment*. Elsevier B.V., 626, pp. 1295–1309. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.01.066.
- Acheson. M. C., Qin. Z., Yonggui. S., Gregory D. S., and Margaret. J, K. (2004) 'Comparing the solid phase and saline extract Microtox® assays for two polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon-contaminated soils', *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 23(2), pp. 245–251. doi: 10.1897/02-618.
- Ács. A., Árpád. F., Kovács. A., Jancsek-Turóczi. B., Gelencsér. A., Kiss. G., and Kováts, N. (2013) 'Ecotoxicological characterisation of exhaust particulates from diesel-powered light-duty vehicles', *Central European Journal of Chemistry*, 11(12), pp. 1954–1958. doi: 10.2478/s11532-013-0326-0.
- Ahn. Y. J., Song. L., Shin. H., Jung. W., Ochir. Ch and Lee, K. (2019) 'Determinants of Indoor PM_{2.5} Concentrations in Ger, a Traditional Residence, in Mongolia', *The Korean Journal of Public Health*, 55(2), pp. 22–30. doi: 10.17262/kjph.2018.12.55.2.22.
- Alikhani Faradonbeh, M., Mardani, G. and Raeisi Shahraki, H. (2021) 'Longitudinal Trends of the Annual Exposure to PM2.5Particles in European Countries', *Scientifica*, 2021. doi: 10.1155/2021/8922798.
- Allen, S.A.A., Ana-Godson R.E.E., Ayodeji, S.A.M., Deborah, S-A.E., Ejike, O.M. (2019) 'Secondary inorganic aerosols: impacts on the global climate system and human health', Biodiversity International Journal, 3(6), pp. 249. dio: 10.15406/bij.2019.03.00152.
 - Alves, C., Rienda, I. C., Vicente, A., Vicente, E., Gonçalves, C., Candeias, C., Rocha, F., Lucarelli, F., Pazzi, G., Kováts, N., Hubai, K., Pio, C., and Tchepel, O. (2021) 'Morphological properties, chemical composition, cancer risks and toxicological potential of airborne particles from traffic and urban background sites', *Atmospheric Research*. Atmospheric Research, 264, p. 105837. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosres.2021.105837.
 - Alves. A. C., Vicente. D. E., Evtyugina. M., Vicente. P. M. A., Sainnokhoi. T. S., and Kováts. N. (2021) 'Cooking activities in a domestic kitchen: Chemical and toxicological profiling of emissions', *Science of the Total Environment*.

Elsevier B.V., 772, p. 145412. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.145412.

- Amato. F., Karanasiou. A., Moreno. T., Alastuey. A., Orza. J.A.G., Lumbreras. J., Borge. R., Boldo. E., Linares. C., Querol, X. (2012) 'Emission factors from road dust resuspension in a Mediterranean freeway', *Atmospheric Environment*. Elsevier Ltd, 61, pp. 580–587. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2012.07.065.
- Anenberg. C. S., Balakrishnan. K., Jetter. J., Masera. O., Mehta. S., Moss. J., and Ramanathan, V. (2013) 'Cleaner cooking solutions to achieve health, climate, and economic cobenefits', *Environmental Science and Technology*, 47(9), pp. 3944–3952. doi: 10.1021/es304942e.
- Angyal. A., Ferenczi. Z., Manousakas. M., Furu. E., Szoboszlai. Z., Zsófia Török. Z., Papp E., Zita Szikszai. Z., and Kertész, Z. (2021) 'Source identification of fine and coarse aerosol during smog episodes in Debrecen , Hungary', pp. 1017– 1032.
- Bai. L., Hea. Z., Lia. Ch., Chen, Z. (2020) 'Investigation of yearly indoor/outdoor PM_{2.5} levels in the perspectives of health impacts and air pollution control: Case study in Changchun, in the northeast of China', *Sustainable Cities and Society*. Elsevier, 53(October 2019), p. 101871. doi: 10.1016/j.scs.2019.101871.
- Bai. Y., Brugha. R. E., Jacobs. L. G., Jonathan. N., Tim. S., Nemery, B. (2015) 'Carbon loading in airway macrophages as a biomarker for individual exposure to particulate matter air pollution - A critical review', *Environment International*. Elsevier Ltd, 74, pp. 32–41. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2014.09.010.
- Balakrishnan. K., Ghosh. S., Ganguli. B., Sambandam. S., Nigel Bruce. N., Barnes. F. D and Smith, R. K. (2013) 'State and national household concentrations of PM2.5 from solid cookfuel use: Results from measurements and modeling in India for estimation of the global burden of disease', *Environmental Health: A Global Access Science Source*, 12(1), pp. 1–14. doi: 10.1186/1476-069X-12-77.
- Barabad. L. M., Jung. W., Versoza. E. M., Kim. M., Ko. S., Park. D and Lee, K. (2018) 'Emission characteristics of particulate matter, volatile organic compounds, and trace elements from the combustion of coals in mongolia', *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(8). doi: 10.3390/ijerph15081706.
- Baran. A., Tarnawski. M., Koniarz. T., Szara, M. (2019) 'Content of nutrients, trace elements, and ecotoxicity of sediment cores from Rożnów reservoir (Southern Poland)', *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*. Springer Netherlands, 41(6), pp. 2929–2948. doi: 10.1007/s10653-019-00363-x.

- Barbosa. R., Dias. D., Lapa. N., Lopes. H., and Mendes, B. (2013) 'Chemical and ecotoxicological properties of size fractionated biomass ashes', *Fuel Processing Technology*. Elsevier B.V., 109, pp. 124–132. doi: 10.1016/j.fuproc.2012.09.048.
- Batmunkh. Ts., Kim. J. Y., Jung. S. J., Park. K & Tumendemberel, B. (2013) 'Chemical characteristics of fine particulate matters measured during severe winter haze events in Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia', *Journal of the Air and Waste Management Association*, 63(6), pp. 659–670. doi: 10.1080/10962247.2013.776997.
- Battsengel, E., Murayama, T., Nishikizawa, S., and Chonokhuu, S. (2021) 'Evaluation of daily behaviors related to health risks of the ger residents in Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia', *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 13(9). doi: 10.3390/su13094817.
- Bauer, S. E., Koch, D., Unger, N., Metzger, S. M., Shindell, D. T., and Streets, D. G. (2007) 'Nitrate aerosols today and in 2030: A global simulation including aerosols and tropospheric ozone', *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 7(19), pp. 5043–5059. doi: 10.5194/acp-7-5043-2007.
- Belis, C. A., Pisoni, E., Degraeuwe, B., Peduzzi, E., Thunis, P., Monforti-ferrario, F., and Guizzardi, D. (2019) 'Urban pollution in the Danube and Western Balkans regions : The impact of' major PM2.5 source, *Environment International*. Elsevier, 133(October), p. 105158. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2019.105158.
- Bian. H., Froyd. K., Murphy. M. D., Dibb. J., Darmenov. A., Chin. M., Colarco. R. P., Silva. A., Kucsera. L. T., Schill. G., Yu. H., Bui. P., Dollner. M., Weinzierl. B and Smirnov, A. (2019) 'Observationally constrained analysis of sea salt aerosol in the marine atmosphere', *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 19(16), pp. 10773–10785. doi: 10.5194/acp-19-10773-2019.
- Bonjour. S., Adair-Rohani. H., Wolf. J., Bruce. N. G., Mehta. S., Prüss-Ustün. A., Lahiff. M., Rehfuess. E. A., Mishra, V., Smith, K. R. (2013) 'Solid fuel use for household cooking: Country and regional estimates for 1980-2010', *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 121(7), pp. 784–790. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1205987.
- Borrelli, P., Panagos, P. and Montanarella, L. (2015) 'New insights into the geography and modelling of wind erosion in the European agricultural land. Application of a spatially explicit indicator of land susceptibility to wind erosion', *Sustainability (Switzerland)*, 7(7), pp. 8823–8836. doi: 10.3390/su7078823.
- Boström. C., Gerde. P., Hanberg. A., Jernström. B., Christer Johansson. Ch., Kyrklund.
 T., Rannug. A., Törnqvist. M., Victorin. K and Roger Westerholm, R. (2002)
 'Cancer risk assessment, indicators, and guidelines for polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the ambient air', *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 110(SUPPL. 3), pp. 451–488. doi: 10.1289/ehp.110-1241197.Bourottea. C.,

Fortic. M., Taniguchid. S., Bicegod. C. M and Lotufo, A. P. (2005) 'A wintertime study of PAHs in fine and coarse aerosols in São Paulo city, Brazil', *Atmospheric Environment*, 39(21), pp. 3799–3811. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2005.02.054.

- Branco. V., Matos. B., Mourato. C., Diniz. M., Carvalho. C and Marta Martins, M. (2021) 'Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety Synthesis of glutathione as a central aspect of PAH toxicity in liver cells: A comparison between phenanthrene, Benzo [b] Fluoranthene and their mixtures', 208. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.111637.
- Bubba. D. M., Zanieri. L., Galvan. P., Donzelli. P.G., Checchini. L and Lepri, L. (2005)
 'Determination of polycyclic aromatic hydro- carbons (PAHs) and total fats in human milk', Annali di Chimica, 95, 2005, by Società Chimica Italiana
- Bulich. A. A and Isenberg, D. L. (1981) 'Use of the luminescent bacterial system for the rapid assessment of aquatic toxicity', *ISA transactions*, 20(1), p. 29–33. Available at: http://europepmc.org/abstract/MED/7251338.
- Byambaa. B., Yang. L., Matsuki. A., Nagato. G. E., Gankhuyag. Kh., Chuluunpurev.
 B., Banzragch. L., Chonokhuu. S., Tang. N and Hayakawa, K. (2019) 'Sources and Characteristics of Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in Ambient Total Suspended Particles in Ulaanbaatar City , Mongolia'. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16030442.
- Byambatseren, Ch., Michidmaa, N., Sonomdagva, Ch and Yutaka, M. (2018) 'The some results of study on outdoor and indoor ambient PM_{2.5}', Proceedings of the Mongolian Academy of Sciences ARTICLES, pp. 40–54, DOI: https://doi.org/10.5564/pmas.v58i1.971.
- Caceres Quijano. F. M., Ribeiro. P. J., Josende. E. M., Santa-Helena. E., Falco. A., Gioda. R. C and Gioda, A. (2022) 'Assessment of the effects of seasonality on the ecotoxicity induced by the particulate matter using the animal model Caenorhabditis elegans', *Chemosphere*. Elsevier Ltd, 291(August), p. 132886. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.132886.
- Camatini, M., Gualtieri, M. and Sancini, G. (2016) 'Impact of the Airborne Particulate Matter on the Human Health', *Atmospheric Aerosols*, pp. 597–643. doi: 10.1002/9783527336449.ch10.
- Candeias, C., Rocha, F., Lucarelli, F., Pazzi, G., Kovats, N., Hubai, K., Pio, C., and Tchepel, O. (2021) 'Morphological properties , chemical composition , cancer risks and toxicological potential of airborne particles from traffic and urban background sites', 264(August). doi: 10.1016/j.atmosres.2021.105837.

- Capolupo. M., Sørensen. L., Ranil Jayasena. D. K., Booth. M. A and Fabbri, E. (2020) 'Chemical composition and ecotoxicity of plastic and car tire rubber leachates to aquatic organisms', *Water Research*. Elsevier Ltd, 169, p. 115270. doi: 10.1016/j.watres.2019.115270.
- Caseiro. A., Bauer. H., Schmidl. Ch., Pio. A. C and Puxbaum, H. (2009) 'Wood burning impact on PM10 in three Austrian regions', *Atmospheric Environment*. Elsevier Ltd, 43(13), pp. 2186–2195. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2009.01.012.
- Chang. S-C., Wang. Y-F., You. S-J., Kuo. Y-M., Tsai. C-H., Wang. L-C and Hsu, P-Y. (2013) 'Toxicity evaluation of fly ash by Microtox[®]', *Aerosol and Air Quality Research*, 13(3), pp. 1002–1008. doi: 10.4209/aaqr.2012.10.0267.
- Chapa-Martínez, A. C., Hinojosa-Reyes. L., Hernández-Ramírez. A., Ruiz-Ruiz. E., Maya-Treviño. L and Guzmán-Mar, J.L. (2016) 'An evaluation of the migration of antimony from polyethylene terephthalate (PET) plastic used for bottled drinking water', *Science of the Total Environment*. Elsevier B.V., 565, pp. 511– 518. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.04.184.
- Cieślik. E. and Fabiańska, M. J. (2021) 'Preservation of geochemical markers during co-combustion of hard coal and various domestic waste materials', *Science of the Total Environment*, 768. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144638.
- Corrêa. X. R. A., Testolin. C. R., Torres. M. M., Sylvie Cotelle. S., Jean-Jacques Schwartz. J-J., Millet. M and Radetski, M. C. (2017) 'Ecotoxicity assessment of particulate matter emitted from heavy-duty diesel-powered vehicles: influence of leaching conditions', *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 24(10), pp. 9399– 9406. doi: 10.1007/s11356-017-8521-8.
- Cukurluoglu. S and Muezzinoglu, A. (2013) 'Assessment of toxicity in waters due to heavy metals derived from atmospheric deposition using Vibrio fischeri', *Journal of Environmental Science and Health - Part A Toxic/Hazardous Substances and Environmental Engineering*, 48(1), pp. 57–66. doi: 10.1080/10934529.2012.707840.
- Daher, N., Ruprecht, A., Invernizzi, G., De Marco, C., Miller-Schulze, J., Heo, J. B., Shafer, M. M., Shelton, B. R., Schauer, J. J., and Sioutas, C. (2012) 'Characterization, sources and redox activity of fine and coarse particulate matter in Milan, Italy', *Atmospheric Environment*. Elsevier Ltd, 49, pp. 130– 141. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2011.12.011.
- Davoren, M., Ní Shúilleabháin, S., O'Halloran, J., Hartl, M. G. J., Sheehan, D., O'Brien, N. M., Van Pelt, F. N.A.M and Mothersill, C. (2005) 'A test battery approach for the ecotoxicological evaluation of estuarine sediments', *Ecotoxicology*, 14(7), pp. 741–755. doi: 10.1007/s10646-005-0022-8.

- Douglas. W. D., C. Arden. P., Xiping. X., John. D. S., James. H. W., Martha E. F and Benjamin, G. F. (1993) 'The New England Journal of Medicine Downloaded from nejm.org on June 30, 2022. For personal use only. No other uses without permission. Copyright © 1993 Massachusetts Medical Society. All rights reserved.'
- Dunlap, P. V. (1999) 'Quorum regulation of luminescence in Vibrio fischeri', *Journal* of Molecular Microbiology and Biotechnology, 1(1), pp. 5–12.
- Eades. P., Kusch-Brandt. S., Heaven. S and Banks, J. C. (2020) 'Estimating the generation of gardenwaste in England and the differences between rural and urban areas', *Resources*, 9(1), pp. 1–23. doi: 10.3390/resources9010008.
- Eck-Varankaa. B., Kováts. N., Horváth. E., Ferincz. A., Kakasi. B., Nagy. T. S., Imre. K., Paulovits, G. (2018) 'Eco- and genotoxicity profiling of a rapeseed biodiesel using a battery of bioassays', *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. Elsevier Inc., 151(January), pp. 170–177. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.01.015.
- EEA (2019) Air quality in Europe 2019 report, EEA Report No 4/2012. Available at: http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/air-quality-in-europe-2012.
- Eiguren-Fernandez. A., Antonio, H., Froines, J. R., Thurairatnam. S and Avol, Ed L. (2004) 'Seasonal and spatial variation of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in vapor-phase and PM2.5 in Southern California urban and rural communities', *Aerosol Science and Technology*, 38(5), pp. 447–455. doi: 10.1080/02786820490449511.
- Enkhbat. U., Rule. M. A., Resnick. C., Ochir. Ch., Olkhanud. P and Williams, L. D. (2016) 'Exposure to PM_{2.5} and blood lead level in two populations in ulaanbaatar, mongolia', *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 13(2), pp. 1–11. doi: 10.3390/ijerph13020214.
- Esen, F., Tasdemir, Y. and Vardar, N. (2008) 'Atmospheric concentrations of PAHs, their possible sources and gas-to-particle partitioning at a residential site of Bursa, Turkey', *Atmospheric Research*, 88(3–4), pp. 243–255. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosres.2007.11.022.
- Evagelopoulos, V. (2009) 'Toxicity of fine and coarse atmospheric particles using Vibrio fischeri', (Cemepe).
- Ferronato, N. and Torretta, V. (2019) 'Waste mismanagement in developing countries: A review of global issues', *International Journal of Environmental Research* and Public Health, 16(6). doi: 10.3390/ijerph16061060.
- Fort, F. (1992) 'Correlation of Microtox EC50 with mouse LD50'. In vitro toxicology, pp. 5 (2), 73-82.

- Fowler, D., Coyle, M., Skiba, U., Sutton, M. A., Cape, J. N., Reis, S., Sheppard, L. J., Jenkins, A., Grizzetti, B., Galloway, J. N., Vitousek, P.,Leach, A., Bouwman, A. F., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Dentener, F., Stevenson, D., Amann, M., and Voss, M. (2013) 'The global nitrogen cycle in the Twentyfirst century', *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 368(1621). doi: 10.1098/rstb.2013.0164.
- Fu, F. F., Watanabe, K., Yabuki, S., and Akagi, T. (2004) 'Seasonal characteristics of chemical compositions of the atmospheric aerosols collected in urban seaside area at Tokaimura, eastern central Japan', *Journal of Geophysical Research D: Atmospheres*, 109(20), pp. 1–9. doi: 10.1029/2004JD004712.
- Gelencsér, A., May. B., David Simpson. D., Sa'nchez-Ochoa. A., Kasper-Giebl. A., Puxbaum. H., Alexandre Caseiro. A., Casimiro Pio. C and Legrand, M. (2007) 'Source apportionment of PM2.5 organic aerosol over Europe: Primary/secondary, natural/anthropogenic, and fossil/biogenic origin', *Journal* of Geophysical Research Atmospheres, 112(23), pp. 1–12. doi: 10.1029/2006JD008094.
- Gellera. D. M., Ntziachristos. L., Athanasios Mamakos. A., Samaras. Z., Debra A. Schmitz. A. D., Froines. R. J. and Sioutas, C. (2006) 'Physicochemical and redox characteristics of particulate matter (PM) emitted from gasoline and diesel passenger cars', *Atmospheric Environment*, 40(36), pp. 6988–7004. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2006.06.018.
- Gertler, A. W. (2005) 'Diesel vs. gasoline emissions: Does PM from diesel or gasoline vehicles dominate in the US?', *Atmospheric Environment*, 39(13), pp. 2349– 2355. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2004.05.065.
- Gonzalez-Merchan, C., Perrodin, Y., Sébastian, C., Bazin, C., Winiarski, T. and Barraud, S. (2014) 'Ecotoxicological characterisation of sediments from stormwater retention basins', *Water Science and Technology*, 69(5), pp. 1045– 1051. doi: 10.2166/wst.2014.006.
- Gotlib, E. M., Grinberg, L. P. and Chakirov, R. R. (2001) 'Composition of incineration products of plasticized PVC materials', *Reactive and Functional Polymers*, 48(1–3), pp. 209–213. doi: 10.1016/S1381-5148(01)00051-7.
- Guo, L. P. R. and Zheng, L. L. P (2017) 'Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology , Part C The detoxification responses , damage effects and bioaccumulation in the scallop Chlamys farreri exposed to single and mixtures of benzo [a] pyrene and chrysene', *Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology, Part C*. Elsevier Inc., 191, pp. 36–51. doi: 10.1016/j.cbpc.2016.09.004.
- Guttikunda, K. S., Lodoysamba, S., Bulgansaikhan. B. and Dashdondog, B. (2013) 'Particulate pollution in Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia', *Air Quality, Atmosphere and Health*, 6(3), pp. 589–601. doi: 10.1007/s11869-013-0198-7.
- Hamid. A. H. H., Hazman. M. H. M., Nadzir. M. S. M., Uning. R., Latif. T. M and Kannan, N. (2019) 'Anthropogenic and biogenic volatile organic compounds and ozone formation potential in ambient air of Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia', *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 228(1). doi: 10.1088/1755-1315/228/1/012001.
- Hartman, R. S., Wheeler, D. and Singh, M. (1997) 'The cost of air pollution abatement', *Applied Economics*, 29(6), pp. 759–774. doi: 10.1080/000368497326688.
- Harrison Y and Yin, J. (2000) 'Particulate matter in the atmosphere : which particle properties are important for its effects on health ?'
- Hill. D. L., Edwards. R., Turner. R. J., Argo. D. Y., Olkhanud. P., Odsuren. M., Guttikunda. S., Ochir. Ch and Smith, R. K. (2017) 'Health assessment of future PM_{2.5} exposures from indoor, outdoor, and secondhand tobacco smoke concentrations under alternative policy pathways in Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia', *PLoS ONE*, 12(10), pp. 1–26. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0186834.
- Hjortenkrans, D., Bergbäck, B. and Häggerud, A. (2006) 'New metal emission patterns in road traffic environments', *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 117(1–3), pp. 85–98. doi: 10.1007/s10661-006-7706-2.
- Hoffer, A., Jancsek-Turóczi, B., Tóth, Á., Kiss, G., Naghiu, A., Andrea Levei, E. (2020)
 'Emission factors for PM10 and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) from illegal burning of different types of municipal waste in households', *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 20(24), pp. 16135–16144. doi: 10.5194/acp-20-16135-2020.
- Qing Hou. Q., An. X., Wang. Y., Tao. Y and Sun, Z. (2012) 'An assessment of China's PM₁₀-related health economic losses in 2009', *Science of the Total Environment*. Elsevier B.V., 435–436, pp. 61–65. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.06.094.
- Hu. Y-J., Bao. K-J., Huang. C-L., Li. Sh-M., Liu. P. and Zeng, Y. E. (2018) 'Exposure to air particulate matter with a case study in Guangzhou: Is indoor environment a safe haven in China?', *Atmospheric Environment*. Elsevier, 191(July), pp. 351–359. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2018.08.025.
- Hubai, K., Kováts, N., Sainnokhoi, T. A. and Teke, G. (2022) 'Accumulation pattern of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons using Plantago lanceolata L. as passive biomonitor', *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 29(5), pp. 7300–7311. doi: 10.1007/s11356-

021-16141-1.

- Hursthouse, A. and Kowalczyk, G. (2009) 'Transport and dynamics of toxic pollutants in the natural environment and their effect on human health: Research gaps and challenge', *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 31(2), pp. 165–187. doi: 10.1007/s10653-008-9213-6.
- Isidori, M., Ferrara, M., Lavorgna, M., Nardelli, A. and Parrella, A. (2003) 'In situ monitoring of urban air in Southern Italy with the tradescantia micronucleus bioassay and semipermeable membrane devices (SPMDs)', *Chemosphere*, 52(1), pp. 121–126. doi: 10.1016/S0045-6535(03)00183-8.
- Islam, N., Rabha, S. and Silva, L. F. (2019) 'Air quality and PM₁₀-associated polyaromatic hydrocarbons around the railway traffic area: statistical and air mass trajectory approaches', *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*. Springer Netherlands, 41(5), pp. 2039–2053. doi: 10.1007/s10653-019-00256-z.
- ISO 21338: 2010, Water quality Kinetic determination of the inhibitory effects of sedi- ment, other solids and coloured samples on the light emission of Vibrio fischeri /kinetic luminescent bacteria test.
- Isson, T. T., Planavsky, N. J., Coogan, L. A., Stewart, E. M., Ague, J. J., Bolton, E. W., Zhang, S., McKenzie, N. R., and Kump, L. R. (2020) 'Evolution of the Global Carbon Cycle and Climate Regulation on Earth', *Global Biogeochemical Cycles*, 34(2), pp. 1–28. doi: 10.1029/2018GB006061.
- Jan, R., Roy, R., Yadav, S. S. and Gursumeeran, P. (2018) 'Chemical fractionation and health risk assessment of particulate matter-bound metals in Pune, India', *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*. Springer Netherlands, 40 (1), pp. 255–270. doi: 10.1007/s10653-016-9900-7.
- Jarque, S., Masner, P., Klánová, J., Prokeš, R. and Bláha, L. (2016) 'Bioluminescent vibrio fischeri assays in the assessment of seasonal and spatial patterns in toxicity of contaminated river sediments', *Frontiers in Microbiology*, 7(NOV), pp. 1–11. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2016.01738.
- Jing, W., Liu, Q., Wang, M., Zhang, X., Chen, J., Sui, G., and Wang, L. (2019) 'A method for particulate matter 2.5 (PM2.5) biotoxicity assay using luminescent bacterium', *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. Elsevier Inc., 170(December 2018), pp. 796–803. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.12.030.
- Juvonen, R., Martikainen, E., Schultz, E., Joutti, A., Ahtiainen, J. and Lehtokari, M. (2000) 'A battery of toxicity tests as indicators of decontamination in composting oily waste', *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 47(2), pp. 156–166. doi: 10.1006/eesa.2000.1943.

- Juvonen, R., Martikainen, E., Schultz, E., Joutti, A., Ahtiainen, J., and Lehtokari, M. (2000) 'A battery of toxicity tests as indicators of decontamination in composting oily waste', *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 47(2), pp. 156–166. doi: 10.1006/eesa.2000.1943.
- Kahru, A., Tomson, K., Pall, T. and Külm, I. (1996) 'Study of toxicity of pesticides using luminescent bacteria photobacterium phosphoreum', *Water Science and Technology*, 33(6), pp. 147–154. doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/0273-1223(96)00292-2.
- Kanellopoulos, P. G. V., Eleni Chrysochou, E. K. and Konstantinos Bakeas, E. (2021) 'Primary and secondary organic aerosol in an urban/industrial site: Sources, health implications and the role of plastic enriched waste burning', *Journal of Environmental Sciences (China)*. Elsevier B.V., 99, pp. 222–238. doi: 10.1016/j.jes.2020.06.012.
- Karagulian, F., Belis, C. A., Carlos Francisco, C. D., Annette, M. P-U., Sophie, B., Adair-Rohani, H and Amann, M. (2015) 'Contributions to cities' ambient particulate matter (PM): A systematic review of local source contributions at global level', *Atmospheric Environment*. Elsevier Ltd, 120, pp. 475–483. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2015.08.087.
- Karanasiou, A., Moreno, T., Amato, F., Lumbreras, J., Narros, A., Borge, R., Tobías, A., Boldo, E., Linares, C., Pey, J., Reche, C., Alastuey, A., and Querol, X. (2011) 'Road dust contribution to PM levels e Evaluation of the effectiveness of street washing activities by means of Positive Matrix Factorization', *Atmospheric Environment*. Elsevier Ltd, 45(13), pp. 2193–2201. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2011.01.067.
- Ken, D., Jackman, P., Scroggins, R., Mcleay, D., and Wohlgeschaffen, G. (2005) '2 . Solid-Phase Test for Sediment Toxicity Using the Luminescent Bacterium ', *Test*, 1, pp. 107–136.
- Keresztes, S. T., Eniko Mihucz, V. G., Virág, I. M. and Cornelia Záray, G. (2009) 'Leaching of antimony from polyethylene terephthalate (PET) bottles into mineral water', *Science of the Total Environment*, 407(16), pp. 4731–4735. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2009.04.025.
- Kim, A. P., Mira Ki, T. S., Woo Ko, J-J., Lee, K and Bae, J. (2011) 'Maternal exposure to benzo [b] fluoranthene disturbs reproductive performance in male offspring mice', *Toxicology Letters*. Elsevier Ireland Ltd, 203(1), pp. 54–61. doi: 10.1016/j.toxlet.2011.03.003.
- Kim, R. Y., Yoon, J. K., Kim, T. S., Yang, J. E., Owens, G and Kim, K. R. (2015) Bioavailability of heavy metals in soils: definitions and practical

implementation—a critical review', *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*. Springer Netherlands, 37(6), pp. 1041–1061. doi: 10.1007/s10653-015-9695-y.

- Klimkowicz-Pawlas, A., Maliszewska-Kordybach, B. and Smreczak, B. (2019) 'Triadbased screening risk assessment of the agricultural area exposed to the longterm PAHs contamination', *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 41(3), pp. 1369–1385. doi: 10.1007/s10653-018-0220-y.
- Kováts, N., Ács, A., Kovács, A., Ferincz, Á., Turóczi, B and Gelencsér, A. (2012) 'Direct contact test for estimating the ecotoxicity of aerosol samples', *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*. Elsevier B.V., 33(2), pp. 284– 287. doi: 10.1016/j.etap.2011.12.021.
- Kováts, N., Ács, A., Ferincz, Á., Kovács, A., Horváth, E., Kakasi, B., Jancsek-Turóczi, B and Gelencsér, A. (2013) 'Ecotoxicity and genotoxicity assessment of exhaust particulates from diesel-powered buses', *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 185(10), pp. 8707–8713. doi: 10.1007/s10661-013-3206-3.
- Kováts, N., Horváth, E., Eck-Varanka, B., Csajbók, E and Hoffer, A. (2017) 'Adapting the Vegetative Vigour Terrestrial Plant Test for assessing ecotoxicity of aerosol samples', *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*. Environmental Science and Pollution Research, 24(18), pp. 15291–15298. doi: 10.1007/s11356-017-9103-5.
- Kováts, N., Fábián, V., Hubai, K., Diósi, D., Sainnokhoi, TA., Békéssy ,Z., and Teke, G. (2020): Seasonal Differences in Rural Particulate Matter Ecotoxicity. *Aerosol Science and Engineering.*, 4(3), pp. 169–177.
- Kováts, N., Hubai, K., Diósi, D., Sainnokhoi, T. A., Hoffer, A., Tóth, Á and Teke, G. (2021) 'Sensitivity of typical European roadside plants to atmospheric particulate matter', *Ecological Indicators*, 124, p. 107428. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolind.2021.107428.
- Kováts, N., Hubai, K., Sainnokhoi, TA., Hoffer, A., Teke, G. (2021): Ecotoxicity testing of airborne particulate matter—comparison of sample preparation techniques for the *Vibrio fischeri* assay. *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 43(5).
- Kováts, N., Hubai, K., Sainnokhoi, TA., Eck-Varanka, B., Hoffer, A., Tóth, Á., & Teke, G. (2022): Ecotoxic emissions generated by illegal burning of household waste. *Chemosphere*, 298, 134263.
- Kovats, N., Hubai, K., Sainnokhoi, TA., Eck-Varanka, B., Hoffer, A., Toth, A., and Teke, G. (2023): Ecotoxicity of PM₁₀ emissions generated by open burning of waste PET. *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*.
- Kováts, N. and Horváth, E. (2016) 'Bioluminescence-based assays for assessing ecoand genotoxicity of airborne emissions', *Luminescence*, 31(4), pp. 918–923. doi: 10.1002/bio.3102.Krecl, P. L., Caroline, H. B., Tatiane C. T., Admir, C. H.,

Elizabeth, M. O., and Gabriel Y. (2021) 'Open waste burning causes fast and sharp changes in particulate concentrations in peripheral neighborhoods', *Science of the Total Environment*. Elsevier B.V., 765, p. 142736. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.142736.

- Krugly, E., Martuzevicius, D., Sidaraviciute, R., Ciuzas, D., Prasauskas, T., Kauneliene, V., Stasiulaitiene, I and Kliucininkas, L. (2014) 'Characterization of particulate and vapor phase polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in indoor and outdoor air of primary schools', *Atmospheric Environment*. Elsevier Ltd, 82, pp. 298–306. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.10.042.
- Kumar, S., Aggarwal, S. G., Gupta, P. K. and Kawamura, K. (2015) 'Investigation of the tracers for plastic-enriched waste burning aerosols', *Atmospheric Environment*. Elsevier Ltd, 108, pp. 49–58. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2015.02.066.
- Kutiel, H. and Furman, H. (2003) 'Dust Storms in the Middle East: Sources of Origin and their Temporal Characteristics', *Indoor and Built Environment*, 12(6), pp. 419–426. doi: 10.1177/1420326X03037110.
- Lappalainen, J., Juvonen, R., Vaajasaari, K and Karp, M. (1999) 'A new flash method for measuring the toxicity of solid and colored samples', *Chemosphere*, 38(5), pp. 1069–1083. doi: 10.1016/S0045-6535(98)00352-X.
- Lappalainen, J., Juvonen, R., Nurmi, J and Karp, M. (2001) 'Automated color correction method for Vibrio fischeri toxicity test. Comparison of standard and kinetic assays', *Chemosphere*, 45(4–5), pp. 635–641. doi: 10.1016/S0045-6535(00)00579-8.
- Leitgib, L., Kálmán, J. and Gruiz, K. (2007) 'Comparison of bioassays by testing whole soil and their water extract from contaminated sites', *Chemosphere*, 66(3), pp. 428–434. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.06.024.
- Lemieux, P. M., Lutes, C. C., Abbott, J. A., and Aldous, K. M. (2000) 'Emissions of polychlorinated dibenzo-p-dioxins and polychlorinated dibenzofurans from the open burning of household waste in barrels', *Environmental Science and Technology*, 34(3), pp. 377–384. doi: 10.1021/es990465t.
- Li, J., Zhang, G., Li, X. D., Qi, S. H., Liu, G. Q and Peng, X. Z. (2006) 'Source seasonality of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in a subtropical city, Guangzhou, South China', *Science of the Total Environment*, 355(1–3), pp. 145–155. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2005.02.042.
- Li, Y., Yang, L., Chen, X., Gao, Y., Jiang, P., Zhang, J., Yu, H and Wang, W. (2017) 'PM_{2.5}-bound PAHs in indoor and outdoor of hotels in urban and suburban of

Jinan, China: Concentrations, sources, and health risk impacts', *Aerosol and Air Quality Research*, 17(10), pp. 2463–2473. doi: 10.4209/aaqr.2017.08.0286.

- Lim, M., Myagmarchuluun, S., Ban, H., Hwang, Y., Ochir, Ch., Lodoisamba, D and Lee, K. (2018) 'Characteristics of indoor PM_{2.5} concentration in gers using coal stoves in ulaanbaatar, Mongolia', *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 15(11). doi: 10.3390/ijerph15112524.
- Lin, M. *et al.* (2002) 'The influence of ambient coarse particulate matter on asthma hospitalization in children: Case-crossover and time-series analyses', *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 110(6), pp. 575–581. doi: 10.1289/ehp.02110575.
- Lin, T. C. and Chao, M. R. (2002) 'Assessing the influence of methanol-containing additive on biological characteristics of diesel exhaust emissions using microtox and mutatox assays', *Science of the Total Environment*, 284(1–3), pp. 61–74. doi: 10.1016/S0048-9697(01)00866-X.
- Lindbom, J., Gustafsson, M., Blomqvist, G., Dahl, A., Gudmundsson, A., Swietlicki, E and Ljungman, A. G. (2006) 'Exposure to wear particles generated from studded tires and pavement induces inflammatory cytokine release from human macrophages', *Chemical Research in Toxicology*, 19(4), pp. 521–530. doi: 10.1021/tx0503101.
- Loomis, D., Grosse, Y., Lauby-Secretan, B., Ghissassi, F. E., Bouvard, V., Benbrahim-Tallaa, L., Guha, N., Baan, R., Mattock, H and Straif, K. (2013) 'The carcinogenicity of outdoor air pollution', *The Lancet Oncology*, 14(13), pp. 1262–1263. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(13)70487-X.
- Lors, C. *et al.* (2011) 'Comparison of solid and liquid-phase bioassays using ecoscores to assess contaminated soils', *Environmental Pollution*. Elsevier Ltd, 159(10), pp. 2974–2981. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2011.04.028.
- Lu, H., Amagai, T. and Ohura, T. (2011) 'Comparison of Polyaromatic hydrocarbon pollution in Chinese and Japanese residential air', 23(9), pp. 1512–1517.
- Lu, H., Zhu, L. and Chen, S. (2008) 'Pollution level, phase distribution and health risk of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in indoor air at public places of Hangzhou, China', *Environmental Pollution*, 152(3), pp. 569–575. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2007.07.005.
- Luo, Z., Xing, R., Huang, W., Xiong, R., Qin, L., Ren, Y., Li, Y., Liu, X., Men, Y., Jiang, K., Tian, Y and Shen, G. (2022) 'Impacts of Household Coal Combustion on Indoor Ultrafine Particles—A Preliminary Case Study and Implication on Exposure Reduction', *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 19(9). doi: 10.3390/ijerph19095161.

- Lupp, C., Urbanowski, M., Greenberg, E. P and Ruby, E. G. (2003) 'The Vibrio fischeri quorum-sensing systems ain and lux sequentially induce luminescence gene expression and are important for persistence in the squid host', *Molecular Microbiology*, 50(1), pp. 319–331. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.t01-1-03585.x.
- Maenhaut, W., Chi, X., Wang, W., Cafmeyer, J., Yasmeen, F., Vermeylen, R., Szmigielska, K., Janssens, I. A and Claeys, M. (2017) 'Contribution from selected organic species to PM2.5 aerosol during a summer field campaign at K-Puszta, Hungary', *Atmosphere*, 8(11). doi: 10.3390/atmos8110221.
- Masih, J., Singhvi, R., Kumar, K., Jain, V. K and Taneja, A. (2012) 'Seasonal variation and sources of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in indoor and outdoor air in a semi arid tract of Northern India', *Aerosol and Air Quality Research*, 12(4), pp. 515–525. doi: 10.4209/aaqr.2011.11.0192.
- Meighen, E. A. (1991) 'Molecular biology of bacterial bioluminescence', *Microbiological Reviews*, 55(1), pp. 123–142. doi: 10.1128/mmbr.55.1.123-142.1991.
- Mentes, D., Kováts, N., Muránszky, G., Hornyák-Mester, E., and Póliska, C. (2022) 'Evaluation of flue gas emission factor and toxicity of the PM-bounded PAH from lab-scale waste combustion', *Journal of Environmental Management*, 324(October). doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2022.116371.
- Menz, J., Schneider, M. and Kümmerer, K. (2013) 'Toxicity testing with luminescent bacteria - Characterization of an automated method for the combined assessment of acute and chronic effects', *Chemosphere*. Elsevier Ltd, 93(6), pp. 990–996. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.05.067.
- Mohammed, M. O. A., Song, W. W., Ma, Y. L., Liu, L.Y., Ma, W. L., Li, W. L., Li, Y. F., Wang, F. Y., Qi, M. Y., Lv, N., Wang, D. Z and Khan, A. U. (2016) 'Distribution patterns, infiltration and health risk assessment of PM2.5-bound PAHs in indoor and outdoor air in cold zone', *Chemosphere*, 155, pp. 70–85. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.04.023.
- Morakinyo, O. M., Mukhola, M. S. and Mokgobu, M. I. (2020) 'Concentration levels and carcinogenic and mutagenic risks of PM2.5-bound polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in an urban–industrial area in South Africa', *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*. Springer Netherlands, 42(7), pp. 2163–2178. doi: 10.1007/s10653-019-00493-2.
- Mortimer, M., Kasemets, K., Heinlaan, M., Kurvet, I and Kahru, A. (2008) 'High throughput kinetic Vibrio fischeri bioluminescence inhibition assay for study of toxic effects of nanoparticles', *Toxicology in Vitro*, 22(5), pp. 1412–1417. doi: 10.1016/j.tiv.2008.02.011.

- Morville, S., Delhomme, O. and Millet, M. (2011) 'Seasonal and diurnal variations of atmospheric PAH concentrations between rural, suburban and urban areas', *Atmospheric Pollution Research*. Elsevier, 2(3), pp. 366–373. doi: 10.5094/APR.2011.041.
- Nagy, A. S. and Szabó, J. (2019) 'Characterization of PM2.5-Bound Polycyclic Aromatic Hydrocarbons in the Ambient Air of Győr, Hungary', *Polycyclic Aromatic Compounds*, 39(4), pp. 332–345. doi: 10.1080/10406638.2017.1326950.
- Neil, E. Klepeis, W. C., Nelson, W. R. O. (2001) 'The National Human Activity Pattern Survey (NHAPS): A resource for assessing exposure to environmental pollutants', *Journal of Exposure Analysis and Environmental Epidemiology*, 11(3), pp. 231–252. doi: 10.1038/sj.jea.7500165.
- Nijvipakul, S., Wongratana, J., Suadee, C., Entsch, B., Ballou, D. P and Chaiyen, P. (2008) 'LuxG is a functioning flavin reductase for bacterial luminescence', *Journal of Bacteriology*, 190(5), pp. 1531–1538. doi: 10.1128/JB.01660-07.
- Pant, P., Shi, Z., Pope, F. D and Harrison, R. M. (2017) 'Characterization of trafficrelated particulate matter emissions in a road tunnel in Birmingham, UK: Trace metals and organic molecular markers', *Aerosol and Air Quality Research*, 17(1), pp. 117–130. doi: 10.4209/aaqr.2016.01.0040.
- Park, Y. K., Kim, W. and Jo, Y. M. (2013) 'Release of harmful air pollutants from open burning of domestic municipal solid wastes in a metropolitan area of Korea', *Aerosol and Air Quality Research*, 13(4), pp. 1365–1372. doi: 10.4209/aaqr.2012.10.0272.
- Paulovits, G., Kováts, N., Ács, A., Ferincz, Á., Kovács, A., Kakasi, B., Nagy, Sz and Kiss, G. (2012) 'Ecotoxicological characterisation of sedimentation in the Kis-Balaton Water Protection System', *Acta Biologica Hungarica*, 63(2), pp. 268– 276. doi: 10.1556/ABiol.63.2012.2.8.
- Perrone, M. G., Vratolis, S., Georgieva, E., Török, S. Š. K., Veleva, B., Osán, J., Be, I., Kertész, Z., Pernigotti, D., Eleftheriadis, K and Belis, C. A. (2018) 'Science of the Total Environment Sources and geographic origin of particulate matter in urban areas of the Danube macro-region: The cases of Zagreb (Croatia), Budapest (Hungary) and Sofia (Bulgaria)', 620, pp. 1515–1529. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.11.092.
- Pintér, M., Utry, N., Ajtai, T., Kiss-Albert, G., Jancsek-Turóczi, B., Imre, K., Palágyi, A., Manczinger, L., Vágvölgyi, C., Horváth, E., Kováts, N., Gelencsér, A., Szabó, G and Bozóki, Z. (2017) 'Optical properties, chemical composition and the toxicological potential of urban particulate matter', *Aerosol and Air Quality Research*, 17(6), pp. 1415–1426. doi: 10.4209/aaqr.2016.09.0395.

- Płaza, G., Nałęcz-Jawecki, G., Ulfig, K and Brigmon, R. L. (2005) 'The application of bioassays as indicators of petroleum-contaminated soil remediation', *Chemosphere*, 59(2), pp. 289–296. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2004.11.049.
- Prescott, R. D. and Decho, A. W. (2020) 'Flexibility and Adaptability of Quorum Sensing in Nature', *Trends in Microbiology*. Elsevier Ltd, 28(6), pp. 436–444. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2019.12.004.
- Ren, X., Pan, L. and Wang, L. (2015) 'Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety The detoxi fi cation process, bioaccumulation and damage effect in ju- venile white shrimp Litopenaeus vannamei exposed to chrysene', *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. Elsevier, 114, pp. 44–51. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2015.01.004.
- Rienda, I. C., Alves, C. A., Nunes, T. S., Marlene A., Fulvio A. S., Hubai, K., and Teke,
 G. (2023) 'PM 10 Resuspension of Road Dust in Different Types of Parking Lots : Emissions , Chemical Characterisation and Ecotoxicity', pp. 1–17.
- Ringwood, A. H., DeLorenzo, M.E., Ross, P. E., and Holland, A. F. (1997) 'Interpretation of microtox® solid-phase toxicity tests: The effects of sediment composition', *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 16(6), pp. 1135–1140. doi: 10.1897/1551-5028(1997)016<1135:IOMSPT>2.3.CO;2.
- Rogula-Kozłowska, W., Kozielska, B., Majewski, G., Rogula-Kopiec, P., Mucha, W and Kociszewska, K. (2018) 'Submicron particle-bound polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in the Polish teaching rooms: Concentrations, origin and health hazard', *Journal of Environmental Sciences (China)*, 64, pp. 235–244. doi: 10.1016/j.jes.2017.06.022.
- Roig, N., Sierra, J., Rovira, J., Schuhmacher, M., Domingo, J. L and Nadal, M. (2013)
 'In vitro tests to assess toxic effects of airborne PM10 samples. Correlation with metals and chlorinated dioxins and furans', *Science of the Total Environment*. Elsevier B.V., 443, pp. 791–797. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2012.11.022.
- Sainnokhoi TA., Kováts N., Gelencsér, A., Hubai K., Teke G., Pelden P., Tserenchimed T., Erdenechimeg Z., and Galsuren J. (2022): Characteristics of particle - bound polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in indoor in the Southwest part of Ulaanbaatar capital, Mongolia. *Environ Monit Assess*, 194:665
 - Sah, D., Verma, P. K., Kumari, K. M and Lakhani, A. (2019) 'Chemical fractionation of heavy metals in fine particulate matter and their health risk assessment through inhalation exposure pathway', *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*. Springer Netherlands, 41(3), pp. 1445–1458. doi: 10.1007/s10653-018-0223-8.
 - Schilirò, T., Bonetta, S., Alessandria, L., Gianotti, V., Carraro, E and Gilli, G. (2015) 'PM₁₀ in a background urban site: Chemical characteristics and biological

effects', *Environmental Toxicology and Pharmacology*. Elsevier B.V., 39(2), pp. 833–844. doi: 10.1016/j.etap.2015.02.008.

- Schulz, M., de Leeuw, G. and Balkanski, Y. (2004) 'Sea-salt aerosol source functions and emissions', (1998), pp. 333–359. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4020-2167-1_9.
- Selivanovskaya, S., Galitskaya, P., Schnell, S and Hung, Y. T. (2010) 'A comparison of microbial contact bioassay with conventional elutriate assays for evaluation of wastes hazard', *International Journal of Environment and Waste Management*, 6(1–2), pp. 183–196. doi: 10.1504/IJEWM.2010.033992.
- Serat, W. F., Budinger, F. E. and Mueller, P. K. (1967) 'Toxicity evaluation of air pollutants by use of luminescent bacteria', *Atmospheric Environment (1967)*, 1(1), pp. 21–32. doi: 10.1016/0004-6981(67)90105-9.
- Sheesley, R. J., Schauer, J. J., Hemming, J. D., Geis, S., Barman, M. A. (2005) 'Seasonal and spatial relationship of chemistry and toxicity in atmospheric particulate matter using aquatic bioassays', *Environmental Science and Technology*, 39(4), pp. 999–1010. doi: 10.1021/es049873+.
- Silva, V., Pereira, J. L., Campos, I., Keizer, J. J., Gonçalves, F and Abrantes, N. (2015) 'Toxicity assessment of aqueous extracts of ash from forest fires', *Catena*. Elsevier B.V., 135, pp. 401–408. doi: 10.1016/j.catena.2014.06.021.
- Smichowski, P. (2008) 'Antimony in the environment as a global pollutant : A review on analytical methodologies for its determination in atmospheric aerosols', 75, pp. 2–14. doi: 10.1016/j.talanta.2007.11.005.
- So, Y., Lee, N., Kim, S., Lee, Y., Ochir, Ch and Lee, K. (2019) 'Characteristics of Lifestyle and Living Environment of Ger District Residents in Ulaanbaatar, Mongolia', *The Korean Journal of Public Health*, 55(2), pp. 12–21. doi: 10.17262/kjph.2018.12.55.2.12.
- Soltani, N., Keshavarzi, B., Moore, F., Tavakol, T., Reza, A., Jaafarzadeh, N and Kermani, M. (2015) 'Science of the Total Environment Ecological and human health hazards of heavy metals and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) in road dust of Isfahan metropolis ,Iran', *Science of the Total Environment, The*. Elsevier B.V., 505, pp. 712–723. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.09.097.
- Sonomdagva, C., Byambatseren, C. and Batdelger, B. (2017) 'Assessment of air pollution of settlement areas in Ulaanbaatar city, Mongolia', *IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science*, 67(1). doi: 10.1088/1755-1315/67/1/012029.
- Sopian, N. A., Jalaludin, J.B., Suhaili, A. H., Titi R., and Latif, M. T. (2021) 'Exposure to particulate pahs on potential genotoxicity and cancer risk among school

children living near the petrochemical industry', *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(5), pp. 1–21. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18052575.

- Soriano, J. A., García-Contreras, R., Fuente, J., Armas, O., Orozco-Jiménez, L. Y and Agudelo, J. R. (2020) 'Genotoxicity and mutagenicity of particulate matter emitted from diesel, gas to liquid, biodiesel, and farnesane fuels: A toxicological risk assessment', *Fuel*. Elsevier, 282(May), p. 118763. doi: 10.1016/j.fuel.2020.118763.
- Stohl, A., Prata, A. J., Eckhardt, S., Clarisse, L., Durant, A., Henne, S., Kristiansen, N. I., Minikin, A., Schumann, U., Seibert, P., Stebel, K., Thomas, H. E., Thorsteinsson, T., Tørseth, K and Weinzierl, B. (2011) 'Determination of timeand height-resolved volcanic ash emissions and their use for quantitative ash dispersion modeling: The 2010 Eyjafjallajökull eruption', *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 11(9), pp. 4333–4351. doi: 10.5194/acp-11-4333-2011.
- Sundar, S. and Chakravarty, J. (2010) 'Antimony toxicity', International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 7(12), pp. 4267–4277. doi: 10.3390/ijerph7124267.
- Sunday, B., Leke, E., Ike-ojukwu, C., Olubukola, O., Abiodun, O., Winner, F., Olawale, D and Aremu, C. O. (2022) 'Heliyon Quantification and health impact assessment of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) emissions from crop residue combustion', *Heliyon*. The Author(s), 8(March), p. e09113. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2022.e09113.
- Szabó, J., Nagy, A. S. and Erdős, J. (2015) 'Ambient concentrations of PM10, PM10bound polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and heavy metals in an urban site of Győr, Hungary', *Air Quality, Atmosphere and Health*, 8(2), pp. 229–241. doi: 10.1007/s11869-015-0318-7.
- Tan, S. Y., Praveena, S. M., Abidin, E. Z., and Cheema, M. S. (2016) 'A review of heavy metals in indoor dust and its human health-risk implications', *Reviews on Environmental Health*, 31(4), pp. 447–456. doi: 10.1515/reveh-2016-0026.
- Tao, L. *et al.* (2021) 'Chemosphere Chrysene , a four-ring polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbon , induces hepatotoxicity in mice by activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR)', 276. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2021.130108.
- Tositti, L., Brattich, E., Parmeggiani, S., Bolelli, L., Ferri, E and Girotti, S. (2018) 'Airborne particulate matter biotoxicity estimated by chemometric analysis on bacterial luminescence data', *Science of the Total Environment*. Elsevier B.V., 640–641, pp. 1512–1520. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.024.

- Triolo, L., Binazzi, A., Cagnetti, P., Carconi, P., Correnti, A., De Luca, E., Bonito, R., Grandoni, G., Mastrantonio, M., Rosa, S., Schimberni, M., Uccelli, R and Zappa, G. (2008) 'Air pollution impact assessment on agroecosystem and human health characterisation in the area surrounding the industrial settlement of Milazzo (Italy): A multidisciplinary approach', *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 140(1–3), pp. 191–209. doi: 10.1007/s10661-007-9859-z.
- Tuikka, A. I., Schmitt, C., Höss, S., Bandow, N., Von der Ohe, P. C., De Zwart, D., De Deckere, E., Streck, G., Mothes, S., Van Hattum, B., Kocan, A., Brix, R., Brack, W., Barceló, D., Sormunen, A. J and Kukkonen, J. V.K. (2011) 'Toxicity assessment of sediments from three European river basins using a sediment contact test battery', *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 74(1), pp. 123–131. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2010.08.038.
- Turner, A. (2011) 'Oral bioaccessibility of trace metals in household dust: A review', *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 33(4), pp. 331–341. doi: 10.1007/s10653-011-9386-2.
- Turóczi, B., Hoffer, A., Tóth, Á., Kováts, N., Ács, A., Ferincz Kovács, A and Gelencsér, A. (2012) 'Comparative assessment of ecotoxicity of urban aerosol', *Atmospheric Chemistry and Physics*, 12(16), pp. 7365–7370. doi: 10.5194/acp-12-7365-2012.
- Urbanczyk, H., Ast, J. C., Higgins, M. J., Carson, J and Dunlap, P. V. (2007) 'Reclassification of Vibrio fischeri, Vibrio logei, Vibrio salmonicida and Vibrio wodanis as Aliivibrio fischeri gen. nov., comb. nov., Aliivibrio logei comb. nov., Aliivibrio salmonicida comb. nov. and Aliivibrio wodanis comb. nov', *International Journal of Systematic and Evolutionary Microbiology*, 57(12), pp. 2823–2829. doi: 10.1099/ijs.0.65081-0.
- Valavanidis, A., Fiotakis, K., Vlahogianni, T., Bakeas, E. B., Triantafillaki, S., Paraskevopoulou, V and Dassenakis, M. (2006) 'Characterization of atmospheric particulates, particle-bound transition metals and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons of urban air in the centre of Athens (Greece)', *Chemosphere*, 65(5), pp. 760–768. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.03.052.
- Valavanidis, A., Iliopoulos, N., Gotsis, G and Fiotakis, K. (2008) 'Persistent free radicals, heavy metals and PAHs generated in particulate soot emissions and residue ash from controlled combustion of common types of plastic', *Journal* of Hazardous Materials, 156(1–3), pp. 277–284. doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2007.12.019.
- Varshney, P., Saini, R. and Taneja, A. (2016) 'Trace element concentration in fine particulate matter (PM_{2.5}) and their bioavailability in different microenvironments in Agra, India: a case study', *Environmental Geochemistry* and Health. Springer Netherlands, 38(2), pp. 593–605. doi: 10.1007/s10653-

015-9745-5.

- Verma, S. C. and Miyashiro, T. (2013) 'Quorum sensing in the squid-Vibrio symbiosis.', *International journal of molecular sciences*, 14(8), pp. 16386– 16401. doi: 10.3390/ijms140816386.
- Verma, V., Rico-Martinez, R., Kotra, N., King, L., Liu, J., Snell, T W and Weber, R. J. (2012) 'Contribution of water-soluble and insoluble components and their hydrophobic/hydrophilic subfractions to the reactive oxygen species-generating potential of fine ambient aerosols', *Environmental Science and Technology*, 46(20), pp. 11384–11392. doi: 10.1021/es302484r.
- Verma, V., Rico-Martinez, R., Kotra, N., Rennolds, C., Liu, J., Snell, T. W and Weber, R. J. (2013) 'Estimating the toxicity of ambient fine aerosols using freshwater rotifer Brachionus calyciflorus (Rotifera: Monogononta)', *Environmental Pollution*. Elsevier Ltd, 182, pp. 379–384. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2013.07.037..
- Vicente, A., Calvo, A., Fernandes, A. P., Nunes, T., Monteiro, C., Pio, C and Alves, C. (2017) 'Hydrocarbons in particulate samples from wildfire events in central Portugal in summer 2010', *Journal of Environmental Sciences (China)*, 53. doi: 10.1016/j.jes.2016.02.022.
- Vicente, E. D., Figueiredo, D., Gonçalves, C., Lopes, I., Oliveira, H., Kováts, N., Pinheiro, T and Alves, C. A. (2021) 'In vitro toxicity of indoor and outdoor PM10 from residential wood combustion', *Science of the Total Environment*. Elsevier B.V., 782, p. 146820. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146820.
- Vohra, K., Vodonos, A., Schwartz, J., Marais, E. A., Sulprizio, M. P., and Mickley, L. J. (2021) 'Global mortality from outdoor fine particle pollution generated by fossil fuel combustion: Results from GEOS-Chem', *Environmental Research*. Elsevier Inc., 195(July 2019), p. 110754. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2021.110754.
- Volpi Ghirardini, A., Girardini, M., Marchetto, D and Pantani, C. (2009) 'Microtox® solid phase test: Effect of diluent used in toxicity test', *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*, 72(3), pp. 851–861. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2008.01.011.
- Vouitsis, E., Ntziachristos, L., Pistikopoulos, P., Samaras, Z., Chrysikou, L., Samara, C., Papadimitriou, C., Samaras, P and Sakellaropoulos, G. (2009) 'An investigation on the physical, chemical and ecotoxicological characteristics of particulate matter emitted from light-duty vehicles', *Environmental Pollution*. Elsevier Ltd, 157(8–9), pp. 2320–2327. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2009.03.028.
- Vreeland, H., Schauer, J. J., Russell, A. G., Marshall, J. D., Fushimi, A., Jain, G., Sethuraman, K., Verma, V., Tripathi, S. N and Bergin, M. H. (2016) 'Chemical characterization and toxicity of particulate matter emissions from roadside trash

combustion in urban India', *Atmospheric Environment*. Elsevier Ltd, 147, pp. 22–30. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.09.041.

- Wang, B., Li, Y., Tang, Z., Cai, N., Zhang, N and Liu, J. (2021) 'The heavy metals in indoor and outdoor PM_{2.5} from coal-fired and non-coal-fired area', *Urban Climate*. Elsevier B.V., 40(March), p. 101000. doi: 10.1016/j.uclim.2021.101000.
- Wang, M., Kai, K., Sugimoto, N and Enkhmaa, S. (2018) 'Meteorological factors affecting winter particulate air pollution in Ulaanbaatar from 2008 to 2016', *Asian Journal of Atmospheric Environment*, 12(3), pp. 244–254. doi: 10.5572/ajae.2018.12.3.244.
- Wang, Q., Jiang, N., Yin, S., Li, X., Yu, F., Guo, Y and Zhang, R. (2017) 'Carbonaceous species in PM_{2.5} and PM₁₀ in urban area of Zhengzhou in China : Seasonal variations and source apportionment', *Atmospheric Research*. Elsevier B.V., 191, pp. 1–11. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosres.2017.02.003.
- Wang, W., Shi, C., Yan, Y., Yang, Y and Zhou, B. (2016) 'Eco-toxicological bioassay of atmospheric fine particulate matter (PM2.5) with Photobacterium Phosphoreum T3', *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. Elsevier, 133, pp. 226–234. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2016.07.024.
- Wang, W. H., Wong, M. H., Leharne, S and Fisher, B. (1998) 'Fractionation and biotoxicity of heavy metals in urban dusts collected from Hong Kong and London', *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*, 20(4), pp. 185–198. doi: 10.1023/A:1006530300522.
- Wang, Y., Cheng, K., Wu, W., Tian, H., Yi, P., Zhi, G., Fan, J and Liu, S. (2017) 'Atmospheric emissions of typical toxic heavy metals from open burning of municipal solid waste in China', *Atmospheric Environment*. Elsevier Ltd, 152, pp. 6–15. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.12.017.
- Weltens, R., Deprez, K. and Michiels, L. (2014) 'Validation of Microtox as a first screening tool for waste classification', *Waste Management*. Elsevier Ltd, 34(12), pp. 2427–2433. doi: 10.1016/j.wasman.2014.08.001.
- WIAQ (2020) 'World Air Quality Report', 2020 World Air Quality Report, (August), pp. 1–41. Available at: https://www.iqair.com/world-most-pollutedcities/world-air-quality-report-2020-en.pdf.
- Wichmann, H. E., Mueller, W., Allhoff, P., Beckmann, M., Bocter, N., Csicsaky, M. J., Jung, M., Molik, B and Schoeneberg, G. (1989) 'Health effects during a smog episode in West Germany in 1985', *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 79, pp. 89–99. doi: 10.1289/ehp.897989.

- Wiedinmyer, C. et al. (2011) 'The Fire INventory from NCAR (FINN): A high resolution global model to estimate the emissions from open burning', *Geoscientific Model Development*, 4(3), pp. 625–641. doi: 10.5194/gmd-4-625-2011.
- Wiedinmyer, C., Yokelson, R. J. and Gullett, B. K. (2014) 'Global emissions of trace gases, particulate matter, and hazardous air pollutants from open burning of domestic waste', *Environmental Science and Technology*, 48(16), pp. 9523– 9530. doi: 10.1021/es502250z.
- Winiwarter, W., Bauer, H., Caseiro, A and Puxbaum, H. (2009) 'Quantifying emissions of primary biological aerosol particle mass in Europe', *Atmospheric Environment*. Elsevier Ltd, 43(7), pp. 1403–1409. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.01.037.
- World Bank (2013) 'Mongolia: heating stove market trends in poor, peri-urban ger areas of Ulaanbaatar and selected markets outside Ulaanbaatar http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/2013/02/19403129/mongolia-heating-stove-', pp. 1–96.
- World Health Organization (WHO). (2021). Ambient (outdoor) air pollution 2021. Available from: https:// www. who. int/ news- room/ fact- sheets/ detail/ ambie nt- (outdo or)- air- quali ty- and- health. Last accessed on 31 May 2022.
- Wu, F., Liu, X., Wang. W., Man, Y. B., Chan, C. Y., Liu, W and Tao, S. H. (2015) 'Characterization of particulate-bound PAHs in rural households using different types of domestic energy in Henan Province, China', *Science of the Total Environment*. Elsevier B.V., 536, pp. 840–846. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.07.101.
- Xia, S., Zhu, X., Yan, Y., Zhang, T., Chen, G., Lei, D and Wang, G. (2021) 'Developmental neurotoxicity of antimony (Sb) in the early life stages of zebrafish', *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. Elsevier Inc., 218(April), p. 112308. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2021.112308.
- Xiu, M., Pan, L. and Jin, Q. (2014) 'Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety Bioaccumulation and oxidative damage in juvenile scallop Chlamys farreri exposed to benzo [a] pyrene , benzo [b] fl uoranthene and chrysene', *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. Elsevier, 107, pp. 103–110. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.05.016.
- Xu, Z., Yang, Z., Zhu, T and Shu, W. (2021) 'Toxicity of soil antimony to earthworm Eisenia fetida (Savingy) before and after the aging process', *Ecotoxicology and Environmental Safety*. Elsevier Inc., 207(July 2020), p. 111278. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2020.111278.

- Ye, Z., Zhao, Q., Zhang, M and Gao, Y. (2011) 'Acute toxicity evaluation of explosive wastewater by bacterial bioluminescence assays using a freshwater luminescent bacterium, Vibrio qinghaiensis sp. Nov.', *Journal of Hazardous Materials*. Elsevier B.V., 186(2–3), pp. 1351–1354. doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.12.013.
- Yunker, M. B. *et al.* (2002) 'PAHs in the Fraser River basin: a critical appraisal of PAH ratios as indicators of PAH source and composition', *Organic Geochemistry*, 33, pp. 489–515.
- Zhang, X. Y., Gong, S. L., Shen, Z. X., Mei, F. M., Xi, X. X., Liu, L. C., Zhou, Z. J., Wang, D., Wang, Y. Q and Cheng, Y. (2003) 'Characterization of soil dust aerosol in China and its transport and distribution during 2001 ACE-Asia: 1. Network observations', *Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres*, 108(9), pp. 1–13. doi: 10.1029/2002jd002632.
- Zhang, Z., Zulpiya, M. and Wang, P. (2022) 'Occurrence and sources of microplastics in dust of the Ebinur lake Basin, northwest China', *Environmental Geochemistry and Health*. Springer Netherlands, (0123456789). doi: 10.1007/s10653-022-01279-9.
- Zhong, Q., Ma, C., Chu, J., Wang, X., Liu, X., Ouyang, W., Lin, C and He, M. (2020) 'Toxicity and bioavailability of antimony in edible amaranth (Amaranthus tricolor Linn .) cultivated in two agricultural soil types', *Environmental Pollution*. Elsevier Ltd, 257, p. 113642. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2019.113642.
- Zhu, L., Lu, H., Chen, S and Amagai, T. (2009) 'Pollution level, phase distribution and source analysis of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in residential air in Hangzhou, China', *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, 162(2–3), pp. 1165–1170. doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.05.150.
- Zhu, Y. M., Li, Z. F., Shen, J., Wu, K. Y., Zhao, P. P., Wu, Z. H., Liu, Z. Q., Yang, J. G., Liu, H., Rensing, C and Feng, R. W. (2022) 'Toxicity of different forms of antimony to rice plants: Photosynthetic electron transfer, gas exchange, photosynthetic efficiency, and carbon assimilation combined with metabolome analysis', *Journal of Hazardous Materials*. Elsevier B.V., 437(June), p. 129433. doi: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2022.129433.